

Durham E-Theses

Analyticity and scaling in quantum field theory

Kjaergaard, Lars

How to cite:

Kjaergaard, Lars (2000) Analyticity and scaling in quantum field theory, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/4249/

Use policy

 $The full-text\ may\ be\ used\ and/or\ reproduced,\ and\ given\ to\ third\ parties\ in\ any\ format\ or\ medium,\ without\ prior\ permission\ or\ charge,\ for\ personal\ research\ or\ study,\ educational,\ or\ not-for-profit\ purposes\ provided\ that:$

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk

Analyticity and Scaling in Quantum Field Theory

Lars Kjærgaard

Thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Department of Mathematical Sciences Durham DH1 3LE, England, U.K.





20 MAR 2001

September 2000

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published in any form, including Electronic and the Internet, without the author's prior written consent. All information derived from this thesis must be acknowledged appropriately.

Declaration

This thesis is based on work carried out by the author from January 1998 to August 2000 at the Department of Mathematical Sciences of the University of Durham under the supervision of Paul Mansfield.

Chapters two and three serve as introduction and no claim is made for originality. Chapters four, five, six, seven and eight contain mainly original work. Non-original work is acknowledged. Chapters four, five and six are based on work published in the papers Physics Letters **B** 462 (1999) 103 and Journal of High Energy Physics 03 (2000) 008 written jointly with Paul Mansfield [1, 2]. The main part of all original calculations in these chapters is done by the author. Chapter seven is based on the publication Journal of High Energy Physics 07 (2000) 053 [3], written solely by the author, and chapter eight on the work [4] also solely by the author.

© Lars Kjærgaard 2000.

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published without his prior consent and any information derived from it should be acknowledged.

Abstract

The theory describing the scaling properties of quantum field theory is introduced. The symmetry principles behind scale and conformal transformations are reviewed together with the renormalisation group. A method for improving perturbative calculations of physical quantities in the infra-red limit is developed using general analyticity properties valid for all unitary quantum field theories. The infra-red limit of a physical quantity is shown to equal the limiting value of the Borel transform in a complex scale parameter, where the order of the Borel transform is related to the domain of analyticity. It is shown how this general result can be used to improve perturbative calculations in the infra-red limit. First, the infra-red central charge of a perturbed conformal field theory is considered, and for the unitary minimal models perturbed by $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ the developed approximation is shown to be very close to the exact results by improving only a one loop perturbation. The other example is the infra-red limit of the critical exponents of φ^4 theory in three dimensions, where our approximation is within the limits of other approximations. The exact renormalisation group equation is studied for a theory with exponential interactions and a background charge. It is shown how to incorporate the background charge, and using the operator product expansion together with the equivalence between the quantum group restricted sine-Gordon model and the unitary minimal models perturbed by $\Phi_{(1,3)}$, the equation obtained is argued to describe the flow between unitary minimal models. Finally, a semi-classical approximation of the low energy limit of a bosonic membrane is studied where the action is taken to be the world-volume together with an Einstein–Hilbert term. A solution to the linearized equations of motion is determined describing a membrane oscillating around a flat torus.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Paul Mansfield for a very good supervision. I also acknowledge a Ph.D. research grant from the Danish Research Academy, and thank Vl. Dotsenko and R. Guida for correspondence on their work.

Contents

1	Introduction 4				
	1.1	Outline of the thesis	6		
2	Syn	metries and scaling	9		
	2.1	Nöther's theorem and Ward identities	10		
		2.1.1 Ward Identities	13		
	2.2	Scale and conformal transformations	14		
		2.2.1 The energy-momentum tensor	14		
		2.2.2 Scale transformations	15		
		2.2.3 Conformal transformations	16		
3	The	e renormalisation group and universality	19		
	3.1	Renormalisation	21		
		3.1.1 The Callan–Symanzik equation	22		
		3.1.2 Composite operators and the operator product			
		expansion	26		
	3.2	Linearizing the renormalisation group and			
		universality	28		
		3.2.1 Linearizing the renormalisation group	29		
4	\mathbf{Cal}	culating the infra-red limit using analyticity	33		
	4.1	Spectral representation of correlation			
		functions	34		



CONTENTS

		4.1.1 Analyticity of correlations functions	36
	4.2	The perturbative series	37
	4.3	Asymptotic series	40
		4.3.1 The Borel transform	41
	4.4	Relating the ultra-violet and infra-red limits using analyticity	43
5	Scal	ing in two dimensions	48
	5.1	Conformal field theory	49
	5.2	Zamolodchikov's <i>c</i> -theorem	52
	5.3	Defining $ ilde{F}(s)$ for the central charge $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	54
		5.3.1 Analyticity of $\tilde{F}(s)$	56
		5.3.2 The approximation for c_{IR}	57
		5.3.3 Exact bound on Δc	58
	5.4	Application to different two dimensional	
		models	61
		5.4.1 The free boson	61
		5.4.2 The free fermion	64
		5.4.3 The unitary minimal models	65
	5.5	Conclusions	76
6	Scal	ing in three dimensions: $arphi^4$ theory	78
	6.1	Critical exponents for φ^4 theory $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	79
	6.2	$ ilde{F}(s) ext{ for } \eta ext{ and } u \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots $	81
	6.3	The infra-red limit	83
	6.4	Conformal mapping and Padé approximation	86
		6.4.1 Conformal mapping	86
		6.4.2 Padé approximation	87
	6.5	Conclusions	91
7	The	exact renormalisation group with exponential interaction	93

CONTENTS

9	Con	clusions	116
	8.3	Discussion and conclusions	115
		8.2.1 Solution to the semi-classical approximation	112
	8.2	The self-gravitating bosonic membrane	111
	8.1	The bosonic membrane	109
8	The	self-gravitating bosonic membrane	108
	7.3	Conclusions	106
		7.2.2 Incorporating the background charge	104
		7.2.1 Truncating the operator space	101
	7.2	The exact renormalisation group equation	100
		7.1.2 The quantum group restricted sine-Gordon model	97
		7.1.1 The Coulomb gas representation	95
		group restriction	94
	7.1	Coulomb gas representation and quantum	

1

Introduction

Quantum field theory arose from the efforts of unifying quantum mechanics and special relativity. In its present formulation it is the most successful theory in physics describing phenomena from sub-atomic to cosmological scales, and with an agreement between theory and experiment of up to 10^{-10} in quantum electrodynamics. It provides the framework for the standard model of particle physics that describes the electro-magnetic, weak and strong nuclear interactions, and it finds important applications in nuclear, atomic and condensed matter physics together with cosmology.

The formulation of the physical theories describing the fundamental interactions, at the currently accessible energy scale, shows the important role that symmetry principles play in nature. The standard model has a gauge symmetry with gauge group $U(1) \otimes SU(2) \otimes SU(3)$, and Einstein's classical field theory of gravity, general relativity, has four dimensional space-time diffeomorphisms as its gauge symmetry.

Another important consequence of quantum field theory is that the dynamics are scale dependent, and this corresponds to what is observed in nature namely that phenomena observed at one scale are very different from those observed at a much larger scale, i.e. they decouple. Local field theories have ultra-violet divergences which have to be renormalised by comparing the observables in a theory with measured quantities at a certain length scale. The theory will then make unambiguous

predictions, but the couplings will now depend on the scale, this scale dependence is described by the renormalisation group.

A quantum field theory is specified by its coupling constants, and the renormalisation group therefore describes a flow in the coupling space under scaling where the fixed points of the flow are scale invariant theories. The renormalisation group thereby specifies how different quantum field theories are organized by scale in the coupling, or theory, space.

Despite the successes of quantum field theory the understanding of it and the fundamental laws of nature is still very limited. It has not been possible to incorporate gravity into a local quantum field theory, and the emergence of the renormalisation group has meant that quantum field theory is now viewed as an effective theory valid below some cut-off scale [5, 6, 7]. A quantum theory of gravity relevant at the Planck scale 10^{-33} cm (and perhaps even at lower scales) therefore has to be described by a more fundamental theory, and the only present candidate includes extended objects like strings and membranes.

In contrast to the many different applications of quantum field theory the actual calculational methods are few, and the main one is perturbation theory around the gaussian fixed point describing the free theory. This means that for a general quantum field theory in the vast infinite dimensional theory space we have only got information about the neighborhood of a single point, the gaussian fixed point.

To get a better understanding of quantum field theory it is therefore important to develop new approximation methods that extend the region in parameter space where calculations can be performed. In this thesis, we have derived a method of improving perturbative calculations of infra-red quantities using general analyticity properties of correlation functions valid in any unitary quantum field theory.

Another way of extending the knowledge about theory space, and the renormalisation group flows that determine its structure, is to study specific models in dimensions, or with symmetries, that constrain the dynamics so non-perturbative results can be derived.

Two dimensional theories are an important example, here the fixed points are two

dimensional conformal field theories with an infinite dimensional symmetry group, and perturbation theory can be defined around non-trivial fixed points. Also, in two dimensions the *c*-theorem states that the flows of unitary theories are irreversible and have an infra-red fixed point. The sub-space of renormalisable theories is larger in two than in higher dimensions, and a classification of all conformal field theories will therefore also constrain the fixed point structure in higher dimensions.

The more fundamental high energy theories may also prove helpful in getting a better understanding of the theory space of quantum field theory, even if the physical reality of such theories remains unclear because of a lack of experimental evidence. For example, dualities in string theory have lead to conjectured dualities in supersymmetric quantum field theories by dimensional reduction, and a relation between the strong coupling limit and supergravity; it might be possible to find similar arguments related to more realistic field theories in four dimensions.

1.1 Outline of the thesis

In chapter two and three the theory describing the scaling of quantum field theories is briefly reviewed. In chapter two Nöther's theorem and the Ward identities are introduced, and scale and conformal transformations are defined together with the energy-momentum tensor. In chapter three renormalisation is described and the Callan–Symanzik equation is derived. The operator product expansion and the linearization of the renormalisation group are also reviewed.

In chapter four a method that improves perturbative calculations of physical quantities in the infra-red limit is developed. The method uses the analyticity of correlation functions in a scale parameter to express the infra-red physics as an integral in the ultra-violet region. This expression can be written as the Borel transform of a certain order, and the infra-red limit is then given as the limiting value of the Borel transform. First, the Källen–Lehmann spectral representation is reviewed together with the perturbative series, and then our method is derived.

This method is applied to calculate the infra-red limit of the central charge in

chapter five and the critical exponents of φ^4 theory in three dimensions in chapter six. In chapter five some of the important properties of a two dimensional conformal field theory are first introduced, and Zamolodchikov's *c*-theorem is then shown. Based on the results from chapter four an approximation method is developed for calculating the infra-red central charge of a perturbed conformal field theory. This is applied to the free bosonic and fermionic theories perturbed by a mass term, and the unitary minimal models perturbed by $\Phi_{(1,3)}$. For the minimal models we obtain very good results by maximizing the domain of analyticity, with approximation values remarkably close to the exact ones by improving only a one loop perturbative calculation.

In chapter six the critical exponents of φ^4 theory are first defined and then an approximation method for calculating ν and η is developed based on the results in chapter four and a conformal mapping and Padé approximation. The results for ν and η are within the limits of other results obtained with different calculational methods.

Chapter seven describes a new application of the exact renormalisation group equation to a theory with a background charge. The motivation for considering this case is the equivalence between the perturbed unitary minimal models \mathcal{M}_m , studied in chapter five, and the quantum group restricted sine-Gordon model. First the Coulomb gas representation of minimal models is introduced together with the quantum group restricted sine-Gordon model. Then it is shown how the background charge can be incorporated into the exact renormalisation group equation, and using the operator product expansion this gives an equation describing the renormalisation group flow for all the perturbed unitary minimal models. The higher order terms in the coupling appear in this equation in the off-critical structure constants, and in the perturbative limit $m \to \infty$, the well known perturbative renormalisation group equation is reproduced.

In the last chapter a semi-classical approximation of the bosonic membrane in eleven dimensions with an Einstein-Hilbert term is considered. The action is then a sum of the membrane world-volume and an integral over the scalar curvature,

and can be viewed as an approximation of the low energy effective action for the membrane. The equations of motion are non-linear, but can be approximated by linearizing around a classical solution that is here taken to be a flat torus. A new solution of the linearized equations is obtained that describes a membrane oscillating around the flat torus. First the bosonic membrane is introduced and the solution is then presented.

 $\mathbf{2}$

Symmetries and scaling

Physics deals with the understanding of the dynamics in the physical world, and is expressed in terms of physical laws. These can mathematically be expressed in many equivalent ways, and this invariance or symmetry in our description of the dynamics in nature has been one of the main guidelines when formulating new physical laws.

If a theory is described by an action principle, where the classical path is given by the stationary value of the action, then Nöther's theorem states that for every continuous symmetry transformation of the action, there is a classically conserved current and the associated conserved charge is the generator of the transformation.

The conserved quantities in a physical process thereby determine the symmetries of the interaction and these symmetries can then be used to build an action for the theory that describes its dynamical properties (for a quantum field theory it is the partition function which has this role, i.e. here the path integral measure also needs to be specified). One of the successes of physics has been the isolation and identification of conserved quantities, and their very existence shows the regularity and symmetry in nature that has allowed the formulation of the physical laws.

First Nöther's theorem and the Ward identities are shown, the energy-momentum tensor is then introduced and finally scale and conformal transformations are discussed. The section about scale transformations follows Callan, Coleman and Jackiw [8] and [9]. In this chapter the Minkowski signature $(+, -, -, \dots, -)$ is used. Gen-

eral discussions about symmetries in field theory can be found in [5, 10, 11, 12, 13] and for gauge theories in [14, 15].

2.1 Nöther's theorem and Ward identities

Nöther's theorem [16] shows how the symmetries of the action correspond to conserved quantities. In a local field theory depending on the fields φ^i the action functional can generally¹ be written as

$$S[\varphi] = \int d^d x \ \mathcal{L}(\varphi^i, \partial_\mu \varphi^i)$$
(2.1)

and we will consider the effect of the infinitesimal transformation

$$x^{\prime \mu} = x^{\mu} + \delta x^{\mu} = x^{\mu} + \delta w^{a}(x) X^{\mu}_{a}(x),$$

$$\varphi^{\prime i}(x^{\prime}) = \varphi^{i}(x) + \widetilde{\delta \varphi}^{i}(x) = \varphi^{i}(x) + \delta w^{a}(x) \Phi^{i}_{a}(x),$$
(2.2)

where $\delta w^a(x)$ is infinitesimal and has compact support. A symmetry is defined as a transformation that leaves the action invariant. Any infinitesimal transformation will by definition leave the action invariant at the classical path, for it to be a symmetry transformation this invariance must be preserved also away from the classical path, i.e. when the equations of motion are not satisfied. (2.2) is a rigid (or global) symmetry of the action when $\delta S = 0$ for δw^a constant, i.e. $\partial_{\mu} \delta w^a(x) =$ 0. Consider now a transformation where X^{μ}_a and Φ^i_a are the same as for a rigid symmetry but $\delta w^a(x)$ is not constant. δS can then be written as

$$\delta S = -\int d^d x j^{\mu}_a(x) \partial_{\mu} \delta w^a(x), \qquad (2.3)$$

for some current $j_a^{\mu}(x)$, because then $\delta S = 0$ for δw^a constant and δS is the variation of a local quantity and is therefore local [5]. Taking the fields φ^i in δS to satisfy the

¹Classical equations of motion which are higher than second order differential equations often leads to non-causal effects, so the lagrangian is generally taken to contain at most two derivatives [10].

2 Symmetries and scaling

equations of motion means that (2.3) vanishes for an arbitrary $\delta w^a(x)$ and integrating by parts yields that the current $j_a^{\mu}(x)$ is conserved $\partial_{\mu} j_a^{\mu}(x) = 0$. Assuming that the current vanishes at spatial infinity the Nöther charge

$$Q_a = \int d^{d-1}x \ j_a^0(x) \tag{2.4}$$

is then a constant of the motion $\partial_0 Q_a = 0$, showing that a symmetry leads to a conserved quantity which is Nöther's theorem. If the lagrangian density is invariant under a rigid transformation (2.2) then the form of the current follows by considering the variation of the action. To first order in δw^a the variation in the field at fixed xbecomes

$$\delta\varphi^{i}(x) = \varphi^{\prime i}(x) - \varphi^{i}(x) = \varphi^{\prime i}(x^{\prime}) - \delta x^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \varphi^{i}(x) - \varphi^{i}(x)$$

$$= \delta w^{a}(x) (\Phi^{i}_{a}(x) - X^{\mu}_{a}(x) \partial_{\mu} \varphi^{i}(x)) \equiv \delta w^{a}(x) \delta_{a} \varphi^{i}(x), \qquad (2.5)$$

and the action changes as

$$\begin{split} \delta S &= S[\varphi'] - S[\varphi] = \int d^d x' \mathcal{L}'(x') - \int d^d x \mathcal{L}(x) \\ &= \int \delta(d^d x) \mathcal{L} + \int d^d x \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \delta x^{\mu} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \varphi^i} \delta \varphi^i + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \partial_{\mu} \varphi^i} \delta \partial_{\mu} \varphi^i \right) \\ &= \int d^d x \left[\mathcal{L} \partial_{\mu} (X^{\mu}_a \delta w^a) + \partial_{\mu} (\mathcal{L}) \delta w^a X^{\mu}_a + \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \varphi^i} - \partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \partial_{\mu} \varphi^i} \right) \right) \delta \varphi^i \\ &\quad + \partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \partial_{\mu} \varphi^i} \delta \varphi^i \right) \right] \\ &= \int d^d x \left[\partial_{\mu} \left(\mathcal{L} X^{\mu}_a(x) \delta w^a(x) + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \partial_{\mu} \varphi^i} \left(\Phi^i_a(x) - X^{\nu}_a(x) \partial_{\nu} \varphi^i \right) \delta w^a(x) \right) \\ &\quad + \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \varphi^i} - \partial_{\mu} \left(\frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \partial_{\mu} \varphi^i} \right) \right) \delta w^a(x) \delta_a \varphi^i \right]. \end{split}$$

$$(2.6)$$

If now $\mathcal{L}'(x')d^dx' - \mathcal{L}(x)d^dx = 0$ under a rigid transformation $(2.2)^2$ where δw^a is constant, then the term proportional to $\delta w^a(x)$ in (2.6) vanishes, and it follows from

²The boundary conditions of the integral are invariant under (2.2) as $\delta w^a(x)$ has compact support.

(2.6) and (2.3) that $j_a^{\mu}(x)$ is given by the canonical Nöther current

$$j_a^{\mu} = X_a^{\nu} \left(-\mathcal{L}\delta_{\nu}^{\mu} + \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \partial_{\mu}\varphi^i} \partial_{\nu}\varphi^i \right) - \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \partial_{\mu}\varphi^i} \Phi_a^i.$$
(2.7)

In the hamiltonian picture where $\pi_i(x) = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \partial_0 \varphi^i(x)}$ the Nöther charge becomes

$$Q_a = \int d^{d-1}x \left(\pi_i X_a^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} \varphi^i - \mathcal{L} X_a^0 - \pi_i \Phi_a^i \right), \qquad (2.8)$$

and the Poisson bracket³ with φ^i is

$$\{Q_a,\varphi^i(x)\}_P = \int d^{d-1}x \frac{\delta Q_a}{\delta \pi_j(x)} \frac{\delta \varphi^i(x)}{\delta \varphi^j(y)} = X_a^{\nu}(x) \partial_{\nu} \varphi^i(x) - \Phi_a^i(x) = -\delta_a \varphi^i.$$
(2.9)

 Q_a is in this sense infinitesimal generator for the transformation (2.2).

Not all conserved charges appear in this way from a continuous symmetry, the other example is topological charges that arise from non-trivial global boundary conditions of the fields. There is a conjectured duality, the Montonen–Olive duality [17], between a quantum theory having gauge particles with Nöther (electric) charge and a theory with solitonic objects with topological (magnetic) charge⁴.

³The Poisson bracket is here defined as $\{F,G\}_P = \int d^{d-1}x \left(\frac{\delta F}{\delta \pi_i(x)} \frac{\delta G}{\delta \varphi^i(x)} - \frac{\delta G}{\delta \pi_i(x)} \frac{\delta F}{\delta \varphi^i(x)}\right)$. ⁴The motivation for this conjecture is the classical electromagnetic duality in Maxwell's equa-

⁴The motivation for this conjecture is the classical electromagnetic duality in Maxwell's equations (in the absence of sources) under $B \to E$, $E \to -B$, or using differential forms $F \to *F$ (** = -1). A more concrete motivation is the duality in the spectrum of SU(2) Yang-Mills-Higgs theory between the massive vector boson with mass $m \propto e$ and charge $q \propto e$ and the BPS monopole with $m \propto 1/e$ and charge $q \propto 1/e$ (when dyons are considered the duality becomes a transformation of the charge lattice under $SL(2,\mathbb{Z})$). The spectrum is therefore invariant under vector boson \leftrightarrow soliton and $e \leftrightarrow 1/e$ exchange, and it is therefore a strong-weak coupling duality. This type of duality is important when trying to understand the non-perturbative strong coupling region of supersymmetric quantum field theory and for theories with extended objects. The strong-weak coupling duality was first seen in two dimensions between the massive Thirring model and the sine-Gordon model [18]. There are a number of obstructions against a Montonen-Olive type of duality, the vector boson has spin one whereas the monopole seems to be a scalar and the electric charge runs, but the topological charge does not. Supersymmetry can potentially cure these as it relates particles with different spin and leads to non-renormalisation theorems, the only present candidate where Montonen-Olive duality seems to be exactly realized is for SU(2) N = 4 supersymmetric Yang-Mills-Higgs [19, 20, 21]

2.1.1 Ward Identities

The conservation equation $\partial_{\mu} j_a^{\mu}(x) = 0$ was derived for the classical theory, requiring that the equations of motion were satisfied. The quantum mechanical consequences of a symmetry transformation are described by Ward identities that are relations among the correlation functions of the theory. Physical amplitudes are given in terms of the correlation functions that are formally defined by the path integral

$$\langle \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle = \langle 0 | T\{\phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n)\} | 0 \rangle = \frac{1}{Z} \int \mathcal{D}\phi \ e^{iS[\phi]} \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \quad (2.10)$$

where $Z = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \ e^{iS[\phi]}$ is the partition function. If a transformation (2.2) is a symmetry of the action $S[\phi'] = S[\phi]$ and the path integral measure $\mathcal{D}\phi' = \mathcal{D}\phi$ the correlation function (2.10) then transforms as

$$\langle \phi(x_1') \cdots \phi(x_n') \rangle = \langle \phi'(x_1') \cdots \phi'(x_n') \rangle.$$
(2.11)

For translations $\phi'(x + a) = \phi(x)$ this shows the translation invariance of the correlators. The case $\mathcal{D}\phi' \neq \mathcal{D}\phi$ is called an anomaly, here quantum corrections break the symmetry present at the classical level. The Ward identities follow from (2.10) and (2.3) when the path integral measure is invariant, to lowest order

$$\langle \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle = \frac{1}{Z} \int \mathcal{D}\phi' e^{iS[\phi] + i \int d^d x \delta w^a(x) \partial_\mu j_a^\mu(x)} (\phi(x_1) + \delta \phi(x_1)) \cdots (\phi(x_n) + \delta \phi(x_n))$$

and this shows that

$$\int d^d x \delta w^a(x) \frac{\partial}{\partial x^\mu} \langle j_a^\mu(x) \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle = i \sum_{i=1}^n \langle \phi(x_1) \cdots \delta w^a(x_i) \delta_a \phi(x_i) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle$$
$$= i \int d^d x \delta w^a(x) \sum_{i=1}^n \delta(x - x_i) \langle \phi(x_1) \cdots \delta_a \phi(x_i) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle.$$

Again $\delta w^a(x)$ is arbitrary so that

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}} \langle j_{a}^{\mu}(x)\phi(x_{1})\cdots\phi(x_{n})\rangle = i \sum_{i=1}^{n} \delta(x-x_{i}) \langle \phi(x_{1})\cdots\delta_{a}\phi(x_{i})\cdots\phi(x_{n})\rangle, \quad (2.12)$$

this is the Ward identity for the current $j_a^{\mu}(x)$. When integrated over space this leads for one field to⁵ [22]

$$\int d^{d-1}y \frac{\partial}{\partial y^0} \langle 0|T\{j_a^0(y)\phi(x)\}|0\rangle = \langle 0|T\{\dot{Q}_a\phi(x)\}|0\rangle - \delta(x^0 - y^0) \langle 0|[\phi(x), Q_a]|0\rangle$$
$$= i\delta(x^0 - y^0) \langle 0|\delta_a\phi(x)|0\rangle.$$
(2.13)

For $x^0 \neq y^0$ then $\langle 0|[Q_a, \phi(x)]|0\rangle = i\langle 0|\delta_a\phi(x)|0\rangle$, and this argument generalizes to an arbitrary number of fields ϕ [22] so that

$$i[Q_a,\phi(x)] = -\delta_a\phi(x) \tag{2.14}$$

holds as an operator equation, it is the quantum version of (2.9) and it again shows that the charge generates the transformation.

2.2 Scale and conformal transformations

In flat space-time a conformal transformation is defined as a coordinate transformation that leaves the metric invariant up to a scale factor⁶. By definition, Poincaré transformations leave the metric invariant and are therefore conformal, the others are dilatations and special conformal transformations [24]. The infinitesimal generators of the conformal group obey the Lie algebra so(2, d) in Minkowski space and so(1, d + 1) in Euclidean space [25].

2.2.1 The energy-momentum tensor

In a Poincaré invariant theory the energy-momentum tensor is defined as the conserved current associated with translations: x' = x + a, $\phi'(x') = \phi(x)$. The canonical energy-momentum tensor (2.7) then becomes

$$T_{c\,\mu\nu}(x) = \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \partial^{\mu} \phi^{i}(x)} \partial_{\nu} \phi^{i}(x) - \eta_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{L}(x), \qquad (2.15)$$

 ${}^{5}T\{j^{0}_{a}(y)\phi(x)\}=j^{0}_{a}(y)\phi(x)+ heta(x^{0}-y^{0})[\phi(x),j^{0}_{a}(y)].$

⁶For a diffeomorphism invariant quantum field theory on a curved space-time the transformation $g_{ij}(x) \to \Omega^2(x)g_{ij}(x)$ of the metric is called a Weyl transformation, see e.g. [23] for a review.

and the conserved charges $P^{\mu} = \int d^{d-1}x \ T_c^{\mu 0}(x)$ are the energy and momentum $P^{\mu} = (P^0, P^i)$. The energy-momentum tensor can be made symmetric (put in Belifante form) without changing P^{μ} and its conservation by adding to $T_c^{\mu\nu}$ total divergences of antisymmetric tensors: $\partial_{\rho}B^{\rho\mu\nu}$, where $B^{\rho\mu\nu} = -B^{\mu\rho\nu} = -B^{\nu\mu\rho}$ [8]. We will always assume a symmetric energy-momentum tensor.

The presence of gravity breaks the global Poincaré invariance. In a curved spacetime the energy-momentum tensor is defined as the source of gravity i.e.⁷

$$T_{\mu\nu}(x) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}} \frac{\delta S[\phi^{i}, g_{\mu\nu}]}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}(x)}$$
(2.16)

which is symmetric. The quantum version becomes

$$\langle T_{\mu\nu}(x)\rangle = \frac{2}{\sqrt{-g}}\frac{\delta W}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}(x)}$$
(2.17)

where W is the generating functional for the connected correlators, $Z = e^{iW}$ [26].

2.2.2 Scale transformations

A scale transformation, or dilatation, is defined as

$$\begin{aligned} x' &= sx\\ \phi'(x') &= s^{-\Delta}\phi(x) \end{aligned} \tag{2.18}$$

where Δ is the scaling dimension of $\phi(x)$. The scaling dimension is defined so that the classical action is scale invariant. From the kinetic term in the action it follows that $\Delta = \frac{d-2}{2}$ for a scalar field and $\Delta = \frac{d-1}{2}$ for a Fermi field, and any mass term will therefore break scale invariance. A mass sets a scale in the theory. The mass (or engineering) dimension of a physical quantity is written as $[\mathcal{F}]$, it determines the physical unit in which \mathcal{F} is measured. It is a fundamental principle that all physical quantities are homogeneous with respect to the mass dimension

$$\mathcal{F}(tm) = t^{[\mathcal{F}]}\mathcal{F},\tag{2.19}$$

⁷The components of the metric tensor satisfy that $g(x) = (-1)^d \det g_{\mu\nu}(x) < 0$, $\delta g = -g g_{\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu}$ and $\delta g^{\mu\rho} = -g^{\alpha\rho} g^{\mu\nu} \delta g_{\nu\alpha}$.

2 Symmetries and scaling

which therefore defines a grading of all physical quantities [27].

In a scale invariant quantum field theory it follows from (2.11) and (2.18) that the correlators transform as

$$\langle \phi_1(sx_1)\cdots\phi_n(sx_n)\rangle = s^{-\Delta_1}\cdots s^{-\Delta_n}\langle \phi_1(x_1)\cdots\phi_n(x_n)\rangle$$
(2.20)

under scaling. For the transformation (2.18) the canonical scaling current (2.7) becomes

$$D_c^{\mu} = x_{\nu} T_c^{\mu\nu} + \Delta \phi^i \frac{\partial \mathcal{L}}{\partial \partial_{\mu} \phi^i}.$$
 (2.21)

In [8] it was shown that this current can always (in d > 2) be written as $D^{\mu} = x_{\nu}T^{\mu\nu}$ for an improved energy-momentum tensor $T^{\mu\nu}$ by adding divergences of antisymmetric tensors. Then $T_c^{\mu\nu}$ and $T^{\mu\nu}$ generate the same charges and $\partial_{\mu}T_c^{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}T^{\mu\nu} = 0$. This shows that for a classically scale invariant theory, with $\partial_{\mu}D^{\mu} = 0$, the trace of the improved energy-momentum tensor vanishes $T_{\mu}^{\mu} = 0$. From (2.14) and (2.18) it follows that the scaling charge D is given by

$$i[D,\phi(x)] = -\delta\phi(x) = \delta w(\Delta + x^{\mu}\partial_{\mu})\phi(x), \quad s = 1 + \delta w, \quad |\delta w| \ll 1.$$
 (2.22)

Using that $i[P^{\mu}, \phi(x)] = \partial^{\mu}\phi(x)$ it follows that $i[D, P^{\mu}] = P^{\mu} - \eta^{0\mu} \int d^{d-1}x \partial_{\nu} D^{\nu}$. For a scale invariant theory then $P^{2'} = e^{i\alpha D}P^2 e^{-i\alpha D} = e^{2\alpha}P^2$, and this again shows that masses must vanish $m^2 = 0$ [25, 28].

2.2.3 Conformal transformations

A conformal transformation $x \to x'$ changes the scale of the metric: $g_{\mu\nu}(x) \to g'_{\mu\nu}(x') = g_{\rho\kappa}(x) \frac{\partial x^{\rho}}{\partial x'^{\mu}} \frac{\partial x^{\kappa}}{\partial x'^{\nu}} = \gamma(x)g_{\mu\nu}(x)$, and hence leaves angles $\frac{x \cdot y}{|x||y|}$ invariant. For the infinitesimal transformation $x'^{\mu} = x^{\mu} + \epsilon^{\mu}(x)$ the change in the metric is to first order

$$g'_{\mu\nu}(x') = g_{\mu\nu}(x) - \partial_{\mu}\epsilon_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\epsilon_{\mu} = \gamma(x)g_{\mu\nu}(x) \quad \Rightarrow \quad \partial_{\mu}\epsilon_{\nu} + \partial_{\mu}\epsilon_{\nu} = \frac{2}{d} \ \partial_{\rho}\epsilon^{\rho}g_{\mu\nu}(x),$$
(2.23)

2 Symmetries and scaling

by taking the trace and using that $\partial_{\mu}g_{\rho\nu}(x) = 0$ in flat space. Conformal invariance completely fixes the form of the two and three point correlations functions in any number of dimensions [24]. For scalar fields that transform as

$$\phi'(x') = \left|\frac{\partial x'}{\partial x}\right|^{-\Delta/d} \phi(x), \qquad (2.24)$$

where $|\frac{\partial x'}{\partial x}|$ is the Jacobian of the conformal transformation, rotation and translation invariance require that $\langle \phi_1(x_1)\phi_2(x_2)\rangle = f(|x_1 - x_2|)$, and invariance under scale transformations (2.20) shows that $\langle \phi_1(x_1)\phi_2(x_2)\rangle = c_{12}/|x_1 - x_2|^{\Delta_1 + \Delta_2}$ for some $c_{12} \in \mathbb{C}$. The Jacobian becomes $|\frac{\partial x'}{\partial x}| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{-g'}} = \gamma(x)^{-d/2}$. The special conformal transformations are given by

$$x \to x' = rac{x+bx^2}{1+2b\cdot x+b^2x^2}, \qquad \left|rac{\partial x'}{\partial x}\right| = rac{1}{(1+2b\cdot x+b^2x^2)^d}$$

and it then directly follows that 8

$$(x_1' - x_2')^2 = \frac{(x_1 - x_2)^2}{(1 + 2b \cdot x_1 + b^2 x_1^2)(1 + 2b \cdot x_2 + b^2 x_2^2)}.$$
 (2.25)

Hence, together with (2.24) invariance under special conformal transformations sets $c_{12} = k \delta_{\Delta_1 - \Delta_2, 0}$, and the fields are normalized so that k = 1, i.e.

$$\langle \phi_1(x_1)\phi_2(x_2)\rangle = \frac{\delta_{\Delta_1 - \Delta_2, 0}}{|x_1 - x_2|^{2\Delta_1}}.$$
 (2.26)

A similar expression is obtained for the three point function.

From (2.16) and (2.23) the variation of the action becomes

$$\delta S = \frac{1}{2} \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \,\,\delta g^{\mu\nu}(x) \,\,T_{\mu\nu}(x) = -\frac{1}{2} \int d^d x \sqrt{-g} \,\,T^{\mu}_{\mu}(x) \,\,\frac{2}{d} \,\,\partial_{\rho} \epsilon^{\rho}. \tag{2.27}$$

Classical scale invariance $\partial_{\mu}D^{\mu} = T^{\mu}_{\mu} = 0$ therefore implies conformal invariance $\delta S = 0$ for the improved energy-momentum tensor⁹. There are no general arguments

⁸This is most easily seen writing $(x'_1 - x'_2)^2 = {x'_1}^2 + {x'_2}^2 - 2x'_1 \cdot x'_2$.

⁹This argument does not show that $T^{\mu}_{\mu} = 0$ for a conformally invariant theory (as sometimes stated, $\partial_{\rho}\epsilon^{\rho}$ is not an arbitrary function), but it is shown in [29] that conformal invariance is equivalent to the existence of a traceless energy-momentum tensor and this is the one we will use when considering conformal field theories. In a curved space-time Weyl invariance does imply that $T^{\mu}_{\mu} = 0$.

saying that this also holds at the quantum level, but no counter examples exists for unitary theories in flat space (see [30] for a recent example in curved space), and it is often stated that a vanishing beta function leads to conformal invariance [29, 27]. In two dimensions scale invariance can be proven to imply conformal invariance also at the quantum level, this is shown in chapter 5 using the spectral representation.

Quantum corrections change the scaling of a theory. A local field theory has an infinite number of degrees of freedom that give rise to ultra-violet divergences which have to be renormalised, the scaling behaviour of renormalised quantum field theory is described by the renormalisation group.

3

The renormalisation group and universality

The renormalisation group describes the behaviour of a quantum field theory under scaling. It also describes scaling in statistical mechanics and it provides an important link between relativistic quantum field theory, statistical mechanics and critical phenomena. The structure of the space of all quantum field theories is also determined by the renormalisation group.

The relation between field theory and statistical mechanics has led to an understanding in statistical mechanics of critical phenomena and universality, and calculations of critical exponents using quantum field theory methods. On the other hand, the idea of effective field theories used in statistical mechanics is now also used for quantum field theory which is seen as an effective field theory only valid below some fundamental scale Λ_0 .

The requirement of renormalisability was originally used as a selection criterion for physical theories, but an effective theory must include all terms obeying the symmetries of the theory, also the non-renormalisable terms. However, these terms are irrelevant in the renormalisation group sense and are therefore suppressed at energies $\Lambda \ll \Lambda_0$. The perturbative calculations in the wilsonian effective theory are equivalent to normal perturbative calculations, where the running coupling constant can be seen as the effective coupling. Non-renormalisable interactions are allowed with a very small coupling, and gravity has been speculated [6] to be one such $example^{1}$.

A quantum field theory is determined by its symmetries and the coupling constants of the interaction. The space of quantum field theories is therefore spanned by the infinite dimensional coupling constant space. The renormalisation group describes a one parameter flow under scaling in the coupling constant space, where fixed points correspond to scale invariant theories. The coupling constants describe the microscopic interactions, but different quantum field theories have the same long range physics if they flow to the same fixed point under the renormalisation group. Quantum field theories can therefore be grouped into different equivalence classes according to which fixed point they flow to. The renormalisation group in this way determines the structure of the coupling constant space. To get a better understanding of the space of quantum field theories it is therefore important to study the infra-red and ultra-violet limits of quantum field theories and their renormalisation group flows.

The analogy between statistical mechanics and quantum field theory, which is an exact equivalence when the continuum limit of the statistical mechanical system is considered, stems from the path integral formulation of the latter. Under a Wick rotation $it = t_E$, $(x, x)_M = -(x, x)_E$ and $iS = -S_E$: $Z[J] = \int \mathcal{D}\phi e^{iS + \int d^d x J(x)\phi(x)} \rightarrow \int \mathcal{D}\phi e^{-S_E + \int d^d x J(x)\phi(x)}$ which is analogous to the partition function of a statistical mechanical system in d space dimensions where S_E is the classical hamiltonian. The n-point Green functions become euclidean Green functions, or Schwinger functions, that are equivalent to correlation functions in statistical mechanics, and this is the term we will use throughout the thesis².

 $^{^{1}}$ To explain why gravity is irrelevant and the other interactions are relevant one needs a fundamental finite theory.

²The usual convention in physics is applied where euclidean signature means a riemannian manifold (\mathcal{M}, g_{ij}) where g_{ij} has signature $(+, \ldots, +)$ and Minkowski signature means a pseudo-riemannian manifold (\mathcal{M}, η_{ij}) of signature $(+, -, \ldots, -)$.

3.1 Renormalisation

Loop diagrams in quantum field theory contain ultra-violet divergences (infra-red divergences are discussed in chapter 6). For example in euclidean φ^4 theory the tadpole diagram

$$\underbrace{()}_{(2\pi)^d} = \frac{\lambda}{(2\pi)^d} \int d^d q \ (q^2 + m^2)^{-1} > k_1 \int_{k_2}^{\infty} dr \ r^{(d-2)-1}$$

for some $k_1, k_2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$, and the diagram is therefore divergent for $d \ge 2$. A theory is renormalised by first regularizing it³ introducing a convergent expression for the loop integrals depending on some cut-off parameter ϵ , so that the original expression is obtained in the limit where the cut-off is removed $\epsilon \to 0$. The divergences are then absorbed into bare couplings by redefinitions of the coupling constants of the theory so that the correlation functions, and thus physical quantities, are finite when $\epsilon \to 0$, but the bare couplings diverge. Here a wave function renormalisation is used, $\varphi_0 = Z_1^{1/2}(\mu)\varphi_R, \varphi_0^2 = Z_2(\mu)(\varphi^2)_R$, where φ_R , $(\varphi^2)_R$ and λ are the renormalised and $\varphi_0, \varphi_0^2, \lambda_0$ are the bare quantities,

$$\mathcal{L}_{R}(\varphi_{R},\lambda) = \mathcal{L}(\varphi_{R},\lambda) + \mathcal{L}_{c.t.}(\varphi_{R},\lambda) = \mathcal{L}_{0}(\varphi_{0},\lambda_{0}).$$
(3.1)

A theory is called renormalisable if it is possible to absorb the infinities into a finite number of couplings at every order in the perturbation. Studying the loop diagrams the requirement of renormalisability of a scalar field interaction $\lambda \varphi(x)^n$ becomes

$$[\lambda] \ge 0. \tag{3.2}$$

The interactions of the theory (like the self-interaction above) are incorporated into the renormalised couplings, and it is these couplings that have to be compared with measured quantities. The bare couplings are the ultra-violet approximation of the

³There is an operator formulation of perturbative quantum field theory where no regularization and renormalisation is performed. In the (Boguliubov-Shirkov-Epstein-Glaser) Causal approach (see e.g. [31]) ultra-violet divergences are removed by proper definitions of products of operator valued tempered distributions in position space.

renormalised couplings in the sense that no interactions are here taken into account⁴.

The counter terms $\mathcal{L}_{c.t.}$ are only specified up to finite terms in the limit $\epsilon \to 0$. This means that the theory does not have any predictive power until the parameters of the lagrangian, i.e. the couplings and the constant in the kinetic term, have been fixed by comparing with experimental values measured at a certain length scale. Choosing a different renormalisation condition by fixing the parameters at a different scale then corresponds to a different finite renormalisation of the theory.

The regularization introduces an additional mass parameter μ into the theory, e.g. the lattice spacing $1/\mu$, or in Pauli-Villars: $\frac{1}{q^2+m^2} \rightarrow \frac{1}{q^2+m^2} - \frac{1}{q^2+\mu^2}$, and in dimensional regularization $g = \mu^{-\epsilon}\lambda$, where [g] = 0. Changing μ corresponds to a finite renormalisation and can be seen as choosing a different renormalisation condition. Physical quantities must be independent of the choice of renormalisation condition and this invariance in the choice of μ leads to the Callan–Symanzik equation [32, 33] which shows how the system changes under scaling. Some references on renormalisation in quantum field theory and some of its history are [22, 11, 5, 34, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39, 40, 41], in which more detailed references can be found.

3.1.1 The Callan–Symanzik equation

The simplest case with one coupling is considered, the equation directly generalizes to more couplings. From the wave-function renormalisation the bare and renormalised correlation functions are related as

$$G_n(p_i, g(\mu), \mu) = \langle \varphi_R(p_1) \cdots \varphi_R(p_n) \rangle = Z_1^{-n/2}(\mu) G_{0n}(p_i, g_0, \epsilon), \qquad (3.3)$$

⁴The ultra-violet divergences of the bare couplings then indicate that the perturbative theory is only an effective theory valid below some fundamental cut-off Λ_0 , and the renormalisation is then a way of expressing the effective physical degrees of freedom at a length scale much below Λ_0 , this is exactly the philosophy in the wilsonian view of the renormalisation group.

where the overall momentum conservation has been extracted so that $G_n(p_i, g, \mu)$ is defined for $\sum_{i=1}^{n} p_i = 0^{5}$. It then follows that

$$0 = \mu \frac{d}{d\mu} G_{0n}(p_i, g_0, \epsilon) = Z_1^{n/2} \left(n \frac{\mu}{2Z_1} \frac{dZ_1}{d\mu} + \mu \frac{\partial}{\partial \mu} + \mu \frac{\partial g}{\partial \mu} \frac{\partial}{\partial g} \right) G_n(p_i, g, \mu).$$
(3.4)

 $G_n(p_i, g, \mu)$ is homogeneous with respect to the mass dimension⁶ (2.19)

$$G_n(tp_i, g, t\mu) = t^{[G_n(p_i)]} G_n(p_i, g, \mu),$$
(3.5)

so that

$$\left(t\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \mu\frac{\partial}{\partial \mu} - [G_n(p_i)]\right)G_n(tp_i, g, \mu) = 0, \qquad (3.6)$$

inserting into (3.4) leads to

$$\left(-t\frac{\partial}{\partial t}+\beta(g)\frac{\partial}{\partial g}+n\gamma+[G_n(p_i)]\right)G_n(tp_i,g,\mu)=0,$$
(3.7)

with

$$\beta(g) = \mu \frac{dg}{d\mu}|_{g_0,\epsilon}, \qquad \gamma(g) = \frac{\mu}{2Z_1} \frac{dZ_1}{d\mu}|_{g_0,\epsilon}.$$
(3.8)

 β is the beta function and γ the anomalous field dimension. We call (3.7) the Callan–Symanzik equation and (3.8) the renormalisation group equation⁷.

In the Callan–Symanzik equation the invariance of the physics (the S-matrix) in the choice of renormalisation condition is transformed into describing the scaling behaviour of the correlation functions. The correlation functions change as $(n\gamma + [G_n(p_i)])G_n(tp_i, g, \mu)$ under a simultaneous change in t and g in (3.7) and this suggests that the solution has the form $G_n(tp_i, g, \mu) = h(t)G_n(p_i, \bar{g}(t, g), \mu)$ for some

⁵Using translation invariance we can then write the correlator as $\tilde{G}_n(p_1,\ldots,p_n) = \int d^d x_1 e^{ix_1(\sum_{i=1}^n p_i)} \int d^d x_2 \cdots \int d^d x_n e^{i(\sum_{k=2}^n p_k x_k)} G_n(0,x_2,\ldots,x_n) = (2\pi)^d \delta(\sum_{i=1}^n p_i) G_n(p_i).$

⁶For a scalar field $[G_n(p_i)] = n[\varphi(x)] - nd + d = d - \frac{n}{2}(d+2).$

 $^{^{7}(3.7)}$ is also called the renormalisation group equation, and sometimes the word Callan–Symanzik equation is reserved for the case with composite operator insertions, these are considered in chapter 6.

function h(t), where the running coupling constant $\bar{g}(t,g)$ satisfies that $\bar{g}(1,g) = g$ and $t\frac{\partial \bar{g}}{\partial t} = \beta(\bar{g})^{-8}$. Inserting this into (3.7) then gives

$$G_n(tp_i, g, \mu) = t^{[G_n(p_i)]} e^{n \int_1^t \frac{\gamma(\bar{g}(t'))}{t'} dt'} G_n(p_i, \bar{g}(t, g), \mu).$$
(3.9)

This shows that the scaled correlators with coupling g are the same up to a factor as the unscaled correlators with the running coupling $\bar{g}(t, g)$ at the scale t.

The renormalisation group in this way specifies a one parameter flow in the coupling constant space that determines how the renormalised couplings must change, when the length scale changes, to leave the physics invariant. The cut-off ϵ is kept fixed along the renormalisation group flow; an equivalent view of the renormalisation group is to keep the renormalised couplings fixed by comparing them to measured quantities at a certain scale, and then observe how the bare couplings must be varied in the limit when the cut-off vanishes so that the physical quantities stay unchanged.

The renormalisation group shows how the effective microscopic dynamics, expressed in terms of $\bar{g}(t)$, depends on the length scale where the theory is probed. This dynamical scale dependence is one of the most important consequences of the renormalisation group because it matches what we see in nature, namely that the behaviour of physical systems depends on the scale where they are studied [36]. Physics on different length scales decouples, that is, the dynamics of a system and the relevant parameters needed for its description depend on the scale where it is studied. The value of a physical charge for example depends on the length scale where it is probed because of screening, and the parameters needed to describe a thermo-dynamical system differ from the ones needed to describe its microscopic nuclear properties.

The β -function can be calculated perturbatively and the correlators satisfying (3.7) are called renormalisation group improved, as (3.7) is an additional condition on the perturbative calculation. The renormalisation group equation shows that the

⁸Hence integrating this equation and differentiating with respect to g shows that $\frac{\partial \bar{g}}{\partial g}|_t = \frac{\beta(\bar{g})}{\beta(g)}$, and it also follows that $\int_1^t dt' \frac{\gamma(\bar{g}(t'))}{t'} = \int_g^{\bar{g}} dg' \frac{\gamma(g')}{\beta(g')}$.



Figure 3.1: β -function with an ultra-violet and an infra-red fixed point.

scaling behaviour is completely determined by the β -function; fixed points of the renormalisation group correspond to scale invariant theories because the effective couplings are the same at all length scales.

We are interested in theories with a β -function with an ultra-violet fixed point where the length scale vanishes, and an infra-red fixed point where the length scale diverges, see figure 3.1. The renormalisation group then flows from the ultra-violet to the infra-red fixed point in the coupling constant space.

If the coupling constant space, or theory space, has the coordinates g^i then the renormalisation group flow is a one parameter transformation along the vector field $\beta = \beta^i \frac{\partial}{\partial g^i}$. In [42, 43] the correlation functions in a theory were argued to be tensor fields in coupling constant space and the renormalisation group flow can then be written as the Lie derivative [44] with respect to the vector field β . It then seems natural and important to try to further develop the geometrical understanding of the renormalisation group by introducing a metric, connection and curvature in theory space, also because geometrical principles have proved very important when formulating general relativity and quantum gauge theories. In [45, 46, 43, 42] the geometrical properties of the renormalisation group have been studied, but no general conclusions have yet been reached about the geometry. The hope is that geometrical considerations will lead to global non-perturbative constraints on the renormalisation group flow and the structure of theory space. This is the case in two dimensions for unitary theories where Zamolodchikov's *c*-theorem, which we will prove in chapter 5, shows the irreversible nature of the renormalisation group flow. Another example where the renormalisation group flow has been studied non-perturbatively is the Seiberg–Witten solution to N = 2 supersymmetric Yang-Mills, where the exact β -function has been determined together with a metric on coupling constant space [47, 48, 49].

3.1.2 Composite operators and the operator product expansion

In a renormalisable theory correlation functions $\langle \mathcal{O}(x)\phi(y_1)\cdots\phi(y_n)\rangle$ with insertions of local composite operators $\mathcal{O}(x) = \partial_1 \cdots \partial_l \phi(x)^k$ will have divergences. These correlators can be calculated by adding a term to the lagrangian $\mathcal{L} \to \mathcal{L} + t(x)\mathcal{O}(x)$ and then use the normal Feynman rules to evaluate $Z^{-1} \frac{\delta}{\delta t(x)} \frac{\delta^n}{\delta J(y_1)\cdots\delta J(y_n)} Z[J,t]|_{J=t=0}$. This corresponds to summing over the usual Feynman diagrams, but with one additional vertex corresponding to $\mathcal{O}(x)$, this vertex has no self-contractions [27]. Some of these diagrams will be divergent and the composite operator is renormalised by adding counter terms $t(x)\mathcal{O}(x) \to t(x)(\mathcal{O}(x) + \sum_i \tilde{Z}_{\mathcal{O}i}\mathcal{O}_i)$. For the theory to be renormalisable the constraint (3.2) shows that⁹ $[\tilde{Z}_{\mathcal{O}i}] \ge 0$ so that the operator $\mathcal{O}(x)$ only mixes under renormalisation with operators of lower or equal mass dimension.

⁹This argument is for an operator without any derivatives, a general argument is given in [22]; if G is a 1PI graph for a counter term $\tilde{Z}_{\mathcal{O}i}\mathcal{O}_i$ with D_i derivatives then (3.2) implies that the degree of divergence of G: $\delta(G) = [G] - [couplings] \ge [G]$, and $[G] = D_i + [\tilde{Z}_{\mathcal{O}i}]$. For $\tilde{Z}_{\mathcal{O}i}\mathcal{O}_i$ to be a counter term then $\delta(G) \ge D_i$, and together with the above relation this again shows that $[\tilde{Z}_{\mathcal{O}i}] \ge 0$.

The renormalisable composite operator can then be written as

$$\mathcal{O}(x)_R = \sum_i Z_{\mathcal{O}i} \mathcal{O}_i, \quad [\mathcal{O}_i] \leq [\mathcal{O}].$$
 (3.10)

The correlation functions $\langle \mathcal{O}_1(x_1)_R \cdots \mathcal{O}_i(x_i)_R \mathcal{O}_j(x_j)_R \cdots \mathcal{O}_n(x_n)_R \rangle$ are not defined on the diagonal $x_i = x_j$. We will be interested in the short distance ultra-violet limit where $x_i \to x_j$, this situation is described by the operator product expansion (or short distance expansion). To simplify the notation we will here write the renormalised composite operator as simply $\mathcal{O}(x)$.

The operator product expansion was first conjectured by Wilson in [50] (and independently by Kadanoff in statistical mechanics [51]), it replaces a product of operators by a linear combination of local operators, it has been proved to hold in perturbation theory (see e.g. [22, 52]) and also argued to be true non-perturbatively using the path integral [52]. In the classical theory the product $\mathcal{O}_i(x_i)\mathcal{O}_j(x_j)$ can be calculated for $x_i \to x_j$ using the Taylor series $\mathcal{O}_i(x_i)\mathcal{O}_j(x_j) = \mathcal{O}_i(x_j)\mathcal{O}_j(x_j) + (x_i - x_j)^{\mu}(\partial_{\mu}\mathcal{O}_i(x_j))\mathcal{O}_j(x_j) + \cdots$. In quantum theory $\mathcal{O}_i(x_j)\mathcal{O}_j(x_j)$ is singular, it follows for example from (2.20) that $\langle \phi(sx)\phi(0) \rangle \sim s^{-2\Delta}$ for $s \to 0$, and the Taylor series must be replaced by an asymptotic series for $x_i \to x_j$:

$$\mathcal{O}_i(x_i)\mathcal{O}_j(x_j) \sim \sum_k C_{ijk}(x_i - x_j)\mathcal{O}_k(x_j).$$
 (3.11)

From the scaling behaviour (2.20) it follows that $C_{ijk}(s(x_i - x_j)) \sim s^{-\Delta_i - \Delta_j + \Delta_k}$ for $s \to 0$, and since there is only a finite number of operators¹⁰ \mathcal{O}_k with $\Delta_k < \Delta_i + \Delta_j$ there will only be a finite number of singular terms. The dominant contribution in (3.11) for $x_i \to x_j$ is therefore given by the operators with lowest scale dimension. For scalar fields we will write (3.11) as

$$\mathcal{O}_i(x_i)\mathcal{O}_j(x_j) \sim \sum_k |x_i - x_j|^{-\Delta_i - \Delta_j + \Delta_k} \tilde{C}_{ijk}\mathcal{O}_k(x_j), \qquad (3.12)$$

where \tilde{C}_{ijk} is the operator product expansion coefficients.

¹⁰This is the case for all known theories and it can be taken as one of the defining properties of quantum field theory [53].

3.2 Linearizing the renormalisation group and universality

The structure of the coupling constant space is determined by the renormalisation group flow, the qualitative behaviour of which is given by the stability of the fixed points (in the absence of limit cycles and strange attractors). The stability of a critical point, i.e. if it is attractive or repulsive, can be found by linearizing the renormalisation group near the fixed point.

It is useful to adopt the wilsonian viewpoint where the renormalisation group is implemented by integrating out the high energy degrees of freedom not relevant at lower energy scales. This procedure can also be used in statistical mechanics and the renormalisation group has made an important connection between relativistic quantum field theory and critical phenomena, which has led to a better understanding of divergences in quantum field theory and universality in critical phenomena.

In statistical mechanics a renormalisation group transformation is given as a coarse graining of the system focusing on the long range effects that are the important ones in critical phenomena. For a spin system on a (fixed) lattice of spacing a this can be done by Kadanoff blocking ¹¹. The blocking, or renormalisation transformation, will then generate new couplings between the blocked spins. This is similar to the renormalisation described by (3.8) where the cut-off is held fixed and the renormalisation group describes the dependence on the renormalisation scale. Equivalently, the lattice can be used as a regulator by adjusting the (bare) couplings so that physical quantities, e.g. the correlation length, are held fixed while the lattice spacing a goes to zero. This is again analogous to the quantum field theory case where $\epsilon \rightarrow 0$. The continuum theory defined in this limit then gives a field theory with a non-perturbative regulator, namely the lattice, and non-perturbative effects can in principle be studied in this way.

A continuum formulation is also obtained with a momentum space cut-off, either ¹¹The lattice is divided into blocks of size s^d and the spin field in the block is defined as the average value, length are given in terms of the lattice spacing so they must be rescaled x' = x/s.

3 The renormalisation group and universality



Figure 3.2: A renormalisation group fixed point in coupling constant space with one relevant and two irrelevant operators.

sharp or smooth. One prescription is to include only momentum modes $\phi(k)$ with $|k| < \Lambda$ in the effective partition function $Z = \int \mathcal{D}\phi(k)|_{|k|<\Lambda}e^{-S[\phi]}$. The equivalent of the blocking transformation in this formulation is to integrate out the momentum modes with $\Lambda/s < |k| < \Lambda$ followed by a rescaling k' = sk, $\phi'(k') = s^{\Delta-d}\phi(k)$ (which is the momentum space version of (2.18): $\phi'(x/s) = s^{\Delta}\phi(x)$). This transformation again corresponds to a flow in the effective coupling constant space $\lambda \to \lambda'(s)$ and the β -function is then defined as before $\beta(\lambda) = s\frac{d\lambda}{ds}$.

3.2.1 Linearizing the renormalisation group

Assume that there is a fixed point of the renormalisation group, i.e. a scale invariant theory in the coupling space $S_*[\lambda_*]$. In the vicinity of the fixed point the action can be written as $S[\lambda(s)] = S_* + \Delta S[\lambda(s)]$ where s is the scale parameter. Linearizing

the renormalisation group transformation around the fixed point gives

$$s\frac{d}{ds}\Delta S = \mathsf{L}\Delta S \tag{3.13}$$

where L is a linear operator depending on S_* [38]. If L has a discrete spectrum ΔS can be expanded in terms of the eigenoperators with eigenvalue y_i : $\Delta S = \sum_i \lambda_i(s) \mathcal{O}_i$ so that to lowest order

$$s\frac{d}{ds}\lambda_i(s) = y_i\lambda_i(s), \quad \lambda_i(s) = s^{y_i}\lambda_i(1).$$
(3.14)

 y_i is the renormalisation group eigenvalue for the operator \mathcal{O}_i at the fixed point S_* . \mathcal{O}_i is called relevant for $\operatorname{Re}(y_i) > 0$ where the coupling grows away from the fixed point, irrelevant when $\operatorname{Re}(y_i) < 0$ where the coupling vanishes along the renormalisation group flow, and marginal for $y_i = 0$ where higher order corrections need to be calculated, see figure 3.2. The critical surface for a fixed point is defined as all points in the coupling constant space which flows to the fixed point under the renormalisation group flow, and is therefore locally spanned by the irrelevant operators. The co-dimension of the critical surface equals the number of relevant operators for the fixed point, and the corresponding couplings are the ones that need to be adjusted to reach the critical surface.

The massless free theory is a fixed point of the renormalisation group, the gaussian fixed point. This fixed point is very important because perturbative quantum field theory is defined as a perturbation around it. The free theory is finite and can be calculated exactly. It is a fixed point because the massless free action is scale invariant, and for a quadratic action there is no mixing of different momentum modes, so that the high momentum modes decouple without changing the quadratic coupling. For example, for a scalar field with scaling dimension $\Delta = \frac{d-2}{2}$:

$$Z = \int \mathcal{D}\phi(q)|_{|q|<\Lambda} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\int \frac{d^d q}{(2\pi)^d}\phi(q)q^2\phi(-q)} = k_1 \int \mathcal{D}\phi(q)|_{|q|<\Lambda/s} e^{-\frac{1}{2}\int \frac{d^d q}{(2\pi)^d}\phi(q)q^2\phi(-q)}$$
$$= k_2 \int \mathcal{D}\phi'(q')|_{|q'|<\Lambda} e^{-s^{d-2\Delta-2}\frac{1}{2}\int \frac{d^d q'}{(2\pi)^d}\phi'(q')q'^2\phi'(-q')},$$

for some $k_1, k_2 \in \mathbb{R}$, and it follows that the massless free action is invariant under a renormalisation group transformation. In this gaussian case the change in the couplings under the renormalisation group comes solely from the rescaling of the action. For a non-quadratic interaction term $\lambda \int d^d x \mathcal{O}(x)$ the momentum modes mix, and the couplings will consequently change when integrating out the high momentum modes. This effect however must be of order $O(\lambda)$ as it vanishes for the gaussian theory, so the lowest order change in λ is again given by rescaling the action $x \to x' = x/s$, $\mathcal{O}(x) \to \mathcal{O}'(x')$: $\lambda \int d^d x \mathcal{O}(x) = \lambda s^{d-\Delta} \int d^d x' \mathcal{O}'(x')$, where $\mathcal{O}(x)$ has scaling dimension Δ . The renormalisation group eigenvalue for the gaussian fixed point is therefore $y = d - \Delta$ which is equal to $[\lambda]$. The non-renormalisable interactions with $[\lambda] < 0$ are thus damped by $s^{-|y|}$ on the renormalisation group flow. On scales $\Lambda \ll \Lambda_0$ the only non-zero parameters are therefore the finite number (in d > 2) of couplings in front of the renormalisable interactions, irrespective of the nature of the underlying fundamental theory at the scale Λ_0 , and the theory therefore has a renormalisable form. A similar argument was given by Polchinski in [54] (see also [5]) directly using dimensional analysis and an effective lagrangian¹² ¹³.

From the solution to the Callan–Symanzik equation (3.9) it follows that the infrared limit of a correlation function is proportional to the same correlator evaluated at the infra-red fixed point. This shows that all theories flowing to the same infra-red renormalisation group fixed point have the same long distance behaviour irrespective of the microscopic dynamics, this is called universality. Fixed points are determined by the symmetries of the action and the space-time dimension and are characterized by quantities like the renormalisation group eigenvalues from which such universal properties as the critical exponents, that are discussed in chapter 6, can be derived. Quantum field theories can then be grouped into different universality classes, with

¹²In [55, 11] the renormalisation group is seen as an example of functional self-similarity, where a solution to a physical problem, imposed in terms of a differential equation, has the same functional form under a variation of the boundary conditions. If for example the transformation $R_t : \{x \to x' = x/t, g \to g' = \bar{g}(t,g)\}$ satisfy the group composition $R_t R_{t'} = R_{tt'}$ then $\bar{g}(x,g) = \bar{g}(x/t, \bar{g}(t,g))$, and this shows that $x \frac{\partial \bar{g}(x,g)}{\partial x} = \beta(\bar{g}(x,g))$ where $\beta(\bar{g}(x,g)) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \bar{g}(t,g)|_{t=1}$, which are similar to the expressions above.

¹³A correspondence between Feynman diagrams, knots, Hopf algebras and non-commutative geometry has been discussed in [56, 57]. This seems to be an important development which may lead to a more fundamental understanding of the perturbative series and the renormalisation group.
the same critical properties, according to which fixed point they flow to under the renormalisation group, this has been verified experimentally for a number of different materials and fluids. If all theories have an infra-red fixed point (as would be the case if the renormalisation group flow could be shown to be a gradient flow with the interpretation as in the c-theorem) the space of quantum field theories would then be classified by determining all fixed points, i.e. all scale invariant theories.

4

Calculating the infra-red limit using analyticity

In this thesis we are interested in quantum field theories that have a β -function as in figure 3.1 with an ultra-violet and an infra-red fixed point of the renormalisation group.

Perturbation theory is the main calculational tool in obtaining physical quantities from quantum field theory. Here the action is divided into a free gaussian part and an interaction, and using that the path integral is well defined for gaussian integration the full interacting theory can then be written as a formal power series in the coupling constants that define the interaction¹. This power series in the couplings will often at most be asymptotic, hence the finite number of terms obtained in a perturbative calculation only describe the exact physics correctly in a small region around the gaussian fixed point $g^i = 0$, this is called the perturbative region.

The ability to calculate anything beyond this perturbative region is scarce and limited, and it is therefore important to develop new calculational tools that can reach beyond the perturbative region towards the infra-red.

Conventionally the infra-red limit is studied by extrapolating perturbation theory

 $^{^{1}}$ A perturbative expansion around a non-gaussian fixed point is possible if the correlation functions in the critical theory are known, we will see an example of this in chapter 5.

from the ultra-violet region using the renormalisation group. In this chapter we will show how to improve this approach with information derived from the analyticity properties of the correlation functions in the theory. The analyticity follows from the Källen–Lehmann spectral representation that is valid for all quantum field theories. We are considering Lorentz invariant and unitary theories in an arbitrary number of dimensions.

Using the analyticity in a complex scale parameter the infra-red limit of the correlation functions is written as an integral in the ultra-violet region. This integral over the complex scale parameter is shown to be the Borel transform of order k of the correlation function, where the order is related to the analytical continuation chosen for the scale parameter. In chapters 5 and 6 we will use this method to derive the infra-red limit of different physical quantities in two and three dimensions.

First the Källen–Lehmann spectral representation is derived, and this is then used to determine the analyticity domain of correlation functions. The perturbative expansion in the coupling is then discussed together with asymptotic series and the Borel transformation, and we then show how to obtain the infra-red limit as an integral in the ultra-violet region.

4.1 Spectral representation of correlation functions

The Källen-Lehmann spectral representation [58, 59] states that the two point correlation function in an interacting theory can be written as a sum over intermediate free states of different mass. It follows from general principles of quantum field theory and can be derived by inserting a resolution of the identity in terms of eigenstates of the momentum P^{μ} [60]. Let us show it for for a scalar field $\phi(x)$, there is a similar representation for correlators of higher spin fields and we will show it for the spin two energy-momentum tensor in chapter 5. The unitary irreducible representations of the Poincaré group are characterized by the invariants of the group (the Casimirs) which are the mass μ and the spin *s*. We consider the s = 0 case and the identity

can therefore be written as a sum over the different masses [60]

$$1 = \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \ \mathcal{P}_{P^2 = \mu^2} = \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \int d^d p \ \delta(p^2 - \mu^2) \ \theta(p^0) \ \mathcal{P}_{P^\nu = p^\nu}$$
(4.1)

where \mathcal{P} is a projection operator onto eigenstates of P^2 and P^{μ} . Inserting this into the two point function for $x^0 < 0$ gives, using Cauchy's theorem²

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \phi(x)\phi(0) \rangle &= \langle 0|T\{\phi(x)\phi(0)\}|0 \rangle = \langle 0|\phi(0)\phi(x)|0 \rangle = \langle 0|\phi(0)e^{iPx}\phi(0)|0 \rangle \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\mu^{2} \int d^{d}p \ \delta(p^{2} - \mu^{2})\theta(p^{0})e^{ipx} \ \langle 0|\phi(0)\mathcal{P}_{P^{\nu}=p^{\nu}}\phi(0)|0 \rangle \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\mu^{2}\sigma(\mu^{2}) \int \frac{d^{d}p}{(2\pi)^{d-1}}\delta(p^{2} - \mu^{2}) \ \theta(p^{0})e^{ipx} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\mu^{2}\sigma(\mu^{2}) \int \frac{d^{d-1}p}{(2\pi)^{d-1}} \frac{1}{2E_{p}}e^{i(E_{p}x^{0} - \bar{x}\bar{p})} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\mu^{2}\sigma(\mu^{2}) \int \frac{d^{d-1}p}{(2\pi)^{d-1}} \int_{-\infty+i\epsilon}^{\infty+i\epsilon} \frac{dp^{0}}{2\pi i} \frac{(-1)}{p^{2} - \mu^{2}} \ e^{ipx} \ \theta(p^{0}) \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} d\mu^{2}\sigma(\mu^{2}) \int \frac{d^{d}p}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{i}{p^{2} - \mu^{2} + i\epsilon} \ e^{ipx} = \int_{0}^{\infty} d\mu^{2}\sigma(\mu^{2}) \ G_{0}(x,\mu). \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.2)$$

Here $d\mu^2 \sigma(\mu^2) = d\mu^2 (2\pi)^{d-1} \langle 0 | \phi(0) \mathcal{P}_{P^{\nu} = p^{\nu}} \phi(0) | 0 \rangle |_{p^2 = \mu^2}$ is the spectral density at the scale μ , and $G_0(x,\mu)$ is the free Feynman propagator which in momentum space is given by the distribution $G_0(p,\mu) = \frac{i}{p^2 - \mu^2 + i\epsilon}$ (i.e. $\epsilon \to 0_+$ is taken in integrals). For $x^0 > 0$ the same result is obtained, and the full interacting propagator can be written as: $G(x) = \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \sigma(\mu^2) G_0(x,\mu)$, which is the Källen–Lehmann spectral representation. If the projection operator is written $\mathcal{P}_{P^{\nu} = p^{\nu}} = |\bar{p}, \mu\rangle\langle\mu, \bar{p}|$ it follows that for a unitary theory the spectral density is non-negative $\sigma(\mu^2) = (2\pi)^{d-1} |\langle 0 | \phi(0) | \bar{p}, \mu \rangle|^2 \geq 0^3$. The calculation with euclidean signature is equivalent and in momentum space

²Here $E_p = \sqrt{|\bar{p}|^2 + \mu^2}$ so that $p^2 - \mu^2 = (p^0)^2 - E_p^2$. From the identity $\delta(f(x) - f(a)) = \frac{1}{|f'(a)|}\delta(x-a)$ it follows that $\int d^d p \delta(p^2 - \mu^2)\theta(p^0) = \int d^{d-1}p \frac{1}{2E_p}$, which also shows that $\frac{d^{d-1}p}{2E_p}$ is the Lorentz invariant measure on the upper sheet $p^0 > 0$ of the hyperboloid $p^2 = \mu^2$.

 $^{^{3}}$ The Källen–Lehmann spectral representation is in [61, 5] derived by explicitly constructing the projection operators, and in [62] in terms of actiomatic field theory.

it becomes

$$\langle \phi(p)\phi(0)\rangle_E = \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \sigma(\mu^2) \frac{1}{p_E^2 + \mu^2}.$$
 (4.3)

From now on we will use euclidean signature unless otherwise stated and write $\langle \phi(p)\phi(0)\rangle_E = \langle \phi(p)\phi(0)\rangle, \ p_E^2 = p^2 \text{ and } S_E = S.$

4.1.1 Analyticity of correlations functions

The spectral representation (4.3) shows that the correlation functions have an analytical continuation. Introducing the complex scale factor $s \in \mathbb{C}$

$$\langle \phi(sp)\phi(0) \rangle = \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \ \sigma(\mu^2) \ \frac{1}{s^2 p^2 + \mu^2}$$

then shows that $\langle \phi(sp)\phi(0) \rangle$ is analytic in the positive half-plane $\operatorname{Re}(s) > 0$. Of course, a different continuation can be chosen and generally physical quantities will not be analytic in the positive half-plane, but in some sector $S(\alpha)$ of the complex plane defined as

$$S(\alpha) = \{ z = re^{i\phi} \mid 0 < r < \infty, \ -\frac{\alpha}{2} < \phi < \frac{\alpha}{2} \},$$
(4.4)

see figure 4.1. Note that $0 \notin S(\alpha)$. We will consider functions which are bounded at the origin, i.e. $\exists C > 0 : \lim_{z \to 0} |f(z)| \leq C$ for $z \in S(\alpha)$.

It is very difficult to go beyond the perturbative approximation. One way is to use the lattice as a non-perturbative regulator as discussed in chapter 3, and then do numerical calculations of the path integral e.g. using Monte Carlo methods. Another has been to study particular theories, or models, with features that have allowed considerations beyond perturbation theory. Examples are theories with large symmetries, like infinite dimensional affine Lie algebras and supersymmetry, that have non-perturbative consequences; or use duality transformations between specific theories, that maps one theory into another weakly coupled theory where perturbation theory is applicable. Non-perturbative results are also obtained by studying dominant contributions to path integrals in form of instantons and solitons that are not given by free theories.



Figure 4.1: The sector $S(\alpha)$ in the complex plane.

Here we will use the analytical properties of the exact correlation functions that are generic for all quantum field theories, to improve the perturbative calculations of the infra-red limit of correlators.

4.2 The perturbative series

The euclidean signature version of the correlators (2.10) can be written as

$$\langle \phi(x_1)\cdots\phi(x_n)\rangle = rac{\delta}{\delta J(x_1)}\cdotsrac{\delta}{\delta J(x_n)}rac{Z[J]}{Z[0]}|_{J=0}, \qquad Z[J] = \int \mathcal{D}\phi e^{-S+\int d^d x J(x)\phi(x)},$$

and they can be evaluated by splitting the action into a quadratic free part and an interaction: $S = S_0 + g \mathcal{O}(\phi)$. The free theory has a well defined path integral measure $\mathcal{D}\phi e^{-S_0}$ (the Wiener measure [63]) where correlation functions can be calculated by gaussian integration. The full interacting theory can then be calculated by a formal power series expansion in the couplings. Wick's theorem

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle &= e^{\frac{1}{2} \int d^d x d^d y} \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi(x)} G_0(x-y) \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi(y)} \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) e^{-g\mathcal{O}(\phi) + \int d^d \tilde{x} J(\tilde{x}) \phi(\tilde{x})} |_{\phi=0,J=0} \\ &= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} g^n H_n \end{aligned}$$

leads to the perturbative expansion in terms of Feynman diagrams. After renormalisation each term in this series is finite, but the series is not necessarily convergent. It was first argued by Dyson in [64] that for QED this perturbative series can at most be asymptotic. If the series is convergent then it is analytic at g = 0 and will therefore also converge for some negative coupling -g (g > 0), but then like charges will attract and the vacuum will disintegrate by spontaneous polarization.

It is important to understand how well the perturbative series represents the exact physics, and how much information can be extracted from it, since a large part of actual calculations are done using perturbative techniques.

In [65] by counting the number of different Feynman diagrams it was conjectured that the perturbative coefficients grow like $H_n \sim n!$. This was confirmed for large n by Lipatov [66] using a steepest decent approximation of the functional integral with non-trivial saddle points that have a finite euclidean action. For ϕ^4 theory these instanton approximations were calculated in [67]⁴, and the method has been generalized to theories with fermions, QED and non-abelian gauge theories, see [70] for a review and references.

Let $H(g) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} H_n g^n$ be the perturbative series for a physical quantity H. If H(g) = o(|g|) when $|g| \to \infty$ and $H(g^*) = H(g)^*$, where g^* is the complex conjugate, then the once subtracted dispersion relation becomes

$$H(g) = H(0) + \frac{g}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{0} dg' \; \frac{\mathrm{Im}(H(g'))}{g'(g'-g)}.$$
(4.5)

This follows from Cauchy's theorem by integrating $\frac{gH(g')}{2\pi i g'(g'-g)}$ over a connected contour consisting of a large circle at infinity together with contours running just below

 $^{^{4}}$ An instanton is a solution to the classical euclidean equations of motion with finite euclidean action. See [68, 69] for an introduction to instantons and solitons.

and above the negative real axis from $-\infty$ to 0 and an infinitesimal circle around 0. Applying Cauchy's theorem again the coefficients with n > 0 can be written as

$$H_n = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^0 dg \; \frac{\mathrm{Im}(H(g))}{g^{n+1}}.$$
(4.6)

For large n the integral is dominated by the small negative g values, and in this region instanton approximations of the functional integral show that [70]

$$\operatorname{Im}(H(g)) \approx \frac{e^{1/ag}}{(-ag)^{b+1}}, \quad g < 0, \ a > 0.$$
(4.7)

As an example [38] consider the integral $I(g) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dx e^{-(x^2+gx^4/2)/2}$. This can be continued to negative values of g if the integration contour is rotated so that $\operatorname{Re}(gx^4)$ stays positive leaving the integral finite, i.e. $\operatorname{Arg}(x) = -\operatorname{Arg}(g)/4$. Hence, there are two contours C_{\pm} where: $\operatorname{Arg}(x) = \pm \pi/4$ for $g = -|g| \pm i0_+$ respectively. The imaginary part then becomes $\operatorname{Im}(I(g)) = (I(-|g|+i0_+) - I(-|g|-i0_+))/2i \propto (\int_{C_+} -\int_{C_-}) dx e^{-(x^2+gx^4/2)/2}$. In a steepest decent approximation the contribution from the saddle point at x = 0 vanishes and the contours C_{\pm} can be split into two contours going through the other saddle points: $x = \pm \sqrt{-1/g}$. For small positive couplings $\operatorname{Re}(I(g)) = I(g)$ is therefore dominated by the saddle point x = 0 giving the perturbative expression $\operatorname{Re}(I(g)) = 1 + O(g)$, and for negative g the imaginary part is dominated by the non-trivial saddle points $x = \pm \sqrt{-1/g}$ giving the nonperturbative expression $\operatorname{Im}(I(g)) \propto e^{1/4g}$ [38].

The large order behaviour then follows by inserting (4.7) into (4.6) using that $\int_0^\infty dx \, x^{\nu-1} e^{-x} = \Gamma(\nu)$

$$H_n \approx \int_{-\infty}^0 dg \, \frac{e^{1/ag}}{g^{n+1}(-ag)^{b+1}} \approx (-a)^n \Gamma(1+n+b). \tag{4.8}$$

Stirling's formula [71] $\Gamma(x) = \sqrt{2\pi x} e^{-x} x^{x-1/2} (1+O(1/x))$ shows that $\Gamma(x+a)/\Gamma(x) \sim x^a$ for large x and the large order behaviour can therefore be written as

$$H_n \approx (-a)^n n! n^b (1 + O(1/n)), \quad n \to \infty.$$
 (4.9)

The factorial growth then shows that in these cases the perturbative series is indeed asymptotic.

4.3 Asymptotic series

We shall need a general definition of asymptotic series. Following [72] a formal power series $\hat{f}(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f_n z^n$ is asymptotic of (Gevrey) order $k^{-1} > 0^{-5}$ if $\exists C, K > 0$:

$$|f_n| \le CK^n \Gamma(1+n/k), \quad \forall n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}.$$

$$(4.10)$$

Let f(z) be analytic in the sector $S(\alpha)$. $\hat{f}(z)$ is the asymptotic expansion of f(z) of order k > 0 for $z \to 0$ if the function $r_f(z, N) = z^{-N}(f(z) - \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} f_n z^n)$ is bounded at the origin. That is, to every closed subset $\bar{S}' \subset S(\alpha)$ there exists C, K > 0:

$$|z|^{-N}|f(z) - \sum_{n=0}^{N-1} f_n z^n| \le C K^N \Gamma(1+N/k), \quad \forall N > 0, \quad \forall z \in \bar{S}',$$
(4.11)

and this is written as $f(z) \cong_k \hat{f}(z)$ in $S(\alpha)$. It follows that $r_f(z, N + 1) = z^{-1}(r_f(z, N) - f_N)$ is bounded at the origin so that $f_N = \lim_{z\to 0} r_f(z, N)$ for $z \in S(\alpha)$. The same argument directly shows that every f(z) analytic in $S(\alpha)$ has a unique asymptotic expansion⁶.

The question is, if a given asymptotic series \hat{f} is the asymptotic expansion of only one analytic function (if any), so that the perturbative series uniquely represents the exact physics. This is not generally the case, as the function $e^{-cz^{-k}}$ with c > 0 shows. $\operatorname{Re}(cz^{-k}) > 0$ in the sector $S(\pi/k)$ so that $e^{-cz^{-k}} = o(z^N)$ for all N > 0 and $z \to 0$ from $S(\pi/k)$, which means that $e^{-cz^{-k}} \cong_k \hat{0}$. An analytic function $f(z) \cong_k \hat{f}(z)$ is therefore only defined modulo $e^{-cz^{-k}}$ (which for small z is minute).

For sectors with larger opening $\alpha > \pi/k$ no such functions exists, and only one function analytic in $S(\alpha)$ satisfies $f(z) \cong_k \hat{f}(z)$. In this case all of the exact physics is for small couplings contained in the perturbative series. The injectivity of the asymptotic expansion for large openings was shown in [73] using an extension of the Phragmen-Lindelöf theorem [71], it can also be shown by explicitly constructing f(z) from $\hat{f}(z)$ by the Borel transform [73, 74].

⁵Then $\hat{f} \in \mathbb{C}[[z]]_{1/k}$. $\mathbb{C}[[z]]_{1/k}$ is a differential algebra [72].

⁶If f(z) is single valued, bounded at the origin and $\alpha = 2\pi$ then f(z) is analytic at z = 0, hence $\hat{f}(z)$ converges and equals the Taylor series at the origin.



Figure 4.2: The contour C_k where k > 0 and $\theta = (\epsilon + \pi)/k$. $\epsilon \in (0, \pi)$ is chosen so that $C_k \subset S(\alpha)$, i.e. $\epsilon < \alpha k - \pi$. The circle has the radius R.

4.3.1 The Borel transform

Let k > 0 and f(z) be analytic in $S(\alpha)$ where $\alpha > \pi/k$ and f(z) is bounded at the origin. The Borel transform of f(z) order k is defined by [72]

$$\mathcal{B}_{k}f(u) = \frac{k}{2\pi i} \int_{C_{k}} \frac{dz}{z} e^{(u/z)^{k}} f(z)$$
(4.12)

where the contour C_k is given in figure 4.2. If $u \in S(\epsilon/k)$ then $|\operatorname{Arg}((u/z)^k)| > \pi/2$ when z is on the two rays in C_k . The integrand is therefore bounded on C_k and the integral is absolutely convergent and defines an analytic function. From Cauchy's theorem the integral is independent of the choice of radius R and ϵ when $\epsilon < \alpha k - \pi$, and $\mathcal{B}_k f(u)$ is therefore analytic in $S(\alpha - \pi/k)$.

The Borel transform of a formal series $\hat{f}(z) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} f_n z^n$ follows from Hankel's integral representation [71]:

$$\frac{1}{\Gamma(1+z)} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_1} \frac{dw}{w} e^{1/w} w^z,$$
(4.13)

so that

$$\mathcal{B}_k \hat{f}(u) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{f_n u^n}{\Gamma(1+n/k)}.$$
(4.14)

The Borel transform of an asymptotic series of order k^{-1} , i.e. $|f_n| \leq CK^n\Gamma(1+n/k)$, then converges within some positive convergence radius. The inverse of the Borel transform is given by the Laplace transform: $\mathcal{L}_k f(z) = k \int_0^\infty \frac{du}{u} u^k e^{-(u/z)^k} f(u)$. If there exists an analytic function such that $f(z) \cong_k \hat{f}(z)$, then f(z) is uniquely given by $f(z) = \mathcal{L}_k \mathcal{B}_k \hat{f}(z)$ in an appropriate sector and we say that $\hat{f}(z)$ is Borel summable [72]. To perform the integral in the Laplace transform $\mathcal{B}_k \hat{f}(u)$ must be analytically continued to all of the positive real axis, this can be done e.g. by a conformal mapping which we will use in chapter 6.

However, this continuation is not always possible, if e.g. $\mathcal{B}_k \hat{f}(u)$ has a pole on the positive real axis, then the equation $f(z) = \mathcal{L}_k \mathcal{B}_k \hat{f}(z)$ is not satisfied by any f(z). QCD is an example of a theory that has poles on the positive real axis known as renormalons, and it is therefore not Borel summable in this sense (it is possible to distort the contour avoiding the singularities, but this introduces ambiguities [75, 52]). If a theory is not Borel summable in the coupling it still might be Borel summable in the scale parameter s, but the asymptotic expansion in s then has to be obtained by non-perturbative means to describe the full theory because the perturbative series in this case is incomplete. For the instanton approximations in (4.8) the singularity closest to the origin is at the negative axis g = -a < 0, and no such problems arise⁷. The φ^4 theory which is considered in chapter 6 has been proved rigorously to be Borel summable for d < 4 [77, 78, 79]. Our interest here is not the Borel transform in the coupling, but in the scale parameter s.

⁷A formal way to see that instantons determine the singularities of the Borel transform (of order one) is to formally rewrite the partition function [76]. First rescale the fields so that the action is written as $S[\phi]/g$ (with g > 0) and then: $\langle \phi \rangle = Z^{-1} \int \mathcal{D}\phi e^{-S/g} \phi = \int_0^\infty dt \int \mathcal{D}\phi \delta(t-S) e^{-S/g} \phi =$ $\int_0^\infty dt \mathcal{B}_1(t) e^{-t/g}$ where the Borel transform is given by $\mathcal{B}_1(t) = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \delta(t-S[\phi])\phi$. Now using the functional analogue of $\delta(f(x) - f(a)) = \delta(x-a)/|f'(a)|$, shows that $\mathcal{B}_1(t)$ is singular when $\frac{\delta S}{\delta \phi} = 0$, that is, for instantons [76].



Figure 4.3: Integration contour C in the cut complex plane.

4.4 Relating the ultra-violet and infra-red limits using analyticity

The perturbative calculation of the infra-red limit of physical quantities can be improved utilizing their analytical properties, not in the coupling as above, but in the scale parameter. The analytic behaviour in the scale parameter follows, as shown in section one, from the general characteristics of a quantum field theory and are valid for the exact correlators.

We want to calculate the infra-red limit F_{IR} of a physical quantity f(x), where $F_{IR} = \lim_{|x|\to\infty} f(x)$, and we will denote the ultra-violet limit $F_{UV} = \lim_{|x|\to0} f(x)$. We are considering functions with well defined limits in $S(\alpha)$, i.e. $\lim_{|s|\to\infty} F(s) = F_{IR}$ and $\lim_{s\to0} F(s) = F_{UV}$ for $s \in S(\alpha)$.

In the two examples we will consider in chapter 5 and 6, the physical quantities f(x) are given as functionals of a two point correlator resulting in analytic functions

F(s). A large class of physical quantities will in this way preserve the analytic structure of the correlation functions in the theory, which was described in section 4.1.1.

The dimensionless scale parameter s can, as mentioned, be introduced into the physical quantity in a number of ways. We will define by $\tilde{F}(s)$ the analytical continuation of f(x) where s is introduced as $\tilde{F}(s) \equiv f(sx)|_{x=1}$ so that $\tilde{F}(s)$ has the expansion $\tilde{F}(s) = \sum \tilde{F}_n s^n$ around the origin, and $\tilde{F}(s)$ is analytic in $S(\alpha)$. Choosing another positive power $f(s^{\gamma}x)|_{x=1}$, $\gamma > 0$, gives the same ultra-violet and infra-red limits, but different intermediate behaviour. Let us now introduce the scale parameter so that the opening of the analytic sector is $2(\pi - \epsilon')$ with $\epsilon' \ll 1$. $F(s) = \tilde{F}(s^a)$ is analytic in $S \equiv S(2(\pi - \epsilon'))$ provided that $a = \frac{\alpha}{2(\pi - \epsilon')}$. We will now express the infra-red limit as an integral entirely in the ultra-violet region using analyticity.

Using Cauchy's theorem the analyticity of F(s) implies that the contour integral

$$\frac{1}{2(\pi-\epsilon)i} \int_C ds \, \frac{e^{\rho/s}}{s} F(s) = \frac{1}{2(\pi-\epsilon)i} \left(\int_{C_0} ds + \int_{C_1} ds + \int_{C_2} ds \right) \frac{e^{\rho/s}}{s} F(s) = 0,$$
(4.15)

vanishes in the sector S, where $\rho \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and the contour C is given in figure 4.3; $\epsilon > \epsilon'$ so that $C \subset S$. The contribution from the contour C_2 in (4.15), see figure 4.3, in the limit where $r_{IR} \to \infty$ becomes

$$\lim_{r_{IR}\to\infty}\frac{1}{2(\pi-\epsilon)}\int_{\pi-\epsilon}^{-\pi+\epsilon}d\theta\,e^{\rho e^{-i\theta}/r_{IR}}F(r_{IR}e^{i\theta}) = -\lim_{|s|\to\infty}F(s) = -F_{IR}.$$
 (4.16)

The angular integral and the limit $r_{IR} \to \infty$ can be interchanged as the integrand in (4.15) is bounded by a constant in the limit $r_{IR} \to \infty$. We then get the integral representation of F_{IR}

$$F_{IR} = \frac{1}{2(\pi - \epsilon)i} \left(\int_{C_0} ds \frac{e^{\rho/s}}{s} F(s) + \int_{C_1} ds \frac{e^{\rho/s}}{s} F(s) \right).$$
(4.17)

Analogously by considering

$$\frac{1}{2(\pi-\epsilon)i} \int_C ds \, \frac{e^{\rho s}}{s} F(s) = \frac{1}{2(\pi-\epsilon)i} \left(\int_{C_0} ds + \int_{C_1} ds + \int_{C_2} ds \right) \frac{e^{\rho s}}{s} F(s) = 0,$$

we get that

$$F_{UV} = \frac{-1}{2(\pi - \epsilon)i} \left(\int_{C_2} ds \frac{e^{\rho s}}{s} F(s) + \int_{C_1} ds \frac{e^{\rho s}}{s} F(s) \right).$$
(4.18)

We denote the integral along the contour C_1 (close to the cut) by

$$cut(\rho) = \frac{1}{2(\pi - \epsilon)i} \int_{C_1} ds \frac{e^{\rho/s}}{s} F(s).$$
 (4.19)

The integrand in this integral is damped by the factor $e^{-\rho/|s|}$, and we will show that $\lim_{\rho\to\infty} cut(\rho) = 0$ by showing that it is bounded by a finite integral for all ρ allowing us to take the limit $\rho \to \infty$ in the integrand. We substitute $s = re^{\pm i(\pi-\epsilon)}$ for points on C_1 in the upper and lower half-plane, the integral becomes

$$\begin{aligned} cut(\rho) &= \frac{-1}{2(\pi-\epsilon)i} \left(\int_{r_{IR}}^{r_{UV}} dr \frac{e^{\rho e^{-i(\pi-\epsilon)}/r}}{r} F(re^{i(\pi-\epsilon)}) + \int_{r_{UV}}^{r_{IR}} dr \frac{e^{\rho e^{i(\pi-\epsilon)}/r}}{r} F(re^{-i(\pi-\epsilon)}) \right) \\ &= \frac{-1}{(\pi-\epsilon)} \int_{r_{UV}}^{r_{IR}} dr \frac{e^{\rho\cos(\pi-\epsilon)/r}}{r} \operatorname{Im}[e^{i\rho\sin(\pi-\epsilon)/r} F(re^{-i(\pi-\epsilon)})] \\ &= \frac{-1}{(\pi-\epsilon)} \int_{r_{UV}}^{r_{IR}} dr \frac{e^{\rho\cos(\pi-\epsilon)/r}}{r} \left(\cos(\rho\sin(\pi-\epsilon)/r) \operatorname{Im}[F(re^{-i(\pi-\epsilon)})] \right) \\ &+ \operatorname{Re}[F(re^{-i(\pi-\epsilon)})] \sin(\rho\sin(\pi-\epsilon)/r)) . \end{aligned}$$

We divide the r interval into $(r_{UV}, 1)$ and $(1, r_{IR})$ and write $cut(\rho) = cut_{UV} + cut_{IR}$. The function F(s) is finite in S hence there exists a constant q > 0 so that in the limit $r_{UV} \to 0$

$$|cut_{UV}| < q \int_0^1 dr \frac{e^{-\rho/r}}{r} \to 0 \quad \text{for} \ \rho \to \infty.$$
 (4.20)

We know that $F(s) \to F_{IR} \in \mathbb{R}$ for $|s| \to \infty$ from S, hence $\operatorname{Im}[F(re^{-i(\pi-\epsilon)})] \to 0$ for $r \to \infty$. If $\operatorname{Im}[F]$ falls off like $r^{-\delta}$ for some $\delta > 0$ then in the limit $r_{IR} \to \infty$, $\exists k_1, k_2, k_3 > 0$:

$$|cut_{IR}| < k_1 \int_1^\infty dr \frac{\left(\sin(k_2/r) + k_3 r^{-\delta}\right)}{r} < \infty \text{ for all } \rho \in \mathbb{R}_+.$$

$$(4.21)$$

For a general F(s) where the fall off might be slower we keep a finite r_{IR} then $|cut_{IR}|$ is again finite for all ρ and a finite r_{IR} introduces a $O(\frac{1}{r_{IR}})$ term in (4.17) which is negligible for r_{IR} large. As $\epsilon \ll 1$ we can replace $\frac{1}{2(\pi-\epsilon)i}$ with $\frac{1}{2\pi i}$ given a term $O(\epsilon)$ on the right hand side in (4.17) which is again negligible for small ϵ . We can then define

$$I_{IR}(\rho) = \lim_{r_{UV} \to 0} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_0} ds \frac{e^{\rho/s}}{s} F(s)$$
(4.22)

so that $F_{IR} = \lim_{\rho \to \infty} I_{IR}(\rho)$ and we have succeeded in writing the infra-red limit as the limiting value of a contour integral in the ultra-violet region.

We will now use Cauchy's theorem again to rewrite $I_{IR}(\rho)$ and this will show that $I_{IR}(\rho)$ is the Borel transform of $\tilde{F}(s)$. Instead of integrating over C_0 we will integrate over \tilde{C} given as the path from the origin along the ray $\operatorname{Arg}(s) = -\pi + \epsilon$ and then anti-clockwise along $|s| = \tilde{x} > 0$ until $\operatorname{Arg}(s) = \pi - \epsilon$ and then back to the origin. It follows that this contour integral is independent of the choice of \tilde{x} and ϵ as long as $\epsilon' < \epsilon < \frac{\pi}{2}$. The upper limit ensures that the rays stay in the negative half-plane (where $e^{\rho/s}$ is a damping factor), and the lower limit that F(s) is analytic on the contour. Using this contour the ultra-violet limit $r_{UV} \to 0$ can be taken explicitly by extending the rays to the origin.

Using that $F(s) = \tilde{F}(s^a)$ for $a = \frac{\alpha}{2(\pi - \epsilon')}$ then amounts to

$$I_{IR}(\rho) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\tilde{C}} \frac{ds}{s} e^{\rho/s} F(s) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\tilde{C}} \frac{ds}{s} e^{\rho/s} \tilde{F}(s^a) = \frac{k}{2\pi i} \int_{\tilde{C}'} \frac{ds}{s} e^{(\frac{\tilde{\rho}}{s})^k} \tilde{F}(s), \quad (4.23)$$

where $k = \frac{1}{a}$, $\tilde{\rho} = \rho^{1/k}$ and \tilde{C}' is the contour where the rays satisfy $|\operatorname{Arg}(s)| = |(\pi - \epsilon'')/k|$ for some $\epsilon'' \in (\epsilon', \frac{\pi}{2})$. We will write $\epsilon'' = (\pi - \tilde{\epsilon})/2$ for some $\tilde{\epsilon} \in (0, \pi - 2\epsilon')$, then $|\operatorname{Arg}((\frac{\tilde{\rho}}{s})^k)| > \pi/2$ and the integrand in (4.23) is again damped on the rays. Also, on the rays $|\operatorname{Arg}(s)| = (\pi + \tilde{\epsilon})/2k = \frac{\alpha}{4} \frac{\pi + \tilde{\epsilon}}{\pi - \epsilon'} < \alpha/2$ so that $\tilde{F}(s)$ is analytic on the contour, $\tilde{C}' \subset S(\alpha)$, and the contour integral is therefore well defined.

The contour integral in (4.23) is independent of the contour \tilde{C}' , i.e. in the choice of $\tilde{\epsilon}$ for $\tilde{\epsilon} \in (0, \pi - 2\epsilon')$ where $\tilde{C}' \subset S(\alpha)$. (4.23) then shows that $I_{IR}(\tilde{\rho})$ is the Borel transform of $\tilde{F}(s)$ of order k. Equation (4.23) holds for all k with $F(s) \equiv \tilde{F}(s^{1/k})$ and $\alpha > \pi/k$, because in this case we can always find an $\tilde{\epsilon} < \alpha k - \pi$, so the contour integral is well defined.

We have then shown the general result:

The infra-red limit of a physical quantity, $F_{IR} = \lim_{|s|\to\infty} \tilde{F}(s)$, is the limiting value of the Borel transform of $\tilde{F}(s)$ in the scale parameter s, and changing the way in which the scale parameter is introduced amounts to changing the order of the Borel transform. The order k has to satisfy the bound $\alpha > \pi/k$ where α determines the analytic sector of the physical quantity $\tilde{F}(s)$.

One way of calculating the contour integral in (4.23) is to insert a series expansion of $\tilde{F}(s)$ around the origin, but because $\tilde{F}(s)$ is only analytic in a sector this series can only be an asymptotic expansion of $\tilde{F}(s)$. For $\alpha > \pi/k$ the asymptotic series will, as explained above, contain all information about the exact function around the origin.

An asymptotic series of $\tilde{F}(s)$ in the scale parameter can be obtained doing the perturbative expansion in the coupling and then inserting the running coupling constant. Assume that \tilde{F} is given as a formal perturbative series, which we write as $\tilde{F}(s,g) = \sum_n \hat{F}_n(s)g^n$. The Callan–Symanzik equation (3.7) states that a theory is invariant, i.e. the correlators are invariant, under a scale transformation if the couplings change according to the renormalisation group. A scaled quantum field theory can therefore equivalently be described by a theory on the same scale, but with couplings changed according to the renormalisation group. In this way scale dependence of a theory can be moved into the running coupling $\bar{g}(s)$. Moving all scale dependence into the running coupling we get an asymptotic series in the scale $\tilde{F}(s = 1, \bar{g}(s)) = \sum \tilde{F}_n s^n$. If $\tilde{F}(s)$ is asymptotic of order k'^{-1} ($\tilde{F}(s) \in \mathbb{C}[[s]]_{1/k'}$) we will choose k = k', and then the Borel transform of \tilde{F} has a non-zero convergence radius and the analytically continued value at infinity uniquely determines F_{IR} .

The examples we consider below have $\alpha = \pi - \epsilon'$, where $\epsilon' \ll 1$, hence from the constraint $\alpha > \frac{\pi}{k}$: $k = 1 + \delta$ for some $\delta > 0$. We will generally try to minimize the order $k \ (k \to 1)$, thus maximizing the analytic sector and the convergence of the Borel transform.

5

Scaling in two dimensions

The method developed in chapter 4 is independent of the choice of dimension as it is based on analytical properties present in any dimension. In this chapter we will use this method to calculate the infra-red central charge in two dimensions.

There are many reasons for studying two dimensional theories. Important examples include the two dimensional spin systems in statistical mechanics, the Ising model being one of them, these models describe phenomena in condensed matter physics. Even simple models can capture some of the long range effects in real systems because of universality which, as described in chapter 3, states that the infra-red behaviour only depends on the nature of the fixed point and not the microscopic dynamics. It is often also easier to implement new ideas in a low number of dimensions, and two dimensional theories have therefore served as an important testing ground for new theories with behaviour thought to be generic in higher dimensions¹. Two dimensions have also received a lot of attention due to the efforts to understand the superstring.

In two dimensions conformal invariance follows from scale invariance and the renormalisation group fixed points are thus conformal field theories. A classification of all conformal field theories would therefore determine all possible fixed points,

¹However, the dynamics of physical theories often have a strong dependency on the space-time dimension thereby limiting this kind of approach.

and is therefore important in the search for a full understanding of the space of two dimensional field theories. A two dimensional conformal field theory is characterized by its field content, the operator product expansion coefficients and the Virasoro central charge. For unitary theories, the renormalisation group flow is constrained by Zamolodchikov's *c*-theorem which says that it is an irreversible flow, and it therefore rules out the existence of limit cycles and strange attractors in the coupling constant space. It also states that the infra-red central charge is never larger than the ultraviolet central charge, and it shows that the renormalisation group has an infra-red fixed point.

First the notation used for a conformal field theory is defined, then Zamolodchikov's c-theorem is discussed and $\tilde{F}(s)$ from chapter 4 is determined so that F_{IR} equals the infra-red central charge c_{IR} . Using the method in chapter 4, c_{IR} is then calculated for the free boson and fermion and the unitary minimal models perturbed by $\Phi_{(1,3)}$.

5.1 Conformal field theory

To define the notation we will use for a two dimensional conformal field theory [80] let us describe a few of its fundamental characteristics. There are many good reviews on this subject, see [24, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86].

As stated in chapter 2 is the rigid (or global) euclidean conformal group given by $SO(3,1) \approx SL(2,\mathbb{C})/\mathbb{Z}_2$. In Cartesian coordinates where $g_{\mu\nu} = \delta_{\mu\nu}$ an infinitesimal conformal transformation (2.23) satisfies for d = 2

$$\partial_{\mu}\epsilon_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}\epsilon_{\mu} = \delta_{\mu\nu}\partial_{\rho}\epsilon^{\rho} \quad \Rightarrow \quad \partial_{0}\epsilon_{1} = -\partial_{1}\epsilon_{0}, \ \partial_{0}\epsilon_{0} = \partial_{1}\epsilon_{1}, \tag{5.1}$$

which are the Cauchy-Riemann differential equations. The local conformal algebra is therefore infinite dimensional as any holomorphic function defines a transformation. It is then natural to introduce complex coordinates $(z, \bar{z}) = (x^0 + ix^1, x^0 - ix^1)$ and in these coordinates the components of the metric become

$$g_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{2} \\ \frac{1}{2} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \tag{5.2}$$

and we will write the measure as $d^2x = dx^0 \wedge dx^1 = \frac{i}{2}dz \wedge d\bar{z} \equiv d^2z$. It is useful to treat z, \bar{z} as independent variables and then the Cauchy-Riemann differential equations become: $\partial_{\bar{z}} f(z, \bar{z}) = 0$. The physical variables $(x^0, x^1) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ are recovered by the condition $\bar{z} = z^*$. Primary fields are defined to transform similarly as (2.24) under the local conformal transformation $z \to w(z), \ \bar{z} \to \bar{w}(\bar{z})$:

$$\phi'(w,\bar{w}) = \left(\frac{\partial w}{\partial z}\right)^{-h} \left(\frac{\partial \bar{w}}{\partial \bar{z}}\right)^{-\bar{h}} \phi(z,\bar{z})$$
(5.3)

where (h, \bar{h}) are the conformal scaling dimensions. The infinitesimal version is $w(z) = z + \epsilon(z), \ \bar{w}(\bar{z}) = \bar{z} + \bar{\epsilon}(\bar{z})$:

$$\delta_{\epsilon,\bar{\epsilon}}\phi = \phi'(z,\bar{z}) - \phi(z,\bar{z}) = \phi'(w,\bar{w}) - \epsilon\partial_z\phi - \bar{\epsilon}\partial_{\bar{z}}\phi - \phi$$

$$= -(h\partial_z\epsilon + \bar{h}\partial_{\bar{z}}\bar{\epsilon} + \epsilon\partial_z + \bar{\epsilon}\partial_{\bar{z}})\phi.$$
 (5.4)

Under an infinitesimal scaling $z \to (1+a)z$, $\bar{z} \to (1+a)\bar{z}$: $\delta_a \phi = -a(h + \bar{h} + x^{\mu}\partial_{\mu})\phi$ and it follows from (2.22) that the scaling dimension is given by $\Delta = h + \bar{h}$. Analogously for a rotation (Lorentz transformation in Minkowski space): $z \to (1 + ia)z$, $\bar{z} \to (1 - ia)\bar{z}$, the spin becomes $s = h - \bar{h}$. The energy-momentum tensor is defined as in (2.16)

$$T_{\mu\nu}(x) = \frac{2 \cdot 2\pi}{\sqrt{g(x)}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}},\tag{5.5}$$

with a different normalization making expressions simpler in two dimensions. In complex coordinates: $T_{zz} = T = \frac{1}{4}(T_{00} - 2iT_{01} - T_{11}), T_{\bar{z}\bar{z}} = \bar{T} = \frac{1}{4}(T_{01} + 2iT_{10} - T_{11})$ and $T_{z\bar{z}} = \frac{1}{4}T^{\mu}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{4}\Theta$. The conservation law $\partial^{\mu}T_{\mu\nu} = 0$ together with conformal invariance $\Theta = 0$ shows that

$$\partial_{\bar{z}}T_{zz} + \partial_{z}T_{z\bar{z}} = 0 \implies \partial_{\bar{z}}T(z,\bar{z}) = 0.$$
(5.6)

The Ward identity (2.12) for translation invariance becomes in complex coordinates

$$\partial_{\bar{z}} \langle T(z)\phi(x_1)\cdots\phi(x_n)\rangle + \frac{1}{4} \partial_z \langle \Theta(z)\phi(x_1)\cdots\phi(x_n)\rangle = \pi \sum_{i=1}^n (\delta(z-x_i)\partial_{x_i} + \delta(z-x_i)h_i\partial_{x_i})\langle \phi(x_1)\cdots\phi(x_n)\rangle.$$
(5.7)

At the fixed point $\Theta = 0$, so this equation shows that away from the diagonal $\partial_{\bar{z}}T = 0$ in all correlators in the quantum theory, hence T(z) is holomorphic. In chapter 2 it was shown that the currents for Lorentz transformations and scaling can be written in terms of $T_{\mu\nu}$, in the coordinates (z, \bar{z}) the corresponding Ward identities can together be written as [84]²

$$\delta_{\epsilon} \langle \phi(z_1, \bar{z}_1) \cdots \phi(z_n, \bar{z}_n) \rangle = \frac{-1}{2\pi i} \oint_C dz \ \epsilon(z) \langle T(z)\phi(z_1, \bar{z}_1) \cdots \phi(z_n, \bar{z}_n) \rangle, \tag{5.8}$$

where C includes all (z_i, \bar{z}_i) . Using (5.4) the conformal Ward identity becomes

$$\langle T(z)\phi(z_1)\cdots\phi(z_n)\rangle = \sum_{i=1}^n \left(\frac{h_i}{(z-z_i)^2} + \frac{1}{(z-z_i)}\frac{\partial}{\partial z_i}\right)\langle\phi(z_1)\cdots\phi(z_n)\rangle.$$
(5.9)

T(z) is a density, and because the theory is conformal z is the only dimensionful parameter in the theory, this means that the two point function can be written as

$$\langle T(z)T(0)\rangle = \frac{c}{2z^4}, \quad c \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (5.10)

Here c is characteristic for the particular theory and is called the Virasoro central charge. T(z) is analytic hence it can be written as a Laurent series: $T(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} z^{-n-2}L_n$, and the modes L_n can be shown to satisfy the Virasoro algebra

$$[L_m, L_n] = (m-n)L_{m+n} + \frac{c}{12}m(m^2 - 1)\delta_{m+n,0}, \qquad (5.11)$$

explaining the name for c. (5.11) follows by considering successive conformal transformations, and it implies that if c < 0 then

$$\langle h|L_n L_{-n}|h\rangle = (2nh + \frac{1}{12}cn(n^2 - 1))\langle h|h\rangle < 0$$
 (5.12)

for sufficiently large n > 0, where $L_0|h\rangle = h|h\rangle$, $L_n^{\dagger} = L_{-n}$ and $L_n|h\rangle = 0$. This shows that $c \ge 0$ for unitary theories.

²Taking $\bar{\epsilon} \neq 0$ there is an analogous term with \bar{T} . Useful identities for manipulating these expressions are: $\pi \delta^2(x) = \partial_{\bar{z}} \frac{1}{z}$, and the residue for an nth order pole $\frac{f(z)}{(z-a)^n}$ is: $\frac{f^{(n-1)}(a)}{(n-1)!}$.

5.2 Zamolodchikov's *c*-theorem

Zamolodchikov's c-theorem states that for a unitary and renormalisable quantum field theory in two dimensions there exists a function which is monotonically decreasing along the renormalisation group flow, and which is stationary only for conformally invariant theories where it takes the value of the Virasoro central charge. The c-theorem implies that the infra-red limit, where the scale goes to infinity is a fixed point of the renormalisation group.

The central charge is a measure for the number of massless degrees of freedom in the theory. The theorem thus shows the loss of massless degrees of freedom under the renormalisation group flow. At the fixed point there is scale invariance and all degrees of freedom are massless, by following the renormalisation group some of these degrees of freedom become massive with a mass m. These decouple at the length scale $R \gg \frac{1}{m}$, and at the infra-red fixed point all remaining degrees of freedom will again be massless. The *c*-theorem then shows the irreversible nature of the coarse graining that takes place under the renormalisation group.

The c-theorem describes the local flow of the renormalisation group, but it also says something about the global topological properties of the space of two dimensional quantum field theories. In [87, 88] the c-function was argued to be a Morse function and the Euler and Betti number of the coupling constant space were calculated.

There have been proposals for c-theorems in higher dimensions³, in theories with supersymmetry and in connection with the AdS/CFT correspondence and the holographic renormalisation group⁴.

The proof of the c-theorem [93, 94, 81] follows from Lorentz invariance and unitarity of the quantum field theory away form the fixed point, in euclidean space

³See [89, 90] for a recent discussion and references. The most promising candidate for a c-function in higher dimensions is the coefficient a in front of the Euler density in the trace anomaly (first suggested by Cardy) [90].

⁴See e.g. [91, 92]. In [92] a *c*-theorem is proved for a = c in the AdS/CFT context using the Einstein equations and the weak energy condition.

this becomes rotation and translation invariance and reflection positivity. We saw above that T(z) has spin 2 and $\Theta = T^{\mu}_{\mu}$ is a scalar so it has spin 0. The general form of the two point functions then becomes

$$\begin{split} \langle T(z,\bar{z})T(0,0)\rangle &= \frac{F(z\bar{z}\Lambda^2)}{z^4}, \quad \langle T(z,\bar{z})\Theta(0,0)\rangle = \frac{G(z\bar{z}\Lambda^2)}{z^3\bar{z}},\\ \langle \Theta(z,\bar{z})\Theta(0,0)\rangle &= \frac{H(z\bar{z}\Lambda^2)}{z^2\bar{z}^2} \end{split}$$

for some functions F, G, H and Λ is a mass scale of the theory. From the conservation equation (5.6) it follows that

$$\langle (\partial_{\bar{z}}T(z,\bar{z}) + \frac{1}{4}\partial_{z}\Theta(z,\bar{z}))T(0,0) \rangle = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \dot{F} + \frac{1}{4}(\dot{G} - 3G) = 0,$$

$$\langle (\partial_{\bar{z}}T(z,\bar{z}) + \frac{1}{4}\partial_{z}\Theta(z,\bar{z}))\Theta(0,0) \rangle = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \dot{G} - G + \frac{1}{4}(\dot{H} - 2H) = 0,$$
(5.13)

where $\dot{F} = \bar{z}z \frac{\partial F(\bar{z}z)}{\partial(\bar{z}z)}$. Defining $C = 2(F - \frac{1}{2}G - \frac{3}{16}H)$, and substituting into (5.13) gives

$$\dot{C} = -\frac{3}{4}H \leqslant 0. \tag{5.14}$$

The inequality follows from reflection positivity⁵ and because Θ is a scalar which means that $H \ge 0$. This shows that $C(z\bar{z})$ is a monotonic function only stationary when H = 0, here $\Theta = 0$ and the theory has conformal symmetry with C = 2F = cusing (5.10). The Callan–Symanzik equation (3.7) can be used to move the scaling dependence into the running coupling constant. By explicitly writing the dependence of the couplings $C(R, g^i)$, with $R^2 = \bar{z}z$, and using that $C(R, g^i)$ is dimensionless and finite, it becomes

$$\left(\frac{\partial}{\partial R} + \sum_{i} \beta_{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial g^{i}}\right) C(R, g^{i}) = 0.$$
(5.15)

 $C(R, \bar{g}^i(t))|_{R=1}$ therefore describes a flow in the coupling constant space with the properties in the theorem.

 $^{{}^{5}\}langle A(x,\tau)A(x,-\tau)\rangle \ge 0$, see [63].

It follows from the above proof that we can obtain an expression for the total change in the central charge when going from short to large distances, as shown by Cardy in [81]

$$\Delta c = c(\infty) - c(0) = \int_0^\infty \frac{d(R^2)}{R^2} \dot{C}(R) = -\frac{3}{4} \int_0^\infty R^2 \langle \Theta(R)\Theta(0) \rangle d(R^2).$$
(5.16)

One can thereby calculate Δc knowing the correlator $\langle \Theta(R)\Theta(0) \rangle$ in the entire scaling region, but $\langle \Theta(R)\Theta(0) \rangle$ is normally only known perturbatively and therefore only at scales where the coupling is small.

5.3 Defining $\tilde{F}(s)$ for the central charge

We will now define a function F(s) as in chapter 4, which has the infra-red central charge c_{IR} as its infra-red limit.

It follows from (5.10) that the the correlator $\langle T_{zz}(z)T_{zz}(0)\rangle$ gives the ultra-violet and infra-red central charges in the limits $z \to 0$ and $z \to \infty$ respectively. Using the Källen-Lehmann spectral representation (4.3) $\langle T_{\mu\nu}(x)T_{\rho\sigma}(0)\rangle$ was in [60] written as

$$\langle T_{\mu\nu}(x)T_{\rho\sigma}(0)\rangle = \frac{\pi}{3\cdot 16} \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \,\tilde{c}(\mu^2) \int \frac{d^2p}{(2\pi)^2} e^{ipx} \,\frac{(g_{\mu\nu}p^2 - p_{\mu}p_{\nu})(g_{\rho\sigma}p^2 - p_{\rho}p_{\sigma})}{p^2 + \mu^2},\tag{5.17}$$

in cartesian coordinates. This is the most general form with the correct mass dimension that respects: $T_{\mu\nu} = T_{\nu\mu}$ and $\partial_{\mu}T_{\mu\nu} = 0$. Writing this in the complex coordinates (z, \bar{z}) using (5.2)

$$\langle T_{zz}(z,\bar{z})T_{zz}(0,0)\rangle = \frac{\pi}{3\cdot 16} \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \,\tilde{c}(\mu^2) \int \frac{d^2p}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{e^{\frac{i}{2}(p\bar{z}+\bar{p}z)}}{p\bar{p}+\mu^2} \,\bar{p}^4,$$

where $\tilde{c}(\mu^2)d\mu^2$ is the spectral density which represents the density in degrees of freedom of the quantum field theory at the mass μ . If we scale z, \bar{z} by a positive real dimensionless parameter s (s > 0) we get

$$\langle T_{zz}(sz,s\bar{z})T_{zz}(0,0)\rangle = \frac{\pi}{3\cdot 16} \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \,\tilde{c}(\mu^2) \int \frac{d^2q}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{e^{\frac{i}{2}(q\bar{z}+\bar{q}z)}}{q\bar{q}+s^2\mu^2} \frac{\bar{q}^4}{s^4}.$$
 (5.18)

In the ultra-violet limit where $s \to 0$ then $\frac{\bar{q}^4}{q\bar{q}+s^2\mu^2} \to \frac{\bar{q}^4}{q\bar{q}}$ and using that the Fourier transform of $(\pi/24)\bar{p}^4/\bar{p}p$ is $1/z^4$, then (5.18) becomes

$$\langle T_{zz}(sz,s\bar{z})T_{zz}(0,0)\rangle \to \frac{1}{2s^4z^4} \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \,\tilde{c}(\mu^2) = \frac{c_{UV}}{2s^4z^4} \text{ for } s \to 0.$$
 (5.19)

The ultra-violet central charge is therefore $c_{UV} = \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \tilde{c}(\mu^2)$ [60]. To calculate the infra-red limit we first note that

$$\int \frac{d^2q}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{e^{\frac{i}{2}(q\bar{z}+\bar{q}z)}}{q\bar{q}+s^2\mu^2} \,\bar{q}^4 = 2^4 \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial z}\right)^4 G_0(z,\bar{z},s\mu),\tag{5.20}$$

where $G_0(z, \bar{z}, \mu)$ is equal to the free Feynman propagator at mass μ . $G_0(z, \bar{z}, \mu)$ can be written in terms of a modified Bessel function [84]

$$G(x,\mu) = \int \frac{d^2p}{(2\pi)^2} \frac{e^{ix \cdot p}}{p^2 + \mu^2} = \frac{K_0(|x|\mu)}{2\pi}.$$
(5.21)

Performing the differentiation, using the identities $K'_n = -\frac{1}{2}(K_{n-1}+K_{n+1}), K_2(x) = K_0(x) + \frac{2}{x}K_1(x)$ and $K_{-1}(x) = K_1(x)$, we can then write (5.18) as

$$\langle T_{zz}(sz,s\bar{z})T_{zz}(0,0)\rangle = \frac{1}{2\cdot 48\,s^4 z^4} \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \,\,\tilde{c}(\mu^2)\mu s|z| \left((\mu^3 s^3|z|^3 + 24\mu s|z|)K_0(\mu s|z|) + (8\mu^2 s^2|z|^2 + 48)K_1(\mu s|z|)\right).$$
(5.22)

In the infra-red limit where $s \to \infty$, $K_0(\mu|z|s)$ and $K_1(\mu|z|s)$ have the asymptotic behaviour [95] $e^{-\mu s|z|}$ and the only contribution to (5.22) comes from the massless limit where $\mu \to 0$, hence

$$\langle T_{zz}(sz,s\bar{z})T_{zz}(0,0)\rangle \to \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{2s^4 z^4} \int_0^\epsilon d\mu^2 \,\tilde{c}(\mu^2) = \frac{c_{IR}}{2s^4 z^4} \quad \text{for } s \to \infty, \qquad (5.23)$$

so that $c_{IR} = \lim_{\epsilon \to 0} \int_0^{\epsilon} d\mu^2 \tilde{c}(\mu^2)$. This shows that $c_{UV} \ge c_{IR}$ as the spectral density is positive for a unitary theory, and this is another way of showing the *c*-theorem [60]. This representation of the central charge using the spectral representation also shows that the central charge is a measure for the number of (massless) degrees of freedom of the conformal field theory. If the theory is scale invariant dimensional arguments say that the spectral density must be proportional to a delta function as there is no mass in the theory. The representation (5.17) for the trace becomes in this case

$$\langle \Theta(x)\Theta(0)\rangle = \frac{\pi}{3} \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \ \tilde{c}(\mu^2) \int \frac{d^2p}{(2\pi)^2} e^{ipx} \frac{(p^2)^2}{p^2 + \mu^2} \propto \partial_x^2 \delta^2(x), \tag{5.24}$$

which vanishes for $|x| \neq 0$ so that $\Theta = 0$, and this shows that scale invariance does imply conformal invariance at the quantum level in two dimensions [60].

We define the function

$$\tilde{F}(s) = 2z^4 s^4 \langle T_{zz}(sz, s\bar{z}) T_{zz}(0, 0) \rangle \Big|_{z=\bar{z}=1}$$
(5.25)

here s and $\tilde{F}(s)$ are dimensionless and $s \in \mathbb{R}_+$. When we set |z| = 1 then μ becomes dimensionless in (5.22), we also denote this dimensionless quantity by μ . This function then satisfies

$$\tilde{F}(s) \to \begin{cases} c_{UV} & \text{for } s \to 0_+, \\ c_{IR} & \text{for } s \to \infty. \end{cases}$$
(5.26)

5.3.1 Analyticity of $\tilde{F}(s)$

We will show that $\tilde{F}(s)$ is an analytic continuation of $\tilde{F}(x)$, $x \in \mathbb{R}_+$, for $s \in S = S(\pi - \epsilon')$ (with $\epsilon' \ll 1$); to show this write $\tilde{F}(s) = \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 f(s, \mu^2)$. For \tilde{F} to be holomorphic in S then $f(s, \mu^2)$ must be holomorphic in S for all $\mu^2 \in [0, \infty)$, and both f and $\frac{df}{ds}$ must be integrable over the set $[0, \infty)$. Using (5.22) above we can write $\tilde{F}(s)$ as

$$\tilde{F}(s) = \frac{1}{48} \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \,\tilde{c}(\mu^2) \mu s \left((\mu^3 s^3 + 24\mu s) K_0(\mu s) + (8\mu^2 s^2 + 48) K_1(\mu s) \right). \tag{5.27}$$

 $K_{\nu}(z)$ is holomorphic in S so $f(s, \mu^2)$ is clearly holomorphic in S. The modified Bessel functions also satisfy that $|K_{\nu}(z)|$ is bounded for $|z| \ge \epsilon$ for any $\epsilon \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and $|\operatorname{Arg}(z)| < \frac{\pi}{2}$, which is the case for $z = \mu s$ when $s \in S$. For large values of |s|integrability is ensured by $\int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \tilde{c}(\mu^2) = c_{UV} < \infty$ and the asymptotic behaviour $K_{\nu}(z) = \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2z}} e^{-z} (1 + O(z^{-1}))$. Around the origin $K_0(z)z \to 0$ for $z \to 0$ and $K_1(z)z \to 1$ for $z \to 0$, hence $\tilde{F}(s)$ is integrable. $\frac{d\tilde{F}(s)}{ds}$ is shown to be integrable in a similar way and the analyticity is shown. The form of $\tilde{F}(s)$ in (5.27) shows that $\tilde{F}(s)$ has a limit value $\tilde{F}(s) \to k_1$ for $s \to 0$ with $s \in S$, from (5.26) it follows that $k_1 = c_{UV}$, and we define $\tilde{F}(0) = c_{UV}$. It also follows from (5.27) that $\tilde{F}(s)$ has a limit value for $|s| \to \infty$ from $S: \tilde{F}(s) \to k_2$ and (5.26) again sets $k_2 = c_{IR}$. The analytic opening is therefore $\alpha = \pi - \epsilon'$ where $\epsilon' \ll 1$.

5.3.2 The approximation for c_{IR}

We have the following representation of c_{IR} and c_{UV}

$$c_{IR} = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \left(\int_{C_0} ds \frac{e^{\rho/s}}{s} F(s) + \int_{C_1} ds \frac{e^{\rho/s}}{s} F(s) \right) = I_{IR}(\rho) + cut(\rho)$$
(5.28)

$$c_{UV} = \frac{-1}{2\pi i} \left(\int_{C_2} ds \frac{e^{\rho s}}{s} F(s) + \int_{C_1} ds \frac{e^{\rho s}}{s} F(s) \right) = I_{UV}(\rho) + cut(\rho), \quad (5.29)$$

where in both cases the contribution from the cut is rapidly decreasing in ρ . Note that in these relations the integral is performed in the opposite scaling limit of the quantity we calculate. We will here concentrate on (5.28) as perturbation theory can be applied to F(s) when $s \in C_0$, we will call $I_{IR}(\rho) = I(\rho)$.

We can choose coordinates in the coupling constant space so that the ultra-violet fixed point corresponds to $\bar{g}(s) = 0$. In the ultra-violet limit where $s \to 0$ we may describe F(s) by perturbation theory as $\bar{g}(s) \to 0$. The nth order perturbative approximation of F(s) is denoted by $F_n(s)$ and the corresponding integral by $I_n(\rho)$. In the limit of large ρ the contribution from the cut vanishes and we get

$$c_{IR} \approx \lim_{\rho \to \infty} I_n(\rho) = \lim_{s \to \infty} F_n(s)$$
(5.30)

where the last equality follows setting $s' = s/\rho$ in (5.28) and then taking the limit $\rho \to \infty$ in the integrand valid for all $r_{UV} > 0$. Moving all scale dependence into the running coupling constant $\bar{g}(s)$, as in the proof of the *c*-theorem, we can write $F_n(s) = \Phi_n(\bar{g}(s))$. Let g_{IR}^* denote the first non-trivial zero of the perturbative β -function, i.e. $\bar{g}(s) \to g_{IR}^*$ for $s \to \infty$ (and * is not complex conjugation). Then equation (5.30) becomes

$$\lim_{s \to \infty} F_n(s) = \lim_{s \to \infty} \Phi_n(\bar{g}(s)) = \Phi_n(g_{IR}^*) = c_{IR}^*$$
(5.31)

which is the perturbative estimate of c_{IR} we want to improve.

 $F_n(s)$ is the ultra-violet perturbative approximation to F(s) and the integration range in $I(\rho)$ is compact so $\lim_{\rho\to 0} I_n(\rho) = \lim_{\rho\to 0} I(\rho) = c_{UV}$. $I_n(\rho)$ therefore provides a good approximation to $I(\rho)$, for small enough ρ , since the power series expansion of $I(\rho)$ is controlled by the small s expansion of F(s) for which perturbation theory applies. This is illustrated in (5.71) below for the minimal models. For larger values of ρ higher order terms in the expansion of $I_n(\rho)$ become important and the coefficients of the expansion of $I_n(\rho)$ and $F_n(\rho)$ part company. If $c_{IR} < c_{IR}^*$ and if the region where $I_n(\rho)$ is a good approximation to $I(\rho)$ is large enough, then $I_n(\rho)$ will have a minimum before approaching its limiting value of c_{IR}^* . Since this minimum occurs at the largest value of ρ for which $I_n(\rho)$ is a reasonable approximation to $I(\rho)$ and the true value of c_{IR} is given by $I(\infty)$, it is this minimum of $I_n(\rho)$ that we will use to provide a better estimate of c_{IR} . The approximation then becomes

$$c_{IR} = I_n(\rho_m) \tag{5.32}$$

where ρ_m is the value where $I_n(\rho)$ attains its minimum. Below we consider the quantity $\Delta c_{exact} = c_{UV} - c_{IR}$ and denote the approximation to it $\Delta c_{approx} = c_{UV} - I_n(\rho_m)$, we call the perturbative value $\Delta c_{pert} = c_{UV} - \lim_{\rho \to \infty} I_n(\rho) = c_{UV} - c_{IR}^*$. This approximation rests upon the assumption that the exact function is monotonically decreasing from c_{UV} to c_{IR} , or at least that its minimum value is close to c_{IR} . Below we will show that this is indeed the case for k = 4, at least to a very good approximation.

5.3.3 Exact bound on Δc

As discussed above can the exact value $I(\rho)$ possibly be smaller than the asymptotic value c_{IR} . We will denote by ρ'_m the value where $I(\rho)$ attains its minimum and $\Delta c_{est} = c_{UV} - I(\rho'_m)$, then $\Delta c_{exact} - \Delta c_{est} \leq 0$ measures the undershoot of the exact function $I(\rho)$ compared with its asymptotic value c_{IR} , see figure 5.1.

From the spectral representation of F(s) in (5.27) we can obtain a rigorous lower



Figure 5.1: The expected behaviour of $c_{UV} - I_n(\rho)$ and $c_{UV} - I(\rho)$.

bound on this exact undershoot. As noted above can the spectral density be written as $\tilde{c}(\mu^2) = k_1 \delta(\mu^2)$ for a scale invariant theory, in a general theory an additional term is needed [60]: $\tilde{c}(\mu^2) = k_1 \delta(\mu^2) + \hat{c}(\mu^2)$, where $\hat{c}(\mu^2)$ is supported away from $\mu^2 = 0$ and (5.23) then sets $k_1 = c_{IR}$. We showed in (5.19) that $\int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \tilde{c}(\mu^2) = c_{UV}$ hence $\int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \hat{c}(\mu^2) = \Delta c_{exact}$. Using this in (5.27) we get

$$\Delta c_{est} = c_{UV} - I(\rho'_m) = c_{UV} - \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\tilde{C}} \frac{ds}{s} e^{\rho'_m/s} F(s)$$

= $\Delta c_{exact} - \int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \ \hat{c}(\mu^2) \Upsilon(\mu^2, \rho'_m)$

where

$$\Upsilon(\mu^{2}, \rho'_{m}) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{\tilde{C}} \frac{ds}{s} e^{\rho'_{m}/s} \frac{\mu s^{1/4}}{48} \left(((\mu s^{1/4})^{3} + 24\mu s^{1/4})K_{0}(\mu s^{1/4}) + (8(\mu s^{1/4})^{2} + 48)K_{1}(\mu s^{1/4}) \right)$$

$$(5.33)$$

and $F(s) = \tilde{F}(s^{1/k})$ with k = 4. Rescaling s allows us to move all μ dependence into $\rho'_m(\mu) = \rho'_m \mu^4$, so that we can write $\Upsilon(\mu^2, \rho'_m) = \Upsilon(\rho'_m(\mu))$. Unitarity ensures



Figure 5.2: Numerical integration of $\Upsilon(\rho)$ given in (5.33).

that $\hat{c}(\mu^2) \ge 0$ hence

$$\Delta c_{exact} - \Delta c_{est} \ge \min_{\mu} \Upsilon(\rho'_{m}(\mu)) \int_{0}^{\infty} d\tilde{\mu}^{2} \hat{c}(\tilde{\mu}^{2}), \qquad (5.34)$$

 $\Delta c_{est} > 0$ and we are considering the case where $\Delta c_{exact} \ge 0$ so that

$$0 \ge \frac{\Delta c_{exact} - \Delta c_{est}}{\Delta c_{exact}} \ge \min_{\rho > 0} \Upsilon(\rho).$$
(5.35)

The lower bound in the relative undershoot of $I(\rho'_m)$ therefore equals $\min_{\rho} \Upsilon(\rho)$. In figure 5.2 we plot $\Upsilon(\rho)$ for k = 4. With this value we get that $\min_{\rho} \Upsilon(\rho) = -0.0232$ so the relative overshoot in Δc_{est} compared with Δc_{exact} is maximally 2.3%. It follows from (5.34) that the bound in (5.35) is only saturated for free theories (where $\hat{c}(\mu^2) \propto \delta(\mu^2 - m^2)$), for general interacting theories the relative overshoot will be smaller than $|\min_{\rho} \Upsilon(\rho)|$. We show in figure 5.1 the type of behaviour that we expect and which is confirmed for the minimal models below.

The actual choice of k = 4 then is a compromise between maximizing the range of analyticity (small k) and minimizing the bound of the undershoot in $I(\rho'_m)$ (large k).

5.4 Application to different two dimensional models

In this section we calculate the central charge for the free bosonic and fermionic theory perturbed by a mass term. These theories are gaussian and we can calculate F(s) exactly, the central charge can then be written as $\lim_{\rho\to\infty} I(\rho)$ as the contribution from the cut then vanishes. The infra-red limit of these theories is trivial $(c_{IR} = 0)$ as all the degrees of freedom are massive, and therefore decouple when approaching the infra-red fixed point where the scale goes to infinity. The free theories are none the less important to consider as we can here obtain the exact function $I(\rho)$.

In 5.4.3 we consider the unitary minimal models perturbed by the relevant operator $\Phi_{(1,3)}$, this theory has a non-trivial infra-red fixed point. We obtain the renormalisation group improved perturbative calculation of c_{IR} and compare with the approximation (5.32).

5.4.1 The free boson

We take the action for the free bosonic theory in two dimensions with a mass m to be

$$S = \int d^2x \left(\frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \varphi(x) \partial^\mu \varphi(x) + \frac{1}{2} m^2 \varphi^2(x) \right), \qquad (5.36)$$

where the perturbation away from the conformal field theory is given by the mass term $\frac{1}{2}m^2\varphi^2$. The theory is still a free theory off criticality and the correlator $\langle TT \rangle$ can be calculated exactly in the whole scaling region from the ultra-violet to the infra-red. With this normalization the energy-momentum tensor becomes

$$T(z,\bar{z}) = T_{zz}(z,\bar{z}) = -2\pi : \partial\varphi(z,\bar{z})\partial\varphi(z,\bar{z}) :$$
(5.37)

with the correlator

$$\langle T(z,\bar{z})T(w,\bar{w})\rangle = (2\pi)^2 \langle :\partial\varphi(z,\bar{z})\partial\varphi(z,\bar{z})::\partial\varphi(w,\bar{w})\partial\varphi(w,\bar{w}):\rangle$$

= $2(2\pi)^2 \langle\partial\varphi(z,\bar{z})\partial\varphi(w,\bar{w})\rangle^2,$ (5.38)



Figure 5.3: Numerical integration of $I_{UV}(\rho)$ given by (5.40) compared with the exact value $c_{UV} = 1$.

as only the double contractions survive. Using the form (5.21) of the free propagator then (5.38) is $2(\partial_z \partial_z K_0(m|z|))^2$ where we have set w = 0 using translation invariance. (5.38) then becomes

$$\langle T(z,\bar{z})T(0,0)\rangle = \frac{m^2|z|^2}{8z^4} \left(4K_1^2(m|z|) + m^2|z|^2K_0^2(m|z|) + 4m|z|K_1(m|z|)K_0(m|z|) \right),$$

hence F(s) with k = 4 is

$$F(s) = \left(\frac{ms^{1/2}}{2}\right)^2 \left(\frac{4}{s^{1/2}}K_1^2(ms^{1/4}) + m^2K_0^2(ms^{1/4}) + \frac{4m}{s^{1/4}}K_0(ms^{1/4})K_1(ms^{1/4})\right).$$
(5.39)

Knowing F(s) exactly the central charges follow from (5.26) directly, but let us use the relations (5.29), (5.28) in the limit of large ρ where the cut vanishes. For c_{UV} we substitute $s' = ms^{1/4}$, $\rho' = \frac{\rho}{m^4}$ in the contour C_2 . From (5.29) we then get that (for $r_{IR} = \frac{1}{m^4}$)

$$I_{UV}(\rho) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{-\frac{\pi}{2}}^{\frac{\pi}{2}} d\theta \, e^{4i\theta} e^{\rho' e^{2i\theta}} \left(4e^{-2i\theta} K_1^2(e^{i\theta}) + K_0^2(e^{i\theta}) + 4e^{-i\theta} K_0(e^{i\theta}) K_1(e^{i\theta}) \right).$$
(5.40)



Figure 5.4: Numerical integration of $I_{IR}(\rho)$.

This is not expressible in terms of elementary functions, but it can be calculated using the analytical properties of the Bessel functions. The integration contour can be collapsed into a contour running along the imaginary axis together with an infinitesimal semi-circle around the origin. For $\rho \to \infty$ only the contribution from the infinitesimal semi-circle C_{ϵ} survives and here we can insert the asymptotic form of the modified Bessel functions: $K_0(z) \sim -\log z$ and $K_{\nu}(z) \sim \frac{1}{2}\Gamma(\nu)(\frac{1}{2}z)^{-\nu}$ for $|z| \ll 1$. In this limit only the first term with K_1^2 then contributes, and taking into account that we only integrate over half a circle we then get the well known result $c_{UV} = 1$, which is an exact result as the contribution from the cut vanishes in this limit. This also directly follows from (5.26) and (5.39) using the asymptotic form for K_0 and K_1 for small s.

To calculate the infra-red central charge we use (5.30): $c_{IR} = \lim_{\rho \to \infty} I_{IR}(\rho) = \lim_{s \to \infty} F(s)$. From the asymptotic form of the modified Bessel functions for large |z|: $K_n(z) \sim \sqrt{\frac{\pi}{2z}}e^{-z}$, together with (5.39), it follows that $c_{IR} = 0$. Figure 5.3 shows the exact function $I_{UV}(\rho)$ computed by a numerical integration of (5.40) using a NAG Fortran Library integration routine. The figure shows how the contribution from the cut vanishes in the limit of large ρ .



Figure 5.5: Numerical integration of $I_{UV}(\rho')$ using (5.42) compared with the exact value $c_{UV} = \frac{1}{2}$.

The exact infra-red function $I_{IR}(\rho)$ is plotted in figure 5.4, it is important to note that the minimum value of $I_{IR}(\rho)$ is very small, namely -0.019.

5.4.2 The free fermion

The free massive Majorana fermion with the component fields $\Psi = (\psi, \bar{\psi})$ has the action

$$S = \int d^2x \, \left(\bar{\psi} \partial \bar{\psi} + \psi \bar{\partial} \psi + i m \bar{\psi} \psi \right).$$
(5.41)

Where the Dirac algebra $\{\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu}\} = 2\delta^{\mu\nu}$ in two euclidean dimensions is represented by $\gamma^{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \ \gamma^{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -i \\ i & 0 \end{pmatrix}$.

A calculation analogous to the Bose case gives, for k = 4, that

$$F(s) = \frac{m^4 s}{8} \left(K_1^2(ms^{1/4}) \left(1 + \frac{4}{m^2 s^{1/2}} \right) - K_0^2(ms^{1/4}) \right).$$
(5.42)

Taking the limit $s \to 0$ and again using $K_1(x) \to 1/x$ for $x \to 0$ yields that $c_{UV} = \frac{1}{2}$, and the infra-red contribution $c_{IR} = \lim_{s\to\infty} F(s) = 0$, using that $K_n(x) \sim e^{-x}$ for $x \to \infty$. We have calculated the exact function $I(\rho)$ by a numerical computation.



Figure 5.6: Numerical integration of $I_{IR}(\rho)$ and the exact value $c_{IR} = 0$.

In figure 5.5 $I_{UV}(\rho)$ is plotted, and in figure 5.6 $I_{IR}(\rho)$. We get the same behaviour of $I_{IR}(\rho)$ as in the bosonic case, but with the minimum value -0.0048, so this exact function does again not differ much from the infra-red central charge at its minimum value.

5.4.3 The unitary minimal models

The off critical quantum field theory picks out a specific renormalisation group flow from the ultra-violet to the infra-red conformal field theory. If the quantum field theory is in the neighborhood of one of the renormalisation group fixed points λ^* in coupling constant space, we may choose the coordinates so $\lambda^* = 0$ corresponds to the ultra-violet conformal field theory, the action can formally be written as [96]

$$S = S_{CFT} + \sum_{i=1}^{N} \lambda^{i} \int d^{2}x \ \Phi_{i}(x).$$
 (5.43)

Here the $\Phi_i(x)$'s are scaling fields with scaling dimension Δ_i , the coupling constants λ^i then have mass dimension $[\lambda^i] = 2 - \Delta_i = y_i$. It was shown in chapter 3 that y_i is the renormalisation group eigenvalue of the scaling fields Φ_i . For renormalisable quantum field theories we need $y_i \ge 0$ and the scaling operators therefore have to be

relevant (y > 0) or marginal (y = 0). For relevant operators we will move away from the fixed point when the scale increases and S_{CFT} thus corresponds to an ultra-violet critical point.

We consider quantum field theories that have the unitary minimal models as their scaling limits. The minimal models are conformal field theories with central charge c < 1 and a finite number of primary fields. Descendant fields are fields formed by acting with the modes L_{-n} of T(z) on a primary field and an arbitrary field is a linear combination of primary and descendant fields. The correlation functions of descendant fields can be obtained from correlation functions of primary fields acting with differential operators. The two and three point functions are, as shown in chapter 2 for the two point function, fixed by conformal symmetry. Hence, if the central charge, the operator product expansion coefficients, the finite number of primary fields and their conformal dimensions are known then all correlation functions can be calculated in the theory. The minimal models are reducible representations of the Virasoro algebra.

We denote by \mathcal{M}_m the unitary minimal model that has the spin zero primary fields

$$\Phi_{(p,q)}, \quad 1 \leqslant p \leqslant m-1, \quad 1 \leqslant q \leqslant m, \tag{5.44}$$

and a central charge

$$c = 1 - \frac{6}{m(m+1)}, \quad m \ge 3.$$
 (5.45)

The minimal models represent the critical points of well known statistical models, e.g. \mathcal{M}_3 describes the fixed point of the Ising model with $c = \frac{1}{2}$, \mathcal{M}_4 is the tricritical Ising model with $c = \frac{7}{10}$ and \mathcal{M}_5 is the 3-state Potts model with $c = \frac{4}{5}$. The unitary minimal models \mathcal{M}_m have the same (m-1) critical behaviour as a Landau-Ginzburg theory with a bosonic field and even polynomial interactions up to the power 2(m-1) [97, 98].

 $\Phi_{(p,q)}$ has the conformal scaling dimension

$$h_{(p,q)} = \bar{h}_{(p,q)} = \frac{((m+1)p - mq)^2 - 1}{4m(m+1)},$$
(5.46)

which shows that $\Phi_{(p,q)} = \Phi_{(m-p,m+1-q)}$ leaving only $\frac{m(m-1)}{2}$ different primary fields. The unitary minimal model \mathcal{M}_m perturbed by the relevant operator $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ can formally be written as

$$S = \mathcal{M}_m - \lambda_0 \int d^2 z \, \Phi_{(1,3)}(z,\bar{z}), \quad \lambda_0 < 0, \tag{5.47}$$

and the theory is defined by the correlators

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1(x_1)\cdots\mathcal{O}_n(x_n)\rangle = \frac{\langle \mathcal{O}_1(x_1)\cdots\mathcal{O}_n(x_n)e^{\lambda_0 \int d^2 z \Phi_{(1,3)}}\rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m}}{\langle e^{\lambda_0 \int d^2 z \Phi_{(1,3)}}\rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m}}$$
(5.48)

where $\langle \cdots \rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m}$ is the correlator in the minimal model \mathcal{M}_m and $\mathcal{O}_i(x)$ are the local scaling fields in the theory. The renormalisation group eigenvalue for $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ is then: $y = 2 - \Delta = \frac{4}{m+1}$ where $\Delta = 2h_{(1,3)}$. $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ is therefore a relevant operator (y > 0), and from the form of $h_{(p,q)}$ in (5.46) it directly follows that the other relevant primary fields are

$$\Phi_{(p,p+s)}, \quad -1 \leqslant s \leqslant 2, \quad 1 \leqslant p+s \leqslant m, \quad 1 \leqslant p \leqslant m-1.$$
(5.49)

There are therefore 2m - 3 different relevant primary fields including $\Phi_{(1,1)} = \mathbf{1}$. These are the only relevant scalar fields as all the spin zero descendants will have scaling dimension $2h_{(p,q)} + 2n$ with $n \in \mathbb{N}$.

The reasons for using the operator $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ as a perturbation are that: ⁶

i) $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ is a relevant field, $h_{(1,3)} = 1 - \frac{2}{m+1} < 1$, which exists in all \mathcal{M}_m .

ii) $\Phi_{(m,n)}$ forms an algebra under the operator product expansion. From the fusion rules of minimal models [83] it follows that $\Phi_{(1,r)}\Phi_{(1,s)} = \sum_p C_{rs}^p \Phi_{(1,p)}$ where $p \in \{|r-s|+1, |r-s|+3, \ldots, r+s-1\}$ in steps of two. This shows that $\Phi_{(1,n)}$ constitutes a sub-algebra in which only $\Phi_{(1,1)}$, $\Phi_{(1,2)}$ and $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ are relevant as seen from (5.46). $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ is normalized so that the structure constant $C_{(1,3)(1,3)}^{(1,1)} = 1$ where $\mathbf{1} = \Phi_{(1,1)} = \Phi_{(m-1,m)}$ is the identity, and it has the self coupling $C_{(1,3)(1,3)}^{(1,3)} = b(m) > \mathbf{1}$

⁶The model (5.47) is integrable and was first studied by Zamolodchikov in [96]. The only other integrable perturbations of the unitary minimal models are with $\Phi_{(1,2)}$ and $\Phi_{(2,1)}$. These three models correspond respectively to the Korteweg-de Vries, Gibbon-Samede-Kotera and Kupersmidth equations [99].
0. It does not couple to $\Phi_{(1,2)}$ so it has no coupling to other relevant operators in the sub-algebra $\Phi_{(1,n)}$ [94, 98, 83]. This means that there is perturbatively a renormalisation group flow connecting the ultra-violet and infra-red fixed points along the direction of $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ so it is consistent to include only the one relevant field $\Phi_{(1,3)}$. This can be seen perturbatively by writing the Zamolodchikov metric [93] in normal coordinates around the ultra-violet fixed point⁷ g = 0, $G_{ij} = \delta_{ij} + O(g^2)$, the beta-functions become in these coordinates $\beta^i(g) = -y_i g^i - \pi \sum_{j,k} C_{jk}^i g^j g^k + O(g^3)$ (see below). If $g^i = 0$ for $i \neq (1,3)$ and $C_{(1,3)(1,3)}^j = 0$ for $j \neq (1,3)$ then $\beta^j(g) = 0$ for $j \neq (1,3)$ and there is no flow transverse to the $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ direction [98, 100]. It is therefore perturbatively a geodesic renormalisation group trajectory [42].

iii) $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ is the least relevant field, and the perturbation in (5.47) becomes marginal in the limit of $m \to \infty$ where $y = \frac{4}{m+1} \to 0$. In this limit the fixed points are arbitrarily close in coupling constant space, and perturbation theory is viable in the whole region from the ultra-violet to the infra-red.

We want to calculate the difference between the ultra-violet and the infra-red central charge $\Delta c = c_{UV} - c_{IR}$. It has been argued that the infra-red conformal field theory of (5.47) is given by the unitary minimal model \mathcal{M}_{m-1} , as Δc in the perturbative limit $y \to 0$ is given by $\Delta c = \frac{3}{16}y^3 + O(y^4)$ [94, 98], and from (5.45) we get that

$$c(m) - c(m-1) = \frac{12}{m(m^2 - 1)} = \frac{3y^3}{2(2 - y)(4 - y)} = \frac{3y^3}{16} + O(y^4).$$
(5.50)

A general argument for all m has been given by a thermodynamic Bethe ansatz method in $[101]^8$. We now describe how Δc is calculated using our approximation method, and we will compare this with the exact result $\Delta c_{exact} = c(m) - c(m-1)$.

To construct the term $\langle T(z,\bar{z})T(0,0)\rangle$ we use the Ward identity (5.7)

$$\partial_{\bar{z}} \langle T(z,\bar{z})\Phi_{1}(x_{1})\cdots\Phi_{n}(x_{n})\rangle + \frac{1}{4} \partial_{z} \langle \Theta(z,\bar{z})\Phi_{1}(x_{1})\cdots\Phi_{n}(x_{n})\rangle$$

$$= \pi \sum_{i=1}^{n} (\delta(z-x_{i})\partial_{x_{i}} + \delta(z-x_{i})h_{i}\partial_{x_{i}})\langle \Phi_{1}(x_{1})\cdots\Phi_{n}(x_{n})\rangle, \qquad (5.51)$$

 ${}^{7}G_{ij} = \langle \Phi_i(1)\Phi_j(0) \rangle.$

⁸In [102, 103] the first fixed points \mathcal{M}_m , m = 3, 4, ..., 12 were found numerically using the exact renormalisation group.

here Φ_i are primary fields with conformal dimension h_i . For the correlator we are interested in contact terms vanish and we get

$$\partial_{\bar{z}_1}\partial_{\bar{z}_2}\langle T(z_1,\bar{z}_1)T(z_2,\bar{z}_2)\rangle = \frac{1}{4^2}\partial_{z_1}\partial_{z_2}\langle\Theta(z_1,\bar{z}_1)\Theta(z_2,\bar{z}_2)\rangle.$$
(5.52)

For the perturbed theory scale invariance is broken $\partial_{\mu}D_{\mu} = \Theta \neq 0$ and in a renormalisable field theory Θ must belong to the space spanned by the relevant and marginal fields defining the perturbation away from criticality in (5.43)

$$\Theta(x) \equiv 2\pi \sum_{i=1}^{N} \beta^{i}(g) \Phi_{i}(x), \qquad (5.53)$$

where $\beta^{i}(g)$ is the beta-function given in terms of the renormalised coupling constants g [94]. (5.52) can thus be written

$$\partial_{\bar{z}_1}\partial_{\bar{z}_2}\langle T(z_1,\bar{z}_1)T(z_2,\bar{z}_2)\rangle = \frac{\pi^2}{4}\beta^i(g)\beta^j(g)\partial_{z_1}\partial_{z_2}\langle\Phi_i(z_1,\bar{z}_1)\Phi_j(z_2,\bar{z}_2)\rangle.$$
(5.54)

The correlator $\langle \Phi_i \Phi_j \rangle$ can be calculated in perturbative conformal field theory using the operator product expansion in the ultra-violet conformal field theory. Let us write $\Phi_{(1,3)}(x) = \phi(x)$. The bare correlator is in the lowest order in λ_0 given by

$$\langle \phi(x)\phi(0)\rangle = \frac{\langle \phi(x)\phi(0)e^{\lambda_0 \int d^2x'\phi(x')}\rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m}}{\langle e^{\lambda_0 \int d^2x'\phi(x')}\rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m}}$$

$$= \langle \phi(x)\phi(0)\rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m} + \lambda_0 \int d^2x' \langle \phi(x)\phi(0)\phi(x')\rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m} + O(\lambda_0^2).$$

$$(5.55)$$

 $\langle \phi(x)\phi(0)\rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m}$ was derived in (2.26), and

$$\int d^2 x' \langle \phi(x)\phi(0)\phi(x') \rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m} = \frac{C^{(1,3)}_{(1,3)(1,3)}}{|x|^{2h}} \int d^2 x' \frac{1}{|x'|^{2h}|x-x'|^{2h}}.$$
(5.56)

Using the formulas in [104, 105], (5.55) can then be written as

$$\langle \phi(x)\phi(0)\rangle = \frac{1}{|x|^{2(2-y)}} \left(1 + \lambda_0 \frac{4\pi b(y)A(y)}{y} |x|^y + O(\lambda_0^2)\right), \tag{5.57}$$

where $A(y) = \frac{\Gamma(1-y)\Gamma(1+y/2)^2}{\Gamma(1-y/2)^2\Gamma(1+y)} = 1 + O(y^3)$. The operator product expansion coefficient b(y) can be calculated from a Coulomb gas representation of the minimal models

again using the formulas in [104, 105]

$$(C_{(1,3)(1,3)}^{(1,3)})^{2} = b(y)^{2} = \frac{16}{3} \frac{(1-y)^{4}}{(1-y/2)^{2}(1-3y/4)^{2}} \left(\frac{\Gamma(1+y/2)}{\Gamma(1-y/2)}\right)^{4} \left(\frac{\Gamma(1-y/4)}{\Gamma(1+y/4)}\right)^{3} \times \left(\frac{\Gamma(1-y)}{\Gamma(1+y)}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\Gamma(1-y)}{\Gamma(1-y)}\right)^{2} \left(\frac{\Gamma(1+3y/4)}{\Gamma(1-3y/4)}\right) = \frac{16}{3} + O(y),$$
(5.58)

and we use the standard branch b(y) > 0. Choosing the renormalisation conditions $\langle \phi(x,g)\phi(0,g)\rangle|_{|x|=\mu^{-1}} \equiv \mu^4$, the renormalised correlator and the β -function becomes [100]

$$\langle \phi(x,g)\phi(0,g)\rangle = \frac{\mu^4}{|\mu x|^{2(2-y)}} \left(1 + \frac{4\pi A(y)b(y)g}{y}(|\mu x|^y - 1) + O(g^2) \right),$$

$$\beta(g) = -yg - \pi b(y)g^2 A(y) + O(g^3),$$
 (5.59)

where $\phi(x, g)$ is the renormalised field and g is the renormalised coupling. The zeros of the β -function, the renormalisation group fixed points, are thus $g_{UV} = 0$, $g_{IR}^* = \frac{-y}{\pi A(y)b(y)}$ and therefore $g \in (\frac{-y}{\pi A(y)b(y)}, 0)$ as the theory (5.43) lies between the two scaling limits. Correlators are renormalisation group improved by demanding that they satisfy the Callan–Symanzik equation (3.7). The running coupling constant becomes [100]

$$t\frac{\partial \bar{g}}{\partial t} = -\beta(\bar{g}) \quad \Rightarrow \quad \bar{g}(t) = \frac{t^y g}{1 - \frac{\pi A(y)b(y)g}{y}(t^y - 1)},\tag{5.60}$$

interpolating between g_{UV} for $t \to 0$ and g_{IR}^* for $t \to \infty$ and satisfying $\bar{g}(1) = g$. Euclidean invariance allows us to write the correlator of the energy-momentum tensor as $\langle T(z,\bar{z})T(0,0)\rangle = \frac{\bar{F}(\bar{R})}{2z^4}$ in terms of the dimensionless quantity $\tilde{R} = \mu^2 z \bar{z}$. The differential equation (5.54) then becomes

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial \tilde{R}^2} \tilde{F}(\tilde{R}) = \frac{\pi^2 \beta^2}{2\mu^4} \tilde{R}^2 \frac{\partial^2}{\partial \tilde{R}^2} \langle \phi(\tilde{R})\phi(0) \rangle.$$
(5.61)

A solution to this equation is given by

$$\tilde{F}(\tilde{R}) = \frac{\pi^2 \beta^2}{2\mu^4} \left(\tilde{R}^2 \left\langle \phi \phi \right\rangle - 4\tilde{R} \int^{\tilde{R}} d\tilde{R}' \left\langle \phi \phi \right\rangle + 6 \int^{\tilde{R}} d\tilde{R}' \int^{\tilde{R}'} d\tilde{R}'' \left\langle \phi \phi \right\rangle \right) + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 \tilde{R},$$

where $\alpha_1, \alpha_2 \in \mathbb{R}$. These equations directly generalize to the case with more couplings. The differential equation (5.61) is a boundary value problem as $\tilde{F}(\tilde{R})$ is known in the scaling limits

$$\tilde{F}(\tilde{R}) \to \begin{cases} c_{UV} & \text{for } \tilde{R} \to 0, \\ c_{IR}^* & \text{for } \tilde{R} \to \infty. \end{cases}$$
(5.62)

In the limit where $\tilde{R} \to 0$ the correlator $\langle \phi \phi \rangle$ scales as in \mathcal{M}_m i.e. $\langle \phi \phi \rangle \sim \frac{1}{\tilde{R}^{2h}}$, hence $\tilde{R}^2 \langle \phi \phi \rangle \sim \tilde{R}^y \to 0$, $\tilde{R} \int^{\tilde{R}} d\tilde{R}' \langle \phi \phi \rangle \sim \tilde{R}^y \to 0$, and finally $\int^{\tilde{R}} d\tilde{R}' \int^{\tilde{R}'} d\tilde{R}'' \langle \phi \phi \rangle \sim \tilde{R}^y \to 0$ for $\tilde{R} \to 0$. This sets the boundary value $\alpha_1 = c_{UV}$. As $\tilde{F}(\tilde{R})$ attains a finite value for $\tilde{R} \to \infty$ then all linear terms in $F(\tilde{R})$ must cancel and we set $\alpha_2 = 0$. Integrating (5.59) and inserting the boundary conditions gives

$$\tilde{F}(\tilde{R}) = c_{UV} + \frac{\pi^2 g^2 \tilde{R}^y}{2} \left(\frac{y(2-y)(3-y)}{y-1} + 2\pi A(y) b(y) g\left(\frac{(2-y)(3-y)}{1-y} + \tilde{R}^{\frac{y}{2}} \frac{(3y-4)(3y-6)}{3(\frac{3}{2}y-1)} \right) \right).$$
(5.63)

As in the proof of the c-theorem we can use the Callan–Symanzik equation to move all scale dependence into the running coupling constant, defining F(s) as $F(s) = \tilde{F}(\tilde{R})|_{\tilde{R}=1,g=\bar{g}(s)}$. With $t \to s^{1/4y}$ the running coupling constant becomes

$$\bar{g}(s) = \frac{gs^{\frac{1}{4}}}{1 - \frac{\pi A(y)b(y)g}{y}(s^{\frac{1}{4}} - 1)},$$
(5.64)

and scale-transformations move around in the coupling constant space. The 1 loop renormalisation group improved approximation to F(s) then becomes

$$F_{1}(s) = c_{UV} + \frac{\pi^{2}}{2}\bar{g}^{2}(s)\left(\frac{y(2-y)(3-y)}{y-1} + 2\pi A(y)b(y)\bar{g}(s)\left(\frac{(2-y)(3-y)}{1-y} + \frac{(3y-4)(3y-6)}{3(\frac{3}{2}y-1)}\right)\right).$$
(5.65)

Thus k = 4 as $F_1(s) = \tilde{F}_1(s^{1/4})$. To obtain the approximation for c_{IR} we then have to calculate the contour integral

$$I_1(\rho) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_0} ds \frac{e^{\rho/s}}{s} F_1(s).$$
 (5.66)

In the limit $m \to \infty$ the ultra-violet and infra-red fixed points are perturbatively close in coupling constant space as noted above, hence $F_1(s)$ correctly describes F(s)in this limit and we should take $\rho \to \infty$ in (5.28) thus eliminating the contribution from the cut. The approximation then becomes $\lim_{\rho\to\infty} I_1(\rho) = \lim_{s\to\infty} F_1(s) = c_{IR}^*$ using (5.31), and the approximation in this limit thus equals the renormalisation group improved perturbative result which is

$$\Delta c_{pert} = c_{UV} - c_{IR}^* = -\frac{\pi^2}{2} (g_{IR}^*)^2 \left(\frac{y(2-y)(3-y)}{y-1} + 2\pi A(y)b(y)g_{IR}^* \left(\frac{(2-y)(3-y)}{1-y} + \frac{(3y-4)(3y-6)}{3(\frac{3}{2}y-1)} \right) \right)$$
(5.67)
$$= \frac{3y^3}{16} + O(y^4),$$

this is equal to the asymptotic form of the exact value c(m) - c(m-1) in (5.50). We wish to improve this result using the approximation (5.32). We rewrite the running coupling constant

$$\bar{g}(s) = \frac{gs^{1/4}}{1 - \frac{\pi A(y)b(y)g}{y}(s^{1/4} - 1)} = \frac{g_{IR}^*|\tilde{g}|s^{1/4}}{1 + |\tilde{g}|s^{1/4}}, \qquad \tilde{g} = \frac{g}{g - g_{IR}^*} \in (-\infty, 0).$$
(5.68)

All dependence of the renormalised coupling g is now moved into the parameter ρ setting $s' = s|\tilde{g}|^4$ and $\rho' = \rho|\tilde{g}|^4$

$$I_1(\rho,g) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C_0} ds \frac{e^{\rho/s}}{s} F_1(s) = \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int_{C'_0} ds' \frac{e^{\rho'/s'}}{s'} F_1(s') = \tilde{I}_1(\rho')$$
(5.69)

and then $\bar{g}(s') = \frac{g_{1R}^* s'^{1/4}}{1+s'^{1/4}}$. This contour integral can be evaluated for example doing a numerical integration or a series expansion in $F_1(s')$, we have done both. A numerical integration of (5.69) with m = 14 using the NAG Fortran Library is shown in figure 5.7. In figure 5.7 the dashed line indicates the expected behaviour of the exact function $\tilde{I}(0) - \tilde{I}(\rho')$ which is taken analogous to the curves of the free theories in figure 5.3 and 5.4. Writing $F_1(s')$ as a power series

$$F_1(s') = \Phi_1(\bar{g}(s')) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} h_n(s')^{n/4}$$
(5.70)



Figure 5.7: The numerical-result $c_{UV} - \tilde{I}_1(\rho')$ against $\log \rho'$ for m = 14. Also plotted is the exact and perturbative values Δc_{exact} and Δc_{pert} . The dashed line is the expected behaviour of $\tilde{I}(0) - \tilde{I}(\rho')$.

and substituting this into (5.69), we then obtain using the integral representation (4.13)

$$\tilde{I}_1(\rho') = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{h_n(\rho')^{n/4}}{\Gamma(1+n/4)}$$
(5.71)

which is recognized as the Borel transform of order k = 4. This expression can be computed numerically (using e.g. Maple) by truncating to a finite n, and the minimal value can be found. In figure 5.8 $c_{UV} - \tilde{I}_1(\rho')$ is plotted for m = 14 with 50 terms. The horizontal lines are the exact value and the renormalisation group improved perturbative calculation. The punctured line is the value of the numerical integration which is seen to match the value of the truncated series.

In table 5.1 the obtained values of the numerical integration denoted Δc_{approx} are listed together with the exact results Δc_{exact} and the renormalisation group improved perturbative values Δc_{pert} . For m < 11 the perturbative result will break



Figure 5.8: A numerical summation of $c_{UV} - \tilde{I}_1(\rho')$ for m = 14 with 50 terms. The upper line is the exact value and the lower line is the improved perturbative calculation. The punctured line is the value of the numerical integration.

down as Δc_{pert} becomes negative and thereby violates unitarity. In [1] we used k = 2/y = (m+1)/2, but here (and in [2]) we have chosen k = 4 as we then get a stricter bound on the exact function as explained in section 5.3.3. The results for k = 2/yand k = 4 are similar for all m calculated, except m = 11, 12 where they differ slightly. The improvement of the approximation (5.32) over the renormalisation group improved perturbative result is seen to be significant. In figure 5.9 we plot $\Delta c_{exact} - \Delta c_{approx}$ and $\Delta c_{exact} - \Delta c_{pert}$ scaled with $m(m^2 - 1)$ so that all the points can be distinguished. The horizontal axis is then the exact value. The figure shows that the approximation improves the perturbative results with more than a factor two.

We saw above that the analytical opening $\alpha = \pi - \epsilon'$, $\epsilon' \ll 1$. $k > \pi/\alpha$ so the best approximation is expected to be in the limit $k \to 1$. For k = 1 we get results

5 Scaling in two dimensions

m	Δc_{exact}	Δc_{pert}	Δc_{approx}	$\Delta c_{approx2}$	
11	0.00909	0	0.00642	0.00970	
12	0.00699	0.00180	0.00533	0.00721	
13	0.00549	0.00248	0.00437	0.00556	
14	0.00440	0.00253	0.00368	0.00440	
15	0.00357	0.00237	0.00310	0.00357	
16	0.00294	0.00215	0.00262	0.00293	
17	0.00245	0.00191	0.00222	0.00244	
18	0.00206	0.00169	0.00190	0.00205	
19	0.00175	0.00149	0.00163	0.00175	
20	0.00150	0.00131	0.00140	0.00150	
21	0.00130	0.00116	0.00122	0.00130	
22	0.00113	0.00103	0.00109	0.00113	
23	0.000988	0.000911	0.000956	0.000989	
24	0.000870	0.000811	0.000846	0.000871	
25	0.000769	0.000725	0.000752	0.000771	
26	0.000684	0.000650	0.000671	0.000686	
27	0.000611	0.000583	0.000601	0.000613	

Table 5.1: The exact, perturbative and approximate values for $\Delta c. \Delta c_{approx}$ is with k = 4 and $\Delta c_{approx2}$ is with k = 1, which is the minimal value of k allowed by the bound $k > \pi/\alpha$.



Figure 5.9: $(\Delta c_{exact} - \Delta c_{approx})m(m^2 - 1)$ and $(\Delta c_{exact} - \Delta c_{pert})m(m^2 - 1)$ against m.

which are almost identical to the exact values, we denote these by $\Delta c_{approx2}$, and plot in figure 5.10 Δc_{exact} and $\Delta c_{approx2}$ against m, the numbers are also listed in table 5.1. In this case though we do not have a strict bound on the exact function $I(\rho)$ as for the case with k = 4 described in section 5.3.3. The exact function might still have a very small undershoot if for example the smallest non-zero mass of a one particle state is small compared with ρ'_m , i.e. $\Delta c_{est} \sim \Delta c_{exact}$. Figure 5.10 shows the very good correspondence between Δc_{exact} and $\Delta c_{approx2}$, this is remarkable because the approximation is based on only a one loop calculation.

5.5 Conclusions

We have in this chapter, using the method derived in chapter 4 and the exact bound obtained in section 5.5.3, attained an approximation method for calculating the



Figure 5.10: Δc_{exact} and $\Delta c_{approx2}$ against m.

infra-red central charge of a two dimensional theory. This method is applied to the free bosonic and fermionic theory, and although these theories have a trivial infrared limit they are important as the functions used in the approximation $\tilde{F}(s)$ and $I(\rho)$ can be calculated exactly. The infra-red central charge for the minimal models perturbed by $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ is calculated using the approximation method on a renormalisation group improved one loop perturbative result, where the Callan–Symanzik equation is used to move the scale dependence into the running coupling constant. Optimizing the order of the Borel transform a remarkably good approximation for the infra-red central charge is obtained already at the one loop perturbative level. 6

Scaling in three dimensions: φ^4 theory

The other example where we will use the method developed in chapter 4 is the calculation of the critical exponents of φ^4 theory in three dimensions with O(N) symmetry. This model is one of the most studied models in critical phenomena and it is important because it shares its infra-red fixed point with a number of physical models, such as: polymers (N = 0), the Ising model (N = 1), super-fluid Bose-liquid (N = 2) and the Heisenberg ferro-magnet (N = 3) [106]. We will study the Ising N = 1 case in detail here, but the method applies for a general N.

Quantum field theories in dimensions less than four have generic infra-red divergences. For φ^4 theory this can be seen by studying the 1PI four point function. Diagrams with *n* 'bubbles' are divergent when $(4 - d)n \ge d^1$. A way of regulating these infra-red divergences is to either do an ϵ expansion in $\epsilon = 4 - d$, or work with a massive theory. We will here do the latter, and work in d = 3 following Parisi [106]. We introduce the renormalised field, mass and coupling as in chapter 3: $\varphi = (Z_1)^{1/2}\varphi_R, \ \varphi^2 = Z_2(\varphi^2)_R$ and m, g denote the renormalised mass and coupling, and Z_1, Z_2 are the renormalisation constants. The infra-red divergences are now

¹This follows as the diagram generally behaves as $p^{(d-4)n}$ in external momentum, which has a Fourier transform proportional to $\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}(d-n(d-4)))$ divergent for $n(4-d) \ge d$ [76, 106].

removed and only show up in the bare correlators as non-analytic dependence in the bare coupling [106]. We will calculate two of the infra-red critical exponents ν and η , all other exponents follow from scaling relations.

The calculation of the critical exponents in φ^4 theory are among the most precise calculations in quantum field theory, and they have been calculated using both the ϵ expansion, exact renormalisation group arguments, perturbative quantum field theory, high temperature expansions, strong coupling expansions and Monte Carlo simulations [107]. These exponents describe the scaling behaviour of the theory in the scaling region and are universal, as described in chapter 3, they are uniquely determined by the infra-red fixed point and are therefore identical for all quantum field theories flowing to this point under the renormalisation group, irrespective of the underlying microscopic dynamics.

6.1 Critical exponents for φ^4 theory

We are considering a theory with O(1) symmetry, i.e. the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry $\varphi \to -\varphi$, in three dimensions with the lagrangian²

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial^{\mu} \varphi(x) \partial_{\mu} \varphi(x) + \frac{1}{2} m_0^2 \varphi(x)^2 + \frac{\lambda_0}{4!} \varphi(x)^4, \quad \lambda_0 > 0.$$
(6.1)

In Landau theory the free energy \mathcal{F} (from which all thermodynamic quantities can be derived) is written as an expansion in some order parameter [108]. For the Ising model with \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry: $\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{F}_0 + a_2M^2 + a_4M^4 + O(M^6)$ where M is the magnetization. For $a_2 < 0$ there is a spontaneous symmetry breaking where $\mathcal{F} - \mathcal{F}_0$ has minima with non-zero magnetization $M_0 = \pm \sqrt{\frac{-a_2}{2a_4}}$ (for $a_4 > 0$) see figure 6.1 (b). The system is said to be in a ferro-magnetic ordered phase. For $a_2 > 0$ the minimum is at $M_0 = 0$ and the system is in a high temperature symmetric (paramagnetic) phase, figure 6.1 (a). It easily follows that $\frac{\partial M_0}{\partial a_2}$ diverges when $a_2 \to 0_-$ so the phase transition is second order with power law behaviour and critical exponents.

 $^{{}^{2}\}varphi(x)^{6}$ is marginal so the critical properties are dominated by the φ^{4} term, higher orders with φ^{2n} are irrelevant as $[g_{n}] = 3 - n$.

6 Scaling in three dimensions: φ^4 theory



Figure 6.1: (a) The high temperature symmetric phase with $m_0^2 > 0$. (b) When $m_0^2 < 0$ the system is in a different phase with a spontaneous magnetization.

We can then write $a_2 = \tilde{a}_2(T - T_c)$ for some $\tilde{a}_2 > 0$ so the phase transition occurs at the critical temperature T_c [108]. Comparing with (6.1) it follows that the bare mass squared is proportional to the reduced temperature $m_0^2 \propto \theta = \frac{T - T_c}{T_c}$. We are considering the high temperature symmetric phase with $m_0^2 > 0$. For the free theory with $\lambda_0 = 0$ the two point correlator, or propagator, is given as

$$G_2(p,m) = \int d^d x \ e^{ipx} \langle \varphi(x)\varphi(0)\rangle = \frac{1}{p^2 + m^2}, \tag{6.2}$$

hence the free propagator can be written as [106]

$$G_2(p,\theta) = \theta^{-\gamma} h(\frac{p}{\theta^{\nu}}) \tag{6.3}$$

where h is regular at the origin and $\gamma = 1$ and $\nu = \frac{1}{2}$. This scaling behaviour is assumed to hold also for the interacting theory, where $\lambda_0 > 0$, with critical exponents ν and γ , and one of the main problems in critical phenomena is to determine these exponents. From the scaling relations described below all critical exponents can be obtained from the propagator. In real space the free propagator becomes [60, 11]

$$G_2(x,m) = \int \frac{d^d p}{(2\pi)^d} \frac{e^{ipx}}{p^2 + m^2} = \frac{1}{2\pi} \left(\frac{m}{2\pi|x|}\right)^{\frac{d-2}{2}} K_{\frac{d-2}{2}}(m|x|).$$
(6.4)

The asymptotic form of the modified Bessel function (see section 5.4.1) then shows that away from the fixed point where $\frac{1}{m} \ll |x|$ the propagator is exponentially damped, and close to the fixed point where $|x| \ll \frac{1}{m}$ it has a power law behaviour: $G_2(\tilde{t}|x|,m) \sim \tilde{t}^{2-d}$. For the interacting theory this is generalized to $G_2(\tilde{t}|x|,m) \sim \tilde{t}^{2-d-\eta}$ for the critical exponent η , in momentum space it becomes

$$G_2(tp) \sim \frac{1}{t^{2-\eta}},$$
 (6.5)

and the gaussian fixed point therefore has $\eta = 0, \gamma = 1$ and $\nu = \frac{1}{2}$.

6.2 $\tilde{F}(s)$ for η and ν

We will now define the functions $\tilde{F}(s)$ from chapter four for respectively ν and η , and show that they are analytic in some sector with the correct scaling limits. We denote the infra-red fixed point coupling g_c so that $\beta(g_c) = 0$, where g is the dimensionless renormalised coupling $g = f(\lambda_0/m) = \frac{\lambda_0}{m} + O((\frac{\lambda_0}{m})^2)$. In the infra-red limit $t \to 0$ the Callan–Symanzik equation (3.7) becomes

$$\left(-t\frac{\partial}{\partial t}+\gamma_1(g_c)-2\right)G_2^R(tp)=0,$$
(6.6)

where³ $\gamma_1 = \frac{\partial \ln Z_1}{\partial \ln m}$ so that for small t: $G_2^R(tp) \sim \frac{1}{t^{2-\gamma_1(g_c)}}$ and this shows that $\eta = \gamma_1(g_c)$ (see e.g. [106, 109, 110] for further details). Hence defining

$$\tilde{F}_{\eta}(t) = t \frac{\partial G_2^R(tp)}{\partial t} / G_2^R(tp) + 2, \quad t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$
(6.7)

would satisfy the infra-red behaviour $\lim_{t\to 0} \tilde{F}_{\eta}(t) = \eta$. The ultra-violet limit follows from the spectral representation

$$\tilde{F}_{\eta}(t) = -2 \, \frac{\int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \, \tilde{c}(\mu^2, m, g) \frac{t^2 p^2}{(t^2 p^2 + \mu^2)^2}}{\int_0^\infty d\mu^2 \, \tilde{c}(\mu^2, m, g) \frac{1}{t^2 p^2 + \mu^2}} + 2 \to 0 \quad \text{for} \ t \to \infty, \tag{6.8}$$

³Note that γ from chapter three is $\gamma = \gamma_1/2$.

or simply using that $G_2^R(p) \to \frac{1}{p^2+m^2}$ in the ultra-violet (the spectral density will only contribute with $\delta(\mu^2 - m^2)$) also showing that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \tilde{F}_{\eta}(t) = 0$. From this spectral decomposition it also directly follows that $\tilde{F}_{\eta}(s) = \tilde{F}_{\eta}(ts)|_{t=1}$ is analytic for $s \in S(\pi - \epsilon')$ for $\epsilon' \ll 1^4$, and that

$$\tilde{F}_{\eta}(s) \to \begin{cases} \eta & \text{for } s \to 0_{+}, \\ 0 & \text{for } s \to \infty. \end{cases}$$
(6.9)

Equation (3.6) states that

$$-m\frac{\partial G_2^R(tp,m)}{\partial m} = t\frac{\partial G_2^R(tp,m)}{\partial t} - [G_2]G_2^R(tp,m) = \left(t\frac{\partial}{\partial t} + 2\right)G_2^R(tp,m),$$

hence it follows that

$$\tilde{F}_{\eta}(t) = -m \frac{\partial G_2^R(tp,m)}{\partial m} / G_2^R(tp,m) = Z_1^{-1} m \frac{\partial Z_1}{\partial m}, \qquad (6.10)$$

also showing that the ultra-violet value is zero as the gaussian theory is ultra-violet finite. We also want to compute ν , but let us first comment on the scaling relations. The scaling hypothesis states that the singular power law behaviour near a second order phase transition stems from the divergence of one quantity at the critical point, namely the correlation length $\xi \equiv m^{-1} \sim \theta^{-\nu}$. From the definition of γ_1 it follows that for small m [76]: $Z_1 \sim k_1 m^{\gamma_1(g_c)}(1 + o(1))$ for some $k_1 \in \mathbb{R}$, and $G_2(p) = Z_1 G_2^R(p) = Z_1/(p^2 + m^2 + O(p^4))$, hence together with (6.3) this shows that

$$G_2(0) \sim \theta^{-\gamma} \sim \theta^{-\nu(2-\eta)} \quad \Rightarrow \gamma = \nu(2-\eta),$$
 (6.11)

which is Fisher's scaling relation, clearly satisfied by the free theory⁵.

Similar to γ_1 we define [109] $\gamma_2 = \frac{\partial \ln Z_2}{\partial \ln m}$. In [106] it was shown that $Z_2 \propto \frac{\partial m^2}{\partial m_0^2}$ which means that $Z_2 \sim \frac{\partial m^2}{\partial \theta} \sim \theta^{2\nu-1}$ and from the definition of γ_2 it follows that

⁴Actually it will be analytic in $S(\pi)$ but to get the Borel transform $\tilde{F}_{\eta}(s)$ needs to be bounded at the origin so that $\tilde{F}_{\eta}(s)$ has to be bounded for all closed subsets of S which would not be the case with $S(\pi)$.

⁵The others: $\alpha = 2 - \nu d$, $\beta = \nu (d - 2 + \eta)/2$, $\delta = (d + 2 - \eta)/(d - 2 + \eta)$ are shown in [109] using the ϵ expansion.

 $Z_2 \sim \theta^{\nu \gamma_2(g_c)}$ in the infra-red limit, hence $\gamma_2(g_c) = 2 - \nu^{-1}$. The Callan–Symanzik equation for correlators $G_{n,l}^R(p)$ with *l* insertions of $\frac{1}{2}\varphi^2$ reads [109]

$$\left(-t\frac{\partial}{\partial t}+\beta(g)\frac{\partial}{\partial g}+\left[G_{n,l}(p)\right]+\frac{1}{2}n\gamma_{1}+l\gamma_{2}\right)G_{n,l}^{R}(tp,tq)=0$$
(6.12)

where $[G_{n,l}(p,q)] = [G_n(p)] - 2l = d - n(d+2)/2 - 2l$. Hence for $t \to 0$ at the critical point is [109]

$$G_{n,l}^{R}(tp, tq, m) \sim t^{d - \frac{1}{2}n(d+2-\eta) - \frac{l}{\nu}},$$
 (6.13)

and in the limit $t \to 0$ will

$$t\frac{\partial G_{2,1}^{R}(tp,tq,m)}{\partial t}/G_{2,1}^{R}(tp,tq,m) = -2 + \eta - \frac{1}{\nu},$$
(6.14)

so we define

$$\tilde{F}_{\nu}(t) = -\tilde{F}_{\eta}(t) + 4 + t \frac{\partial G_{2,1}^{R}(tp, -tp, q = 0, m)}{\partial t} / G_{2,1}^{R}(tp, -tp, q = 0, m).$$
(6.15)

Again using the homogeneity of $G_{2,1}$ we see that $\tilde{F}_{\nu}(t)$ can be rewritten as

$$\tilde{F}_{\nu}(t) = -\frac{m\frac{\partial}{\partial m}(G_{2,1}^{R}(tp, -tp, q=0, m)/G_{2}^{R}(tp, m))}{(G_{2,1}^{R}(tp, -tp, q=0, m)/G_{2}^{R}(tp, m))} = Z_{2}^{-1}m\frac{\partial Z_{2}}{\partial m},$$
(6.16)

which shows that $\lim_{t\to\infty} \tilde{F}_{\nu}(t) = 0$, again because Z_2 is a constant in this limit. The equation (6.15) shows that $\tilde{F}_{\nu}(s) = \tilde{F}_{\nu}(ts)|_{t=1}$ is analytic in $S(\pi - \epsilon')$ for all $\epsilon' \in (0, \pi)$. This follows from writing $G_{2,1}^R = G_{2,1}Z_1^{-1}Z_2^{-1}$ and using that $G_{2,1}(p, -p, q = 0) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial m_0^2}G_2(p)$ [109] and then rewriting in terms of renormalised quantities and doing the spectral representation. $\tilde{F}_{\nu}(s)$ then satisfies

$$\tilde{F}_{\nu}(s) \to \begin{cases} 2 - \frac{1}{\nu} & \text{for } s \to 0_+, \\ 0 & \text{for } s \to \infty. \end{cases}$$
(6.17)

6.3 The infra-red limit

The functions $\tilde{F}_{\eta}(g)$ and $\tilde{F}_{\nu}(g)$ have been calculated up to an amazing 7 loops in the coupling constant g. We will follow the convention of [111] where $\tilde{g} = \frac{3}{16\pi}g$ and



Figure 6.2: The first 6 orders of the perturbative β -function, the plot shows the dependence of the critical coupling on the order of perturbation theory.

 $\tilde{\beta}(\tilde{g}) = \frac{3}{16\pi}\beta(g)$ giving ± 1 as the first two coefficients in the $\tilde{\beta}$ function; we will use β, g to denote $\tilde{\beta}, \tilde{g}$ below to simplify the notation. The results are that [111]

$$\begin{split} \tilde{F}_{\eta}(g) &= 0.0109739369g^{2} + 0.0009142223g^{3} + 0.0017962229g^{4} \\ &- 0.0006536980g^{5} + 0.0013878101g^{6} - 0.001697694g^{7}, \\ \tilde{F}_{\nu}(g) &= \frac{1}{3}g - 0.0631001372g^{2} + 0.0452244754g^{3} - 0.0377233459g^{4} \\ &+ 0.0437466494g^{5} - 0.0589756313g^{6} + 0.09155179g^{7}, \\ \beta(g) &= -g + g^{2} - 0.4224965707g^{3} + 0.3510695978g^{4} \\ &- 0.3765268283g^{5} + 0.49554751g^{6} - 0.74968893g^{7}, \end{split}$$
(6.18)

where the beta-function has been calculated up to 6-loops [111, 112]. In figure 6.2 we plot the nth order perturbative β -function for $n = 1, \ldots, 6$: $\beta_n(g) = -g + \sum_{k=2}^{n+1} g^k \tilde{\beta}_k$.

The perturbative series for φ^4 theory was in [77, 78, 79] rigorously shown to be Borel summable in the coupling of order k = 1, so we set $F(s) = \tilde{F}(s^1)$. As discussed in chapter 4 (see (4.9)), the high order coefficients of the perturbative correlation functions $f(g) = \sum_{n} f_{n}g^{n}$ for large *n* are given as

$$f_n = c(-\tilde{b})^n \Gamma(1 + b_l + n)(1 + O(1/n))$$
(6.19)

where \tilde{b}, b_l, c were calculated in [67, 113]. $\tilde{b} = 0.14777422$ and it follows that the convergence radius of the Borel transform of f(g) is given by $b_s = 1/\tilde{b}$ with a singularity at $-1/\tilde{b}$. The critical exponents can now be obtained by first Borel transforming the series (6.18) and then analytically continuing them to \mathbb{R}_+ by either a conformal mapping or a Padé approximation. The Laplace transform can then be performed, e.g. numerically, and resummed series are thereby obtained. The first non-trivial zero of the resummed β -function on the real axis determines the critical coupling g_c , which substituted into the resummed $\tilde{F}_{\eta}(g)$, $\tilde{F}_{\nu}(g)$ gives an approximation for η and $2 - 1/\nu$. This procedure has some deficiencies, it is very sensitive to variations of g_c and the continuation with Padé approximation might introduce new poles at or near the real axis that will lead to artificially large contributions in the Laplace integral. Continuation with a conformal mapping might also lead to poles close to the positive real axis if there are sub-leading instanton contributions giving poles away from the negative real axis.

Here we will use the approximation developed in chapter 4 and move the scale dependence in $\tilde{F}_{\eta}(s)$, $\tilde{F}_{\nu}(s)$ into the running coupling constant and then get the infra-red limit as the limiting value of the Borel transform. An analytical continuation still has to be performed and we will use a conformal mapping that maps $s \to \infty$ to $s \to 1$. A final approximation is then to do a Padé approximation at s = 1. The advantage of this approach is that g_c does not have to be estimated and the Laplace integral is not calculated.

When $b_l > 0$ we want to perform a Borel-Leroy transform of order k, which replaces a formal series $\hat{f} = \sum_n f_n z^n$ with $\sum_n (f_n/\Gamma(1+b_l+n/k)z^n)$. Instead of (4.23) we then define

$$I(\rho) = \frac{\Gamma(1+b_l)}{\rho^{kb_l}} \frac{k}{2\pi i} \int_{\hat{C}} \frac{ds}{s} s^{kb_l} e^{(\rho/s)^k} F(s), \qquad (6.20)$$

this function will then have the limits $\lim_{\rho\to\infty} I(\rho) = F_{IR}$ and $\lim_{\rho\to0} I(\rho) = F_{UV}$ as before.

We introduce the scale parameter s via the exact running coupling $\bar{g}(s)$ $(s \to 0$ in the ultra-violet) then we know that $F_{\eta}(\bar{g}(s))$ and $F_{\nu}(\bar{g}(s))$ are asymptotic series in $\bar{g}(s)$. We now approximate the exact running coupling $\bar{g}(s)$ with the solution to

$$s\frac{d\bar{g}_n(s)}{ds} = -\beta_n(\bar{g}_n) \tag{6.21}$$

with the boundary condition $\bar{g}'_n(0) = 1$, where $\beta_n(g)$ is the perturbative β function to the nth order. $F_{\eta}(\bar{g}_n(s)), F_{\nu}(\bar{g}_n(s))$ are then asymptotic series in s, which we will write as $F(s) = \sum_m F_m s^m$. The Borel-Leroy transform given by (6.20) becomes

$$I(\rho, b_l, k) = \Gamma(1+b_l) \cdot \sum_{m=1}^{n+1} \frac{F_m \ \rho^m}{\Gamma(1+b_l+m/k)} = \sum_{m=1}^{n+1} I_m \rho^m.$$
(6.22)

As we are only working with a truncated series we will set k = 1 (only infinitesimally different from $k = 1 + \delta$, $\delta \ll 1$), note we are summing up to n + 1 as the nth order β function has n + 1 terms, and F(s) are known to the (n + 1)th order.

6.4 Conformal mapping and Padé approximation

Let us describe how we do the analytical continuation of the Borel transform to get its infra-red limit.

The Borel transform is analytic in a sector $S(\epsilon'')$ where $\epsilon'' \ll 1$. The series given by (6.22) will have a pole at the negative real axis for some value $\rho = -r_c$ ($r_c > 0$) determining its convergence radius.

6.4.1 Conformal mapping

We will now analytically continue $I(\rho)$ given by (6.22) doing the conformal transformation (as in [76])

$$t = \frac{\rho}{r_c + \rho}, \ \rho \notin (-\infty, -r_c], \quad (\rho = \frac{r_c t}{1 - t}),$$
 (6.23)

so that $\tilde{I}(t, b_l) = I(\frac{r_c t}{1-t}, b_l)$, and the limit $\rho \to \infty$ is replaced by $t \to 1$. Then $\tilde{I}(t) = I(\frac{r_c t}{1-t}) = \sum_{m=1}^{n+1} \tilde{I}_m t^m$. Using that $(1-y)^{-k} = (\sum_{m=0}^{\infty} y^m)^k = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \frac{(k+m-1)!}{(k-1)!(m)!} y^m$ it follows that $\tilde{I}_m = \sum_{j=1}^m (r_c)^j I_j \frac{(m-j+j-1)!}{(m-j)!(j-1)!}$ hence

$$\tilde{I}(t) = \sum_{m=1}^{n+1} \tilde{I}_m t^m, \quad \tilde{I}_m = \sum_{j=1}^m I_j r_c^j \binom{m-1}{j-1}.$$
(6.24)

If all poles of $I(\rho)$ lies in $(-\infty, -r_c]$ then $\tilde{I}(t)$ given by this series is convergent for $t \in [0, 1)$. In [114] it was argued that this is indeed the case for the φ^4 theory since all known instanton contributions have negative action leading to a Borel transform analytic in a cut plane with the singularity closest to the origin being given by the large order estimates. We want to evaluate this expression at the convergence radius t = 1 (where $\tilde{I}(t)$ is regular), to do this we will use Padé approximants [115, 116].

6.4.2 Padé approximation

In Padé approximation a function $f(z) = \sum c_n z^n$ is approximated by a rational fraction, called the Padé approximant [L/M], with polynomials of degree L and M in the numerator and denominator, and the constant 1 in the denominator

$$[L/M](z) = \frac{a_0 + a_1 z + \dots + a_L z^L}{1 + b_1 z + \dots + b_M z^M}.$$
(6.25)

If the n first terms in a power series expansion of the function are known then these coefficients are matched with the coefficients of the polynomials where $0 < L + N \leq n$, so that⁶

$$f(z) = [L/M](z) + O(z^{L+M+1}).$$
(6.26)

Because of the polynomial in the denominator [L/M] can describe functions with poles, and it can therefore serve as an approximation of the analytical continuation of $f = \sum c_n z^n$ outside of the convergence radius. An illustrative example [117] is the function

$$f(z) = \sqrt{\frac{1+2z}{1+z}} = 1 + \frac{1}{2}z - \frac{5}{8}z^2 + O(z^3), \qquad (6.27)$$

⁶See [115] for a discussion about uniqueness of Padé approximants and their convergence.

where we are interested in the value $\lim_{x\to\infty} f(x)$, $x \in \mathbb{R}$. The Taylor series diverges for $|z| > \frac{1}{2}$ (as f'(-1/2) diverges) and one way to get the limiting value $x \to \infty$ from the series data is to do an analytical continuation by performing a Taylor expansion around x_0 close to $\frac{1}{2}$ and so on, but it will take a long time to reach infinity. A more feasible way is to make the conformal mapping: $z = \frac{w}{1-2w}$, $w = \frac{z}{1+2z}$ sending $z \to \infty$ into $w \to \frac{1}{2}$. The Taylor expansion of f(z(w)) becomes $f(w) = (1-w)^{-1/2} =$ $1 + \frac{1}{2}w + \frac{3}{8}w^2 + O(w^3)$, which is convergent at $w = \frac{1}{2}$ and the first truncations gives: 1, 1.25, 1.34375. For the Padé approximation the first approximant easily follows from (6.27)

$$[1/1] = \frac{1 + \frac{7}{4}z}{1 + \frac{5}{4}z},\tag{6.28}$$

giving $\lim_{x\to\infty} [1/1](x) = 7/5 = 1.4$. This is less than 2% off the exact value at infinity $\lim_{x\to\infty} f(x) = \sqrt{2} = 1.4142356237$ (the next two diagonal approximants give 1.414201183 and 1.414213198).

The Padé table is a matrix with entries [L/M]. The Padé approximation is based on the conjecture that there is a subsequence of diagonal Padé approximants [L/L]which converge uniformly to the function, and this conjecture [118] has shown to hold in practice. The diagonal Padé approximants are conformally invariant and are therefore independent of r_c above. Generally we should use Padé approximants close to the diagonal. Note that according to the Padé conjecture one should still expect convergence of the Padé approximants even if there are a finite number of poles within |t| < 1, which is the case if not all poles of $I(\rho)$ are in $(-\infty, -r_c]$.

We also have to determine the values of r_c and b_l . Let us first note that from the boundary condition $\bar{g}'_n(0) = 1$ we have that $\bar{g}_n(s) = s + O(s^2)$ and in $F(s) = \sum_m F_m s^m$ we thus have that $F_m = \hat{F}_m + \cdots$ where \hat{F}_m is the *m*th coefficient of gin F(g), this means that the convergence radius of the transformed series cannot be larger than the convergence radius of the series in the coupling g, i.e. $0 < r_c \le b_s = 1/\tilde{b}$. Also we would suspect that $b_l \sim b'_l$, where b'_l is the Leroy parameter of the series in g. If b_l is chosen too large we will divide by more than the actual asymptotic increase in (6.24) and the approximation value will be too small, if b_l is chosen too small we expect to get a poor convergence in the Padé table. In the same way we expect the approximate value to be too small if r_c is chosen smaller than the actual convergence radius because the values we are calculating are increasing from zero. This is the behaviour we see in the tables and we estimate r_c and b_l to be respectively the largest and smallest value so that there is convergence in the Padé table.

From the asymptotic form of the β -function (6.19) it follows that it is alternating, and an approximation to a truncated alternating asymptotic series $\sum_{l=1}^{n} f_l$ is to use the series $\sum_{l=1}^{n} \tilde{f}_l$ where $\tilde{f}_l = f_l$ for l < n and $\tilde{f}_n = f_n/2$ [119]. We have also obtained the approximation where the perturbative β -function to the nth order (for n = 5and n = 6) is approximated in this way.

Using the β function with 1/2 times the last coefficient, and the choice of coefficients r_c, b_l mentioned above, i.e. $r_c = b_s$ and $b_l = 2.4$, we get the Padé table (the best convergence is with the 5th order expression)⁷

$$\left(\begin{array}{cccccccccccc} \cdot & \cdot & 0.407663 & 0.405138 & 0.404239 \\ \cdot & 0.362383^* & 0.405248 & 0.403736 \\ \cdot & 0.395111 & 0.404338 \\ \cdot & 0.400335 \\ \cdot & \end{array}\right), \quad (6.29)$$

for the function $F_{\nu}(s)$. Only numbers in the table for which there is convergence should be sampled [118], hence discarding 0.395111 gives $F_{\nu,IR} = 0.404 \pm 0.004$, where the error is the inter-tabular error for the points chosen (which is here larger than the Baker-Hunter error [118, 120]). With the usual β -function we get, with the

⁷The numbers marked with a * has a pole close to or in the interval (0,1) and are therefore discarded.

same values for r_c and b_l

(.		0.407663	0.405138	0.386709	0.396082	
	0.362383*	0.405248	0.408042	0.392824		
0.414164	0.395111	0.392686	0.395422			(6.3
0.377688	0.392075	0.394118				(0.5
0.4843^{*}	0.403122					
0.406194)

for the function $F_{\nu}(s)$ leading to $F_{\nu,IR} = 0.402 \pm 0.008$. Averaging over these two we get for the critical exponent $\nu = 0.626 \pm 0.003$. At this value of b_l and r_c we have the best convergence in the Padé table, a more conservative estimate of $F_{\nu,IR}$ is obtained by varying r_c and b_s in a region around these values and then calculate the corresponding Padé tables and sample the highest and lowest values for which there is some convergence in the Padé table. From this variation we find that $F_{\nu,IR} = 0.40 \pm 0.01$ leading to

$$\nu = 0.625 \pm 0.004. \tag{6.31}$$

Such a variation also has to be performed when expanding in the coupling as the asymptotic behaviour might not have been reached for the low number of terms available. In [121, 122] it was argued that the results obtained using Borel-Leroy transforms were very stable under variation of b_l and b_s in a wide range around the exact asymptotic values, and we see the same stability here.

For the other exponent η we get approximately the same Padé tables using either the β -function given in (6.18) or with a half times the last term, the convergent Padé table becomes



and we obtain the critical exponent $\eta = 0.0319 \pm 0.0010$, where $r_c = b_s$ and $b_l = 1.8$. Again varying around these values gives the estimate

$$\eta = 0.0315 \pm 0.0020. \tag{6.33}$$

These numbers should be compared with $\nu = 0.6304 \pm 0.0013$ [107], $\nu = 0.6300 \pm 0.0015$ [114], $\nu = 0.6290 \pm 0.0025$ (ϵ expansion [107]), $\nu = 0.6289 \pm 0.0008$ (Monte Carlo) and for the other exponent $\eta = 0.0355 \pm 0.0025$ [107], $\eta = 0.032 \pm 0.003$ [114], $\eta = 0.0360 \pm 0.0050$ (ϵ expansion [107]), $\eta = 0.0374 \pm 0.0014$ (Monte Carlo), $\eta = 0.0347 \pm 0.001$ (strong coupling [123]), most of these numbers are taken from [107].

The error in ν for our result is seen to be larger than the one in η in contrast to the errors from other methods. The reason for this is that we have chosen a conservative estimate where we have averaged over the results with two different β -functions (using its alternating behaviour). The two β -functions differ only in the 7th order term, and here the F_{η} term is about a factor 100 smaller than the F_{ν} term resulting in less sensitivity to this averaging. The errors obtained could most likely be lowered e.g. using one of the techniques from [114] or as in [116] using the information about the pole at r_c to obtain an extra order in the Padé table.

6.5 Conclusions

In this chapter the approximation method developed in chapter 4 has been used together with a conformal mapping and a Padé approximation to calculate the critical exponents of φ^4 theory in three dimensions. Our estimates of the critical exponents are within the errors of other, more elaborate approximations. In the usual evaluation one determines the value of the critical coupling g_c and then evaluates the resummed series at this point. The values then become very dependent on the estimate of g_c . One advantage of our method is that we do not have to estimate g_c , likewise we do not have to perform the Laplace integral, but instead the critical point is reached taking the limit of the Borel transform. The disadvantage of the method is that we do not have specific knowledge of the quantities r_c , b_l governing the asymptotic behaviour for the transformed series in the scale parameter. In the usual case of the perturbative expansion in the coupling these parameters are obtained from estimates of the higher order behaviour of perturbation theory. However, our results showed stability in a variation of these parameters around the values from high order estimates. 7

The exact renormalisation group with exponential interaction

In this chapter the exact renormalisation group equation is used to study the renormalisation group flow of a two dimensional theory.

The exact renormalisation group equation is a functional differential equation which gives a non-perturbative description of how the wilsonian effective action must vary when the cut-off changes so that the physics is invariant. It is derived by integrating out the ultra-violet degrees of freedom in the partition function. The equation is not solvable and has to be approximated.

We will do this by including in the wilsonian effective action only relevant operators together with a background charge at infinity. The motivation for studying this interaction is the renormalisation group flow between the unitary minimal models \mathcal{M}_m perturbed by $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ that we considered in chapter 5. Using the equivalence between the perturbed minimal models and the quantum group restricted sine-Gordon model, we will argue that this interaction describes the renormalisation group flow of the perturbed unitary minimal models.

The exact renormalisation group allows for a study of the renormalisation group flow of the perturbed model \mathcal{M}_m for all m, and not only in the limit $m \to \infty$ where the ultra-violet and infra-red fixed points approach each other in the coupling constant space as seen in chapter 5.

In the next section the Coulomb gas representation of the perturbed minimal models is described together with its realization as a quantum group restricted sine-Gordon model. Then the exact renormalisation group equation is introduced, and it is approximated by only allowing relevant operators in the effective action, which for the minimal models are given by exponential operators. The wilsonian effective potential does not contain any field derivatives so the approximation is similar to the local potential approximation. The non-linear term in the exact renormalisation group equation is approximated using the operator product expansion.

For the perturbed minimal models a renormalisation group equation is obtained where all higher order terms in the coupling are contained in the off-critical structure constant for the operator product expansion. This renormalisation group equation is valid for all m > 3, and in the perturbative limit $m \to \infty$ we show that it is equal to the perturbative renormalisation group equation.

7.1 Coulomb gas representation and quantum group restriction

We use the same notation as in chapter 5 for the minimal model \mathcal{M}_m and its primary fields. Recall from chapter 5 that the perturbed minimal model formally can be written as

$$S = \mathcal{M}_m + \lambda \int d^2 z \, \Phi_{(1,3)}(z,\bar{z}), \qquad (7.1)$$

with the correlators

$$\langle \mathcal{O}_1(x_1)\cdots\mathcal{O}_n(x_n)\rangle = \frac{\langle \mathcal{O}_1(x_1)\cdots\mathcal{O}_n(x_n)e^{-\lambda\int d^2z\Phi_{(1,3)}}\rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m}}{\langle e^{-\lambda\int d^2z\Phi_{(1,3)}}\rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m}},$$
(7.2)

and $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ has the renormalisation group eigenvalue $y = 2 - \Delta = \frac{4}{m+1}$.

7.1.1 The Coulomb gas representation

In the Coulomb gas [104, 105, 83] (or Feigin–Fuchs, Dotsenko–Fateev) representation the minimal model \mathcal{M}_m is realized as a lagrangian free field theory with a background charge $-2\alpha_0$ at infinity where $\alpha_0 > 0$. The action can then be written as¹

$$S = \frac{1}{8\pi} \int d^2x \sqrt{g(x)} (g^{\mu\nu}(x)\partial_\mu\phi(x)\partial_\nu\phi(x) + 2\sqrt{2}i\alpha_0\phi(x)R(x))$$
(7.3)

on the Riemann sphere $\mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$, which is the one point compactification of the complex plane with genus zero, R(x) is the scalar curvature. The primary fields are given by the vertex operators $V_{\alpha}(x) = e^{i\sqrt{2}\alpha\phi(x)}$. With a background charge the action is complex, but for specific choices of parameters in the theory α_0 and α , the theory becomes unitary and can be identified with the unitary minimal models \mathcal{M}_m .

The presence of a background charge changes the energy-momentum tensor from the free value (5.37) where $T = -\frac{1}{2}\partial\phi\partial\phi$. The new energy-momentum tensor directly follows from the definition (2.16) in chapter 2 and the usual formulas for the variation of the determinant of the metric δg and the scalar curvature δR . In complex coordinates the background charge adds a term $i\sqrt{2}\alpha_0\partial^2\phi$ [83], hence the energy-momentum tensor undergoes the transformation

$$T = -\frac{1}{2}\partial\phi\partial\phi \xrightarrow{-2\alpha_0} T = -\frac{1}{2}\partial\phi\partial\phi + i\sqrt{2}\alpha_0\partial^2\phi.$$
(7.4)

The corresponding change in the central charge from the free value c = 1 then follows from its definition (5.10) using that $-2\alpha_0^2 \partial_w \partial_z \langle \partial_z \phi(z) \partial_w \phi(w) \rangle = -\frac{24\alpha_0^2}{2(z-w)^4}$:

$$c = 1 - 24\alpha_0^2. \tag{7.5}$$

To match the value (5.45) for the minimal model then $\alpha_0 = 1/\sqrt{4m(m+1)}$ (for $\alpha_0 > 0$). The background charge changes the energy-momentum tensor and hence also the scaling behaviour of the theory. The conformal dimension of the vertex operator V_{α} becomes $h = \alpha^2 - 2\alpha\alpha_0$, which follows from the operator product

 $^{^{1}}$ We are here using the standard normalization used in the Coulomb gas representation which differs from the one in chapter 5 for the free boson.

expansion of TV_{α} . The background charge therefore breaks the symmetry between the operators V_{α} and $V_{-\alpha}$, and instead the operators V_{α} and $V_{2\alpha_0-\alpha}$ now have the same conformal dimension.

The Ward identity associated with the transformation $\phi \to \phi + a$, $a \in \mathbb{R}$ (which is not a symmetry for $\alpha_0 \neq 0$) implies that the overall charge of a non-vanishing correlation function $\langle V_{\alpha_1}(x_1) \cdots V_{\alpha_n}(x_n) \rangle$ must satisfy that [84]²

$$\sum_{j=1}^{n} \alpha_j = 2\alpha_0, \tag{7.6}$$

so the overall charge vanishes. To get a consistent theory screening charges must be inserted into correlators so that this condition holds, but these charges must have a vanishing conformal dimension so the conformal properties of the correlators are left unchanged. Non-local screening charges³ can be constructed as $Q_{\pm} = \int d^2 z V_{\alpha_{\pm}}$ which is conformally invariant if $h_{\alpha_{\pm}} = 1$, so that $\alpha_{-}\alpha_{+} = -1$ and $\alpha_{-} + \alpha_{+} =$ $2\alpha_{0}$. We choose $\alpha_{-} < 0$, hence from the constraint on α_{0} above it follows that $\alpha_{-} = -\sqrt{\frac{m}{m+1}}$. For the equation (7.6) to be satisfied for the four point function $\langle V_{\alpha}V_{2\alpha_{0}-\alpha}V_{\alpha}V_{\alpha}\rangle$ it must be replaced with $\langle Q_{+}^{m}Q_{-}^{n}V_{\alpha}V_{2\alpha_{0}-\alpha}V_{\alpha}V_{\alpha}\rangle$, for appropriate $m, n \in \mathbb{N}$ so that $2\alpha + m\alpha_{+} + n\alpha_{-} = 0$. This shows that 2α has to be an integer combination of α_{+} and α_{-} , we will write it as $\alpha_{r,s} = \frac{1-r}{2}\alpha_{+} + \frac{1-s}{2}\alpha_{-}$. To correspond with the unitary minimal models it turns out⁴ that $1 \leq r < m$, $1 \leq s < m + 1$. It then follows that the vertex operator $V_{\alpha_{r,s}}(x) = e^{i\sqrt{2}\alpha_{r,s}\phi(x)}$ has the conformal dimension

$$h_{r,s} = \bar{h}_{r,s} = \alpha_{r,s}(\alpha_{r,s} - 2\alpha_0) = \frac{1}{4}(r\alpha_+ + s\alpha_-)^2 - \alpha_0^2 = \frac{(r(m+1) - sm)^2 - 1}{4m(m+1)},$$
(7.7)

²This can also be shown using that the correlators are independent of the large scale cut-off [83].

³The Coulomb gas representation can be given a BRST formulation [124], where the BRST charge is given in terms of the screening operators Q_{\pm} .

⁴This follows from the values of the operator product coefficients of the minimal models because the three point function of vertex operators vanishes when the corresponding operator product coefficient vanishes.

which is recognized as the conformal dimension (5.46) of the primary field $\Phi_{(r,s)}$. Hence, the primary fields $\Phi_{(r,s)}$ are represented by the vertex operators $V_{\alpha_{r,s}}(x) = V_{(r,s)} = e^{i\sqrt{2}\alpha_{r,s}\phi(x)}$, and in particular is $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ represented by $V_{(1,3)} = e^{-i\sqrt{2}\alpha_{-}\phi}$.

7.1.2 The quantum group restricted sine-Gordon model

In [125, 126, 127, 128, 129, 130] it was observed that the perturbed unitary minimal model (7.1) is equivalent to a quantum group restriction of the sine-Gordon theory. The sine-Gordon theory⁵ is given by the euclidean $action^{6}$

$$S_{SG} = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^2x \left(\frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi(x) \partial^\mu \phi(x) - 4\pi \tilde{\lambda} \cos(\beta \phi(x)/\sqrt{4\pi}) \right).$$
(7.8)

In two dimensions all polynomial interactions are super-renormalisable and the degree of divergence for a graph G becomes $\delta(G) = 2 - 2V$ where V is the number of vertices. The tadpole diagrams with only one vertex and k external legs and lloops for $k, l \in \mathbb{N}$ are then divergent as $\delta(G) = 0$. The theory is renormalised by adding counterterms and summing over all tadpoles, and this directly leads, as first shown by Coleman [18]⁷, to a multiplicative renormalisation of $\tilde{\lambda}$, where $\tilde{\lambda} \to 0$ in the ultra-violet limit that therefore corresponds to a free theory with c = 1. β and ϕ are not renormalised.

The sine-Gordon model has the infinite dimensional quantum group symmetry

⁵The sine-Gordon theory has been used to model phenomena in condensed matter physics, e.g. crystal dislocations, magnetic flux in Josephson lines and magnetic crystals [69].

⁶Note that β is here a parameter and not a beta function.

⁷In [18] it was shown that the energy is unbounded from below for $\beta^2 > 8\pi$, and for $\beta^2 < 8\pi$, which is the case we are considering, the theory is equivalent to the massive Thirring model which is a fermionic theory. The case of $\beta^2 > 8\pi$ is treated in [131, 132], here β is also renormalised and this is used to establish a flow between infra-red and ultra-violet theories, but in this case no identification of the Hilbert space of states exists between the restricted sine-Gordon model and the perturbed unitary minimal models. The sine-Gordon model is an integrable system, that has a spectrum consisting of solitons and anti-solitons, with topological charge $\pm n, n \in \mathbb{N}$, and their bound states breathers (or kinks), the number of boundstates is $[\pi/\chi] = [\frac{8\pi}{\beta^2}] - 1$ where $\chi = \frac{\pi\beta^2}{8\pi - \beta^2}$ [68, 127].

 $U_q(\widehat{sl_2})$ [129, 126] where q is a root of unity⁸ $q = e^{-i8\pi^2/\beta^2}$. In [129, 126] this was shown creating four non-local charges $\tilde{Q}_{\pm}, \tilde{\tilde{Q}}_{\pm}$ that together with the topological charge \mathcal{T} generate the quantum group $U_q(\widehat{sl_2})$, which has two $U_q(sl_2)$ sub-algebras generated by $\{\tilde{Q}_+, \tilde{\tilde{Q}}_-, \mathcal{T}\}$ and $\{\tilde{Q}_-, \tilde{\tilde{Q}}_+, \mathcal{T}\}$.

In [126, 130] the quantum group restriction of the sine-Gordon model is performed by adding a background charge $-2\alpha_0$ at infinity. The background charge will again change the energy-momentum tensor as in (7.4) and the two vertex operators in the potential will now scale differently⁹. Two different couplings are needed, we will write this as

$$\tilde{\lambda}\cos(\beta\phi/\sqrt{4\pi}) \xrightarrow{-2\alpha_0} \frac{\tilde{\lambda}}{2} e^{-i\beta\phi/\sqrt{4\pi}} + \frac{\tilde{\lambda}_-}{2} e^{i\beta\phi/\sqrt{4\pi}}.$$
(7.9)

Analogous to the Coulomb gas representation for the minimal models the background charge α_0 is determined from the central charge $c = 1 - 24\alpha_0^2 = 1 - \frac{6}{m(m+1)}$. β is chosen from the requirement that $e^{i\beta\phi/\sqrt{4\pi}}$ becomes marginal (i.e. h = 1) so that it survives in the ultra-violet limit. $\beta = \sqrt{8\pi}\alpha_- = -\sqrt{8\pi}\sqrt{m/(m+1)}$. The conformal dimension of $e^{-i\beta\phi/\sqrt{4\pi}}$ is then $h = \frac{m}{m+1} - \frac{1}{m+1} = \frac{m-1}{m+1} = h_{(1,3)}$ and $e^{-i\beta\phi/\sqrt{4\pi}}$ represents the perturbing operator $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ ¹⁰. Only relevant operators are included in the effective action, as explained below, so the marginal screening term $e^{i\beta\phi/\sqrt{4\pi}}$ (which is needed when considering correlators) is excluded.

In [126, 129, 130] it was argued that the perturbed unitary minimal model (7.1) is a quantum group restriction of the sine-Gordon theory, i.e. a massive theory, with the coupling taken as $\tilde{\lambda} = -\lambda$ in (7.8). Here we are only interested in the massless

 $^{{}^{8}}U_{q}(\widehat{sl_{2}})$ has special representations when q is a root of unity [130]. A quantum group is a Hopf algebra with a non-trivial co-multiplication, see [129] for a definition and a review of $U_{q}(\widehat{sl_{2}})$.

⁹The quantum group restriction can be described in terms of cohomology in analogy with the BRST description of minimal models [126]. When the background charge is added the quantum group symmetry is reduced by breaking the $\phi \to -\phi$ symmetry in the potential. Choosing the background charge so that \tilde{Q}_+ becomes a marginal screening operator the quantum group restriction is then defined by gauging away the $U_q(sl_2)$ sub-algebra containing \tilde{Q}_+ .

¹⁰The ultra-violet limit of the restricted sine-Gordon model is a Liouville theory which is equivalent to the unitary minimal models \mathcal{M}_m , the perturbed minimal models can therefore also be seen as a perturbed Liouville theory [133].

flow to \mathcal{M}_{m-1} ($\lambda > 0$ in [94]) where the limit $m \to \infty$ is given by perturbation theory. We will therefore take the opposite sign, $\tilde{\lambda} = k\lambda$ for some $k \in \mathbb{R}_+$, and in the exact renormalisation group equation we consider the action

$$S = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^2x \sqrt{g(x)} \left(\frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi(x) \partial^\mu \phi(x) - 4\pi \frac{\tilde{\lambda}}{2} e^{-i\beta\phi(x)/\sqrt{4\pi}} + \sqrt{2}i\alpha_0 \phi(x)R(x) \right)$$
(7.10)

as a model for the perturbed unitary minimal model (7.1). The operator $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ in (7.1) is normalized as in [134] so that the ultra-violet limit of correlators in the perturbed theory (7.2) equals the corresponding correlators in \mathcal{M}_m where we take $\langle \Phi_{(1,3)}(1)\Phi_{(1,3)}(0)\rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m} = 1$. The scaling dimensions of $V_{(1,3)}$ and $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ are equal so the normalization constant $N_{(1,3)}$ relating them is therefore independent of $\tilde{\lambda}$. $V_{(1,3)} = N_{(1,3)}\Phi_{(1,3)}$ and we therefore take $\tilde{\lambda} = N_{(1,3)}^{-1}\lambda$. The normalization constant is given by the formulas in [135, 104, 105]

$$N_{(1,3)}^{2} = 2\pi^{2} \frac{\gamma(1-\alpha_{-}^{2})^{3} \gamma(3\alpha_{-}^{2}-1)}{(1-2\alpha_{-}^{2})(2\alpha_{-}^{2}-1)}$$
(7.11)

where $\gamma(x) = \Gamma(x)/\Gamma(1-x)$ and we use the normal convention that $N_{(1,3)} > 0$.

In [136] the exact relation between the sine-Gordon coupling λ (i.e. in the theory (7.8) without a background charge where the scaling dimensions of $\cos(\beta\phi/\sqrt{4\pi})$ and $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ differ) and λ was established $\lambda = \frac{\pi \tilde{\lambda}^2 (\gamma(1-\beta^2/(8\pi))^3 \gamma(3\beta^2/(8\pi)))^{1/2}}{4(1-\beta^2/(4\pi))(3\beta^2/(8\pi))}$ using the Coulomb gas representation of minimal models [83]. We do not use this representation here because we want the ultra-violet limit to be \mathcal{M}_m , and not as in the sine-Gordon model where it is the free theory with c = 1, also we want a linear relation between λ and $\tilde{\lambda}$.

For a non-zero background charge the scaling of the theory is not determined by the usual beta function related to the ultra-violet divergences, but by a generalized beta function as discussed in [131]. (We denote the beta function β to avoid confusion with the parameter β in (7.8)). The generalized β -function takes into account the change in the energy-momentum tensor when the background charge is added.

7 The exact renormalisation group with exponential interaction

To lowest order the background charge adds a term [131]

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}(\tilde{\lambda}) = \Lambda \frac{\partial \tilde{\lambda}}{\partial \Lambda} \to \tilde{\boldsymbol{\beta}}(\tilde{\lambda}) = \boldsymbol{\beta}(\tilde{\lambda}) - 2 \cdot 2\alpha_{(1,3)}\alpha_0 \tilde{\lambda}$$
(7.12)

to the normal perturbative β -function for the interaction term $\tilde{\lambda}e^{i\sqrt{2}\alpha_{(1,3)}\phi(x)}$ in the action. This follows from the definition of the renormalisation group eigenvalue $(3.14)^{11}$ which says that $\beta = -y\tilde{\lambda} + O(\tilde{\lambda}^2)$, and when the background charge is added $y \rightarrow y + 2 \cdot 2\alpha_{(1,3)}\alpha_0$ because of the change in the scaling dimension of $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ given by (7.7): $\Delta \rightarrow \Delta - 2 \cdot 2\alpha_{(1,3)}\alpha_0$. We discuss below how this term appears in the exact renormalisation group.

7.2 The exact renormalisation group equation

The wilsonian effective action at the scale Λ is obtained by 'integrating out' momentum modes between Λ and Λ_0 , where Λ_0 is the fundamental wilsonian cut-off. The exact renormalisation group equation¹² then describes how the effective action must change so as to describe the same physics when Λ changes. Following Polchinski [54], the partition function is written as

$$Z(\Lambda) = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \ e^{-S[\phi]} = \int \mathcal{D}\phi \ e^{-\frac{1}{2}\int \frac{d^2p}{(2\pi)^2}\phi(p)\phi(-p)p^2K^{-1}(p^2/\Lambda^2) - V(\phi,\Lambda)}$$
(7.13)

in a continuum formulation with the cut-off propagator $\frac{K(p^2/\Lambda^2)}{p^2}$. $K(p^2/\Lambda^2)$ is constant for small $s = p^2/\Lambda^2$ and vanishes faster than any power for large s. The physics must be independent of the choice of effective scale Λ so that $\Lambda \frac{d}{d\Lambda}Z(\Lambda) = 0$, and performing the differentiation in (7.13) it follows that

$$\Lambda \frac{d}{d\Lambda} Z(\Lambda) = \langle \left(-\frac{1}{2} \int \frac{d^2 p}{(2\pi)^2} \phi(p) \phi(-p) p^2 \Lambda \frac{\partial K^{-1}(p^2/\Lambda^2)}{\partial \Lambda} - \Lambda \frac{\partial V(\phi, \Lambda)}{\partial \Lambda}\right) \rangle = 0.$$
(7.14)

¹¹With a sign change as we are here considering changes in the momentum space. ¹²Or the Wilson-Polchinski renormalisation group equation [137, 54, 41].

When the wilsonian effective potential obeys the operator equation

$$\Lambda \frac{\partial}{\partial \Lambda} V(\phi, \Lambda) = \frac{1}{2} \int d^d x d^d y \int \frac{d^d k}{(2\pi)^d} e^{ik(x-y)} \frac{2K'(k^2/\Lambda^2)}{\Lambda^2} \left(\frac{\delta^2 V}{\delta\phi(x)\delta\phi(y)} - \frac{\delta V}{\delta\phi(x)} \frac{\delta V}{\delta\phi(y)} \right)$$
(7.15)

where $K'(k^2/\Lambda^2) = \frac{dK(s)}{ds}|_{s=k^2/\Lambda^2}$, the partition function then changes as a total derivative up to a field independent term [54], and equation (7.14) is satisfied

$$\Lambda \frac{d}{d\Lambda} Z = \int d^2 p \int D\phi \frac{\delta}{\delta \phi} \Psi = 0,$$

$$\Psi = \Lambda \frac{\partial K(p^2/\Lambda^2)}{\partial \Lambda} \left(-\phi(p) K^{-1}(p^2/\Lambda^2) + \frac{(2\pi)^d}{2} p^{-2} \frac{\delta S}{\delta \phi(-p)} \right) e^{-S}.$$
(7.16)

(7.15) is the exact renormalisation group equation¹³. It is a non-linear functional equation in $V(\phi, \Lambda)$ which is not directly solvable and approximations must be made, either by truncating the operator space or by performing a derivative expansion [139].

7.2.1 Truncating the operator space

We will make a truncation in the operator space. Firstly, we will only consider the relevant operators, this approximation becomes exact in the infra-red ($\Lambda \ll \Lambda_0$) where the effective theory is determined by the relevant (and marginal) couplings. Secondly, we saw in chapter 5 that the primary fields { $\Phi_{(1,2p+1)}$ } with $0 \leq p \leq [\frac{m-1}{2}]$ form a sub-algebra in \mathcal{M}_m , and there is therefore a renormalisation group flow from the minimal model \mathcal{M}_m spanned by these operators. When considering perturbations with operators in a sub-algebra, all divergences that arise away from the fixed point will be contained in this sub-algebra, and this shows that there is a renormalisation group flow in the sub-space of the corresponding couplings. The operator structure at the non-trivial ultra-violet fixed point thereby determines the renormalisation group flow.

 $^{^{13}}$ See [138] for a recent review of the exact renormalisation group equation. A constructive proof was given by Zinn-Justin in [38] by explicitly integrating out the high momentum modes in the partition function and observing how the potential then changes under an infinitesimal change in the cut-off.

7 The exact renormalisation group with exponential interaction

In the sub-algebra $\{\Phi_{(1,2p+1)}\}$ only $\Phi_{(1,1)} = 1$ and $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ are relevant fields¹⁴. The exact renormalisation group is only determined up to a field independent term, so we will only consider perturbations with respect to $\Phi_{(1,3)}$. None of the relevant operators $V_{(1,n)}$ contain any derivatives in ϕ , so the situation is similar to the local potential approximation of the exact renormalisation group equation. The local potential approximation is the lowest order term in a derivative expansion of $V = V(\Lambda, \phi, \partial \phi, ...)$ [140, 141]. The second order term containing derivatives $f(\Lambda)(\partial \phi)^2$ leads to a renormalisation of ϕ and an anomalous dimension $\eta > 0$. In our approximation there are no derivatives in ϕ because we only keep relevant operators, and ϕ is not renormalised in the sine-Gordon model. In this approximation the first term in (7.15) can be rewritten [140, 141] as

$$\frac{1}{\Lambda^2} \int \frac{d^2k}{(2\pi)^2} K'(k^2/\Lambda^2) \int d^2x \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{V}}{\partial \phi \partial \phi}(x) = -k_1 \int d^2x \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{V}}{\partial \phi \partial \phi}(x)$$
(7.17)

where $\mathcal{V}(x)$ is the potential density $V = \int d^2 x \mathcal{V}(x)$, and $k_1 = -\int \frac{d^2 k}{(2\pi)^2} K'(k^2) > 0$ as $K(k^2)$ is decreasing. In the local potential approximation [142, 140, 141, 143] the second non-local term in (7.15)

$$-\frac{1}{\Lambda^2} \int d^2x \int d^2y \int \frac{d^2k}{(2\pi)^2} K'(k^2/\Lambda^2) e^{ik(x-y)} \frac{\partial \mathcal{V}}{\partial \phi(x)} \frac{\partial \mathcal{V}}{\partial \phi(y)}$$
(7.18)

is approximated by $k_2 \int d^2 x (\frac{\partial \mathcal{V}}{\partial \phi(x)})^2$ where $k_2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$ depends on the cut-off function K(s). This is a good approximation in the ultra-violet limit $\Lambda \to \infty$ [143] where $\int \frac{d^2 k}{(2\pi)^2} K'(k^2/\Lambda^2) e^{ik(x-y)} \to K'(0) \int \frac{d^2 k}{(2\pi)^2} e^{ik(x-y)} = K'(0) \delta^2(x-y)$. We consider the operator version of (7.15) and a different approximation therefore has to be used for the term (7.18) otherwise divergences will appear in the operator product $\frac{\partial \mathcal{V}}{\partial \phi(x)} \frac{\partial \mathcal{V}}{\partial \phi(x)}$, whereas (7.15) is finite for $\Lambda < \infty$. The correct form of the approximation in the operator in the operator is (3.12)

$$\mathcal{O}_i(x)\mathcal{O}_j(y) \sim \sum_k |x|^{\Delta_k - \Delta_i - \Delta_j} \tilde{C}_{ij}^k(\tilde{\lambda}, \Lambda)\mathcal{O}_k(y), \qquad (7.19)$$

¹⁴The operator $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ does not mix with other relevant operators off criticality [94, 81].

7 The exact renormalisation group with exponential interaction

where $\mathcal{O}_k(y)$ is a complete set of local scaling fields. The non-local term (7.18) then takes the form

$$\int d^2x \mathcal{O}(x) \int d^2y \int \frac{d^2k}{(2\pi)^2} e^{ik(x-y)} K'(k^2/\Lambda^2) h(|x-y|^2)$$
(7.20)

for some $h(|x-y|^2)$ and operator $\mathcal{O}(x)$. $\delta^d(x)$ is the Fourier transformation of 1 which shows that $\delta^2(x) = \frac{1}{\pi} \delta(|x|^2)$, and we use this identity to write the ultra-violet limit $\Lambda \to \infty$ of the k integral as $-\int \frac{d^2k}{(2\pi)^2} e^{ik(x-y)} K'(k^2/\Lambda^2) \to k_2 \delta(|x-y|^2)$ where again $k_2 \in \mathbb{R}_+$ depends on the choice of K(s). For finite Λ this expression is approximately $k_2 \delta(|x-y|^2 - a/\Lambda^2)$ where $a \in \mathbb{R}_+$ depends on K(s). The cut-off dependence in ais removed by redefining $\Lambda^2 \to a\Lambda^2$, and the approximation becomes

$$-\int \frac{d^2k}{(2\pi)^2} e^{ik(x-y)} K'(k^2/\Lambda^2) = k_2 \,\,\delta(|x-y|^2 - \Lambda^{-2}) \tag{7.21}$$

in $(7.18)^{15}$. If the effective potential is written as $V = \tilde{\lambda}^i \int d^2 x \mathcal{O}_i(x)$, where $[\tilde{\lambda}^i] = y^i > 0$, then (7.15) becomes using (7.17) and the operator product expansion

$$\frac{k_1}{k_2} \int d^2 x \Lambda \frac{d}{d\Lambda} \mathcal{V}(\phi, \Lambda) = -\frac{k_1}{k_2} \int d^2 x \frac{\partial^2 \mathcal{V}(\phi, \Lambda)}{\partial \phi \partial \phi} \\
+ \frac{k_1}{k_2} \frac{\pi}{\Lambda^2} \int d^2 x \sum_{i,j,k} \tilde{\lambda}^i \tilde{\lambda}^j \Lambda^{\Delta'_i + \Delta'_j - \Delta'_k} \tilde{C}_{ij}^{\prime k}(\tilde{\lambda}, \Lambda) \mathcal{O}_k^{\prime}(x).$$
(7.22)

Here V and ϕ have been rescaled: $V \to \frac{k_1}{k_2}V$, $\phi \to \sqrt{k_1}\phi$ and Δ'_i and \tilde{C}'_{ij}^k are the scaling dimension and structure constant for the field $\mathcal{O}'_i = \frac{\partial \mathcal{O}_i}{\partial \phi}$. If \mathcal{O}_i is a vertex operator then $\Delta' = \Delta$, $\tilde{C}'_{ij} \propto \tilde{C}^k_{ij}$ and $\mathcal{O}'_i \propto \mathcal{O}_i$. It follows from (7.22) that the implicit dependence in the choice of cut-off function K(s) contained in k_1 and k_2 drops out [140, 141]. The renormalisation group equation is usually written in terms of dimensionless couplings $\tilde{g}^i = \Lambda^{-y_i} \tilde{\lambda}^i$ so that $V = \tilde{g}^i \Lambda^2 \int d^2x \tilde{\mathcal{O}}_i$ where $[\tilde{\mathcal{O}}_i] = 0$.

¹⁵Adding a function $f(|x-y|^2, 1/\Lambda^2)$ satisfying $f \to 0$ for $\Lambda \to \infty$ corresponds to a higher order derivative expansion in ϕ [143] and it is therefore neglected in the approximation considered here where there are no derivatives in ϕ .
(7.22) then becomes

$$\Lambda^{2} \int d^{2}x \Lambda \frac{\partial \tilde{g}^{i}(\Lambda)}{\partial \Lambda} \tilde{\mathcal{O}}_{i} = -2\Lambda^{2} \int d^{2}x \tilde{g}^{i} \tilde{\mathcal{O}}_{i} - \Lambda^{2} \int d^{2}x \tilde{g}^{i} \frac{\partial \tilde{\mathcal{O}}_{i}}{\partial \phi \partial \phi} + \pi \Lambda^{2} \int d^{2}x \sum_{i,j,k} \tilde{g}^{i} \tilde{g}^{j} \tilde{C}_{ij}^{\prime k} \tilde{\mathcal{O}}_{k}^{\prime}.$$
(7.23)

For the perturbed minimal models we will use the action (7.10), and for the moment neglect the curvature term. (7.23) then becomes

$$\int d^2x e^{-i\beta\phi/\sqrt{4\pi}} \left(\Lambda \frac{\partial \tilde{g}}{\partial \Lambda} + 2\tilde{g}(\Lambda) + \tilde{g}(\Lambda)(\frac{-i\beta}{\sqrt{4\pi}})^2 + \pi \frac{\tilde{g}(\Lambda)^2}{2} \tilde{C}^{\Phi}_{\Phi\Phi}(\tilde{g}(\Lambda),\Lambda)(\frac{-i\beta}{\sqrt{4\pi}})^2\right) = 0,$$

up to field independent and irrelevant terms. Introducing the dimensionless variable $t = \ln \frac{\Lambda_0}{\Lambda}$ (and $\tilde{x} = \Lambda x$) the renormalisation group equation for \tilde{g} can then be written as

$$\frac{\partial \tilde{g}(t)}{\partial t} = \dot{\tilde{g}} = 2\tilde{g}(t) - \frac{2m}{m+1}\tilde{g}(t) - \pi \frac{m}{m+1}\tilde{g}(t)^2 \tilde{C}^{\Phi}_{\Phi\Phi}(\tilde{g}(t), t).$$
(7.24)

Adding the additional term (7.12) from the background charge $2 \cdot 2\alpha_{(1,3)}\alpha_0 \tilde{g}(t) = \frac{2}{m+1}\tilde{g}(t)$ gives

$$\dot{\tilde{g}}(t) = \frac{4}{m+1}\tilde{g}(t) - \pi \frac{m}{m+1}\tilde{C}_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi}(\tilde{g}(t),t)\tilde{g}(t)^2 = y\tilde{g}(t) - \pi\tilde{C}_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi}(\tilde{g}(t),t)\tilde{g}(t)^2 \frac{m}{m+1}.$$
(7.25)

The contribution from the background charge to the scaling behaviour can be incorporated directly into the exact renormalisation group equation if the curvature term in (7.10) is taken into account.

7.2.2 Incorporating the background charge

The action (7.10) is defined on the Riemann sphere $\mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$ where all the curvature is situated at infinity so that the topological invariant $\int d^2 \tilde{x} \sqrt{g(\tilde{x})} R(\tilde{x}) = 8\pi$ is satisfied. The Riemann surface $\mathbb{C} \cup \{\infty\}$ cannot be covered by a single coordinate chart, one chart is needed for the flat space and another in the neighborhood of infinity. We take polar coordinates in flat space $x = (r \sin \theta, r \cos \theta)$ and define the contribution from infinity as in [144] by a limit value. We consider the theory on a disk Γ with radius $r \to \infty$ so that all curvature is at the boundary $\partial\Gamma$. From the Gauss-Bonnet theorem $\lim_{r\to\infty} \int_{\partial\Gamma} d\theta \ rR(r) = 8\pi$ so that $R(r) = \frac{4}{r}$ on $\partial\Gamma$. We define as in [144] the contribution from infinity to be $\phi_{\infty} = \lim_{r\to\infty} \frac{1}{2\pi r} \int_{\partial\Gamma} dl \ \phi = \lim_{r\to\infty} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial\Gamma} d\theta \ \phi$ and similarly for the vertex operators. The effect of the background term is seen by evaluating the exact renormalisation group equation at infinity where the curvature is non-vanishing. Hence we replace $\int d^2x$ in (7.23) by $\lim_{r\to\infty} \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial\Gamma} d\theta$. Only the term $\frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi} \frac{\partial V}{\partial \phi}$ in the exact renormalisation group equation (7.15) will give an additional term proportional to $e^{-i\beta\phi/\sqrt{4\pi}}$ when the background charge is added. This term becomes

$$\begin{split} \lim_{r \to \infty} \frac{-1}{2\pi} \int_{\partial \Gamma} d\theta \int d^2 y \delta(|x-y|^2 - \Lambda^{-2}) \frac{2^2 (\sqrt{2})^2 (i)^2 \alpha_0 \alpha_{(1,3)}}{8\pi} r R(r) e^{i\sqrt{2}\alpha_{(1,3)}\phi(y)} \tilde{g}(t) \\ &= (2)^3 \alpha_0 \alpha_{(1,3)} \tilde{g}(t) \lim_{r \to \infty} \int_{\partial \Gamma} \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} \int \frac{d\theta'}{2\pi} \int \frac{d(r')^2}{2} \delta((r')^2 - \Lambda^{-2}) e^{i\sqrt{2}\alpha_{(1,3)}\phi(x-y')} \\ &\approx 2^2 \alpha_0 \alpha_{(1,3)} \tilde{g}(t) \lim_{r \to \infty} \int_{\partial \Gamma} \frac{d\theta}{2\pi} e^{i\sqrt{2}\alpha_{(1,3)}\phi(x)} = 2^2 \alpha_0 \alpha_{(1,3)} \tilde{g}(t) V_{(1,3)}(\infty). \end{split}$$

The second to last equation holds in the limit $r \to \infty$ where $r \gg \Lambda^{-1}$. When the coefficient of $e^{-i\beta\phi/\sqrt{4\pi}}$ from this term is added to (7.24) then (7.25) is again obtained, but it now holds to all orders in the coupling \tilde{g} .

This shows how the change in scaling behaviour due to the background charge is seen in the exact renormalisation group equation when it is evaluated at a point with non-zero curvature. Equation (7.25) is then valid to all orders in perturbation theory for the chosen truncation of the operator space. Hence, in

$$\dot{\tilde{g}}(t) = y\tilde{g}(t) - \pi \tilde{C}^{\Phi}_{\Phi\Phi}(\tilde{g}(t), t)\tilde{g}(t)^2 \frac{m}{m+1}$$
(7.26)

higher order terms appear via the off-critical structure constant $\tilde{C}_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi}(\tilde{g}(t),t)$. The structure constant $\tilde{C}_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi}(\tilde{g}(t),t)$ is regular in the coupling \tilde{g} [145, 146, 147]. The wilsonian effective action (7.10) is for zero coupling equal to the Coulomb gas representation (7.3) of the minimal model \mathcal{M}_m . The structure constant therefore has the following expansion $\tilde{C}_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi}(\tilde{g}(t),t) = \tilde{C}_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi} + O(\tilde{g}(t))$, where $\tilde{C}_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi}$ is the structure constant for the vertex operators $V_{(1,3)}$ in the minimal model \mathcal{M}_m . $V_{(1,3)}(1)V_{(1,3)}(0) =$ $1 + \tilde{C}_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi}V_{(1,3)}(0) + \cdots$ and the structure constant for $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ is thus $C_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi} = N_{(1,3)}^{-1}\tilde{C}_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi}$ [135, 104], which is given in (5.58). $\tilde{C}_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi}(\tilde{g}(t), t)$ can in principle be calculated in conformal perturbation theory [147, 145, 146] for strictly relevant perturbations (y > 0), and for small t it is given by [147]

$$\tilde{C}^{\Phi}_{\Phi\Phi}(\tilde{g}) = \tilde{C}^{\Phi}_{\Phi\Phi} - \tilde{g}\pi \int' d^2 z \langle V_{(1,3)}(\infty) V_{(1,3)}(z) V_{(1,3)}(1) V_{(1,3)}(0) \rangle_{\mathcal{M}_m} + \mathcal{O}(\tilde{g}^3).$$
(7.27)

The four-point function is the first non-trivial correlator and it can be evaluated by pairing the fields and inserting the short distance expansion. There is then a crossing symmetry and this leads to the bootstrap equation for the structure constants which expresses the associativity of the operator algebra. In the Coulomb gas representation monodromy invariance of physical correlators is used to get the form of the four-point function which is written in terms of structure constants and conformal blocks. Unfortunately no closed form has been found for the conformal blocks with two screening charges $(\langle V_{(1,3)}V_{(1,3)}V_{(1,3)}\rangle)$ requires the screening Q_{-}^2 for the overall charge to be $2\alpha_0$. When only one screening Q_{-} is needed a closed expression of the conformal blocks can be found in terms of hyper-geometric functions using Euler's integral representation [84]. In the marginal case y = 0 the four-point functions of z [42], but conformal perturbation theory is only defined for strictly relevant perturbations with y > 0.

It follows from (7.26) by inserting $\tilde{C}_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi}(\tilde{g}(t),t) = \tilde{C}_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi} + O(\tilde{g}(t))$ that the infra-red fixed point coupling vanishes in the limit $m \to \infty$, and this limit can therefore be compared with the perturbative renormalisation group equation. For large m (7.26) becomes $\dot{g} = yg - \pi C_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi}g^2 + O(g^3)$ where $g = N_{(1,3)}\tilde{g}$, and this has the infra-red fixed point $g_{IR} = \frac{y}{\pi C_{\Phi\Phi}^{\Phi}}$ as obtained in [94, 98], and chapter five.

7.3 Conclusions

We studied in this chapter the exact renormalisation group equation for a two dimensional quantum field theory. It was approximated by only including relevant

7 The exact renormalisation group with exponential interaction

operators of exponential form together with a background charge at infinity in the wilsonian effective action. The effective action does not contain any derivatives in the field and the approximation is therefore similar to the local potential approximation. The non-linear term in the exact renormalisation group equation is approximated by the operator product expansion. We showed that the effect of the background charge can be incorporated into the exact renormalisation group equation group equation by evaluating it at a point of non-zero curvature.

Using the equivalence between the unitary minimal models perturbed by $\Phi_{(1,3)}$ and the quantum group restricted sine-Gordon model, the obtained renormalisation group equation was argued to describe the renormalisation group flow for the perturbed unitary minimal models from \mathcal{M}_m to \mathcal{M}_{m-1} . The resulting renormalisation group equation is valid to all orders in the coupling for our truncation of the operator space, and for all m > 3. The higher order terms in the coupling appear in the off-critical structure constant. In the limit of large m, where the ultra-violet and infra-red fixed points approach each other, the renormalisation group equation agrees with the well known perturbative result. 8

The self-gravitating bosonic membrane

In this chapter we will consider the field theory of an extended object, namely the bosonic membrane with an Einstein–Hilbert term.

Extended objects play a role in different areas of physics e.g. condensed matter physics and hydro-dynamics (see e.g. [148]), and have also showed to be important in the theories describing the fundamental interactions. The only present candidate for quantum gravity includes extended objects like strings and membranes¹. The membrane was first described by Dirac in [149] where a spherical charged membrane was used as a model for the electron. In [150, 151, 152] the supermembrane in 11 dimensions was described and in [153] it was shown that the IIA superstring can be obtained from it by a dimensional reduction [154]. In [155] the supermembrane was shown to be a solution of the field equations of 11 dimensional supergravity².

²For these reasons it is believed to play an important role in \mathcal{M} -theory [156]. \mathcal{M} -theory is a conjectured theory in 11 dimensions that has the five 10 dimensional superstring theories as

¹The efforts to unify general relativity and the three interactions in the standard model in a local quantum field theory have failed for different reasons. The main one being the non-renormalisability of the Einstein–Hilbert term which shows that such a local theory can only be an effective one that has to be replaced by a more fundamental theory at high energies, such as in the early universe and for black holes where quantum gravity is relevant. Another problem is the understanding of quantum field theory when the space-time background is dynamical.

8 The self-gravitating bosonic membrane

In this chapter we will consider a membrane with its dynamics determined by a minimization of the world-volume together with the world-volume scalar curvature. The action can then be written as a sum over the world-volume Dirac-Nambu-Goto action and an Einstein-Hilbert term: $S = \text{vol} + \int R$. In chapter three we saw that all terms respecting the symmetries of a theory should be included in the action. The motivation for studying the model given by S is that the Einstein-Hilbert term is the simplest world-volume diffeomorphism invariant and target-space Poincaré invariant term that can be added to the Dirac-Nambu-Goto action, and S can therefore be seen as an approximation to the low energy effective action for the bosonic membrane.

The solution of a semi-classical approximation of the model is determined, where the field equations are linearized around a toroidal background. We follow the paper [159] closely, there a semi-classical quantisation around this background is described for the supermembrane.

8.1 The bosonic membrane

The Dirac–Nambu–Goto [149, 160, 161] action for a p dimensional extended object is given by its p + 1 dimensional world-volume

$$S = T_{p+1} \int d^{p+1}\xi \sqrt{-\det(\eta_{\mu\nu}\partial_i X^{\mu}(\xi)\partial_j X^{\nu}(\xi))}$$
(8.1)

where ξ^i , i = 1, ..., p+1 are the world-volume coordinates and $X^{\mu}(\xi)$, $\mu = 1, ..., d$ describe the embedding of the p dimensional object into d dimensional Minkowski space-time (target space) with the metric $\eta_{\mu\nu}$. T_{p+1} is the p brane tension. In this chapter we will take $\eta_{\mu\nu} = (-, +, ..., +)$ which is the standard convention in theories with extended objects. The equations of motion that are derived from (8.1) different limits and 11 dimensional supergravity as its low energy limit. The supermembrane is non-renormalisable, but can be regularized by rewriting it as the large N limit of SU(N) Yang-Mills theory, and this is one way of getting the matrix-model proposal for \mathcal{M} -theory [156, 154, 157, 158]. can equivalently be obtained from the $action^3$ [162, 163, 164, 165]

$$S = T_{p+1} \int d^{p+1} \xi \, \sqrt{-g} \left(-\frac{1}{2} \, g^{ij} \partial_i X^{\mu} \partial_j X^{\nu} \eta_{\mu\nu} + \frac{p-1}{2} \right) \tag{8.2}$$

where $g_{ij}(\xi)$ is an auxiliary variable. (8.2) is invariant under Poincaré transformations of X^{μ} and diffeomorphisms in ξ^{i} , and for the string p = 1 there is also invariance under the Weyl transformations $g_{ij} \to \Omega(\xi)^2 g_{ij}$. We are here considering the membrane, i.e. p = 2, in 11 dimensions and the equations of motion become

$$\frac{\delta S}{\delta g_{ij}} = 0 \Rightarrow \sqrt{-g} \left(\frac{1}{2}g^{ij}g^{kl}\partial_k X^{\mu}\partial_l X^{\nu}\eta_{\mu\nu} - g^{ik}g^{jl}\partial_k X^{\mu}\partial_l X^{\nu}\eta_{\mu\nu}\right) = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-g}g^{ij}, \quad (8.3)$$

thus taking the trace gives $g^{ij}\partial_i X^{\mu}\partial_j X^{\nu}\eta_{\mu\nu} = 3$ and g_{ij} is therefore the induced metric on the membrane $g_{ij} = \partial_i X^{\mu}\partial_j X^{\nu}\eta_{\mu\nu}$. (2.16) then shows that in this case the energy-momentum tensor vanishes $T_{ij} = 0$. The other field equations are

$$\frac{\delta S}{\delta X^{\mu}} = 0 \Rightarrow \partial_i (\sqrt{-g} g^{ij} \partial_j X^{\nu} \eta_{\mu\nu}) = 0.$$
(8.4)

We will use the light-cone-Hoppe gauge as in [159] and it is useful to write the metric in the ADM (Arnowitt-Deser-Misner [166, 167]) decomposition:

$$g_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} -N^2 + \gamma_{ab}N^a N^b & N^a \gamma_{ab} \\ N^a \gamma_{ab} & \gamma_{ab} \end{pmatrix}, \quad a = 1, 2.$$
(8.5)

 $\xi^i = (\tau, \sigma, \rho)$ and $\gamma_{ab} = g_{ab}$ is the metric on the membrane, i.e. on the surface determined by $X^{\mu}(\tau, \sigma, \rho)$ for fixed τ . N and N^a are the shift and the lapse functions that determine the foliation of the membrane world-volume into constant τ surfaces, $\gamma^{ab}\gamma_{bc} = \delta^a_c$ and $\sqrt{-g} = N\sqrt{\gamma}$. (8.2) can then be written as

$$S = T_3 \int d^3\xi \ N\sqrt{\gamma} \left(-\frac{1}{2} \gamma^{ab} \partial_a X^{\mu} \partial_b X^{\nu} \eta_{\mu\nu} + N^{-2} (\dot{X} - N^a \partial_a X)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \right).$$
(8.6)

This action is independent in the choice of world-volume foliation hence the number of dynamical degrees of freedom become 11 - 3 = 8. The light cone coordinates are

³Which is often called the Polyakov action.

 $X^{\pm} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(X^0 \pm X^{10})$ so that $X^2 = X^{\mu}X_{\mu} = -X^+X^- - X^-X^+ + X^IX^I$, summing over $I = 3, \ldots, 9$, and the light-cone-Hoppe gauge is

$$X^{+} = p^{+}\tau, \quad g_{0a} = 0, \quad g_{00} = -\gamma.$$
(8.7)

The last condition holds for all τ as the equation of motion for X^+ in this gauge shows that $\partial_{\tau} (\frac{-\gamma}{g_{00}})^{1/2} = 0$. $g_{0a} = \dot{X}^{\mu} \partial_a X_{\mu} = 0$ then fixes X^- in terms of X^I

$$\partial_a X^- = \frac{1}{p^+} (\partial_a X^I) \dot{X}^I. \tag{8.8}$$

One gauge degree of freedom is left unfixed until after the field equations are linearized as in [159].

8.2 The self-gravitating bosonic membrane

Let us now consider the action

$$S = T_3 \int d^3\xi \sqrt{-g} \left(-\frac{1}{2} g^{ii} \partial_i X^{\mu} \partial_j X^{\nu} \eta_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} + GR \right), \quad G \in \mathbb{R}_+$$
(8.9)

where R is the scalar curvature on the membrane world-volume, it contains derivatives in γ_{ab} which is therefore now a dynamical field. The number of degrees of freedom becomes 11 - 3 + 3 = 11, and viewing (8.9) as 2 + 1 dimensional gravity with 11 minimally coupled scalar fields this counting simply becomes $0 + 11^{-4}$. Due to the non-linearity of (8.9) we will make a semi-classical approximation of the field equations where they are linearized around a classical solution that is taken to be a flat torus following [159]. Taking space-time to be $S^1 \times S^1 \times \mathbb{R}^9$ a classical solution

⁴Pure 2 + 1 dimensional gravity is specified by the three components of the spatial metric γ_{ab} together with its embedding given by the three components of the exterior curvature K_{ab} , in addition there are three constraints from diffeomorphism invariance and three initial constraints for the Einstein equations [44]. There are thus no local degrees of freedom, and pure 2 + 1 dimensional gravity can be seen as a topological field theory [168, 169].

is obtained by wrapping the membrane around $S^1 \times S^1$ with a flat metric

$$X_{cl}^{1} = l_{1}R_{1} \sigma, \quad X_{cl}^{2} = l_{2}R_{2} \rho, \quad X_{cl}^{I} = 0, \quad I = 3, \dots, 9,$$

$$g_{cl} = \begin{pmatrix} -k_{0}^{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & k_{1}^{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & k_{2}^{2} \end{pmatrix}, \quad k_{0}, k_{1}, k_{2} \in \mathbb{R}.$$

$$(8.10)$$

 $\sigma, \rho \in [0, 2\pi]$ and R_1, R_2 are the radii of the torus and $l_1, l_2 \in \mathbb{Z}$ are the winding numbers. (8.10) is clearly a solution to $\partial_i(\sqrt{-g}g^{ij}\partial_j X^{\mu}) = 0$ and the Einstein equations that become $T_{ij} = 0$ (because the curvature vanishes), where

$$T_{ij} = T_3 \left(\partial_i X^{\mu} \partial_j X^{\nu} \eta_{\mu\nu} - g_{ij} \left(\frac{1}{2} g^{kl} \partial_k X^{\mu} \partial_l X^{\nu} \eta_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \right).$$
(8.11)

 $(g_{cl})_{ij}$ is therefore the induced metric and (8.10) together with the gauge condition (8.7) shows that $k_1 = l_1R_1$, $k_2 = l_2R_2$ and $k_0 = k_1k_2$, (8.8) sets $X^- = \frac{1}{2p_+}(l_1R_1l_2R_2)^2\tau$. The perturbation around the classical solution is written as

$$\begin{aligned} X^{i} &= X^{i}_{cl} + Z^{i}, \quad i = 1, \dots, 9, \\ g_{ij} &= \begin{pmatrix} -(l_{1}R_{1}l_{2}R_{2})^{2} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & (l_{1}R_{1})^{2} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & (l_{2}R_{2})^{2} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\gamma}_{00} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{\gamma}_{11} & \tilde{\gamma}_{12} \\ 0 & \tilde{\gamma}_{12} & \tilde{\gamma}_{22} \end{pmatrix} &= \begin{pmatrix} -\gamma & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \gamma_{11} & \gamma_{12} \\ 0 & \gamma_{12} & \gamma_{22} \end{pmatrix}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\gamma = \gamma_{11}\gamma_{22} - \gamma_{12}^2$. X^i and g_{ij} are then inserted into the field equations keeping terms up to $O((Z^i)^2, (\tilde{\gamma}_{ab})^2, Z^i \tilde{\gamma}_{ab})$. (8.8) no longer holds and we set $X^- = X_{cl}^- = \frac{1}{2p^+} (l_1 R_1 l_2 R_2)^2 \tau$ which is always a solution because of $g_{0a} = 0$ and $g_{00} = -\gamma$. The solution to the field equations that we consider below requires that $(l_1 R_1)^2 = (l_2 R_2)^2 = 1$ so that $R_1 = \frac{1}{|l_1|}$, $R_2 = \frac{1}{|l_2|}$ and we set $l_1 R_1 = l_2 R_2 = 1$ from now on.

8.2.1 Solution to the semi-classical approximation

Using that $\sqrt{-g} = \gamma = 1 + \tilde{\gamma}_{11} + \tilde{\gamma}_{22}$ and

$$\gamma^{ab} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 - \tilde{\gamma}_{11} & -\tilde{\gamma}_{12} \\ -\tilde{\gamma}_{12} & 1 - \tilde{\gamma}_{22} \end{pmatrix},$$
(8.12)

the field equations for X^{μ} become

$$\begin{aligned} \ddot{Z}^{I} &= (\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + \partial_{\rho}^{2})Z^{I}, \quad I = 3, \dots, 9, \\ \ddot{Z}^{1} &= (\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + \partial_{\rho}^{2})Z^{1} + \partial_{\sigma}\tilde{\gamma}_{22} - \partial_{\rho}\tilde{\gamma}_{12}, \\ \ddot{Z}^{2} &= (\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + \partial_{\rho}^{2})Z^{2} + \partial_{\rho}\tilde{\gamma}_{11} - \partial_{\sigma}\tilde{\gamma}_{12}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(8.13)$$

The field equations for $\tilde{\gamma}_{ab}$ are the Einstein equations

$$2GT_3\left(R_{ab} - \frac{1}{2}g_{ab}R\right) = 2GT_3E_{ab} = T_{ab}.$$
(8.14)

 Γ_{ij}^k is already first order in $\tilde{\gamma}_{ab}$, hence to first order $R_{ab} = \partial_c \Gamma_{ab}^c - \partial_b \Gamma_{ac}^c$ and

$$R = g^{ij}R_{ij} = \ddot{\tilde{\gamma}}_{11} + \ddot{\tilde{\gamma}}_{22} - (\partial_{\sigma}^2 + \partial_{\rho}^2)(\tilde{\gamma}_{11} + \tilde{\gamma}_{22}) - \partial_{\sigma}^2\tilde{\gamma}_{22} - \partial_{\rho}^2\tilde{\gamma}_{11} + 2\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\rho}\tilde{\gamma}_{12}.$$
 (8.15)

The components of the Einstein tensor are

$$\begin{pmatrix} E_{11} \\ E_{22} \\ E_{12} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \partial_{\rho}^{2} & -\partial_{\tau}^{2} + \partial_{\rho}^{2} & 0 \\ \partial_{\sigma}^{2} & -\partial_{\tau}^{2} + \partial_{\sigma}^{2} & 0 \\ -\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma} & -\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma} & \partial_{\tau}^{2} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\gamma}_{11} \\ \tilde{\gamma}_{22} \\ \tilde{\gamma}_{12} \end{pmatrix}$$
(8.16)

and

$$\begin{pmatrix} E_{01} \\ E_{02} \\ E_{00} \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\partial_{\tau}\partial_{\sigma} & \partial_{\tau}\partial_{\rho} \\ -\partial_{\tau}\partial_{\rho} & 0 & \partial_{\tau}\partial_{\sigma} \\ -\partial_{\rho}^{2} & -\partial_{\sigma}^{2} & 2\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\gamma}_{11} \\ \tilde{\gamma}_{22} \\ \tilde{\gamma}_{12} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (8.17)

The (0,1) and (0,2) components of the Einstein equations (8.14) then become

$$\begin{aligned} \dot{Z}^1 &= G(\partial_{\rho}\dot{\tilde{\gamma}}_{12} - \partial_{\sigma}\dot{\tilde{\gamma}}_{22}), \\ \dot{Z}^2 &= G(\partial_{\sigma}\dot{\tilde{\gamma}}_{12} - \partial_{\rho}\dot{\tilde{\gamma}}_{11}). \end{aligned}$$
(8.18)

Hence, $Z^1 = G(\partial_{\rho} \tilde{\gamma}_{12} - \partial_{\sigma} \tilde{\gamma}_{22}) + h^1(\rho, \sigma)$ for some function h^1 and we can use the remaining gauge freedom to set $h^1(\rho, \sigma) = 0$ [159]. The field equations are symmetric under $\rho \leftrightarrow \sigma$, $l_1 R_1 \leftrightarrow l_2 R_2$, $Z^1 \leftrightarrow Z^2$ and we demand the solution to have the same symmetry so that

$$Z^{1} = G(\partial_{\rho} \tilde{\gamma}_{12} - \partial_{\sigma} \tilde{\gamma}_{22}),$$

$$Z^{2} = G(\partial_{\sigma} \tilde{\gamma}_{12} - \partial_{\rho} \tilde{\gamma}_{11}).$$
(8.19)

Substituting (8.19) into (8.13) for $G \neq 0$:

$$\ddot{Z}^{1} = (\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + \partial_{\rho}^{2})Z^{1} - \frac{1}{G}Z^{1},$$

$$\ddot{Z}^{2} = (\partial_{\sigma}^{2} + \partial_{\rho}^{2})Z^{2} - \frac{1}{G}Z^{2},$$

(8.20)

and the field equations for Z^1, Z^2 and Z^I decouple⁵. The (0, 0) component of (8.14) is seen to be automatically satisfied using (8.19), and the (1, 1), (2, 2) and (1, 2) components give

$$\ddot{\tilde{\gamma}}_{ab} = (\partial_{\sigma}^2 + \partial_{\rho}^2)\tilde{\gamma}_{ab} - \frac{1}{G}\tilde{\gamma}_{ab}, \quad a, b \in \{1, 2\}$$
(8.21)

again using (8.19). The dynamical equations therefore all decouple and have the same form. The diagonal Einstein equations require that $(l_1R_1)^2 = (l_2R_2)^2 = 1$ to get the oscillatory behaviour in (8.21) otherwise a constant term is added. From the periodicity in σ and ρ the solutions are given by a Fourier expansion and using that Z^i and $\tilde{\gamma}_{ab}$ are real they become

$$Z^{j} = \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{i(m\sigma+n\rho)} \left((\alpha_{m,n}^{j})^{\dagger} e^{i\omega_{mn}\tau} + \alpha_{-m,-n}^{j} e^{-i\omega_{mn}\tau} \right), \quad j = 1, 2,$$

$$\tilde{\gamma}_{ab} = \sum_{m,n\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{i(m\sigma+n\rho)} \left((\beta_{m,n}^{ab})^{\dagger} e^{i\omega_{mn}\tau} + \beta_{-m,-n}^{ab} e^{-i\omega_{mn}\tau} \right), \quad a,b \in \{1,2\},$$
(8.22)

where $\omega_{mn} = \sqrt{m^2 + n^2 + 1/G}$, and

$$Z^{I} = z_{0}^{I} + p^{I}\tau + \sum_{m^{2}+n^{2}\neq 0} e^{i(m\sigma+n\rho)} \left((\alpha_{m,n}^{I})^{\dagger} e^{i\omega'_{mn}\tau} + \alpha_{-m,-n}^{I} e^{-i\omega'_{mn}\tau} \right), \quad I = 3, \dots, 9,$$
(8.23)

with $\omega' = \sqrt{m^2 + n^2}$. The solution to the semi-classical approximation is therefore a sum of oscillating toroidal membranes with a metric that oscillates around the flat metric. Taking the two constraints (8.19) into account the number of degrees of freedom becomes 9 + 3 - 2 + 1 = 11 as X^- is not constrained.

⁵Note that taking the limit $G \to 0$ does not lead to the equations for the bosonic sector of the supermembrane. For the membrane the equations $G = 0 \Rightarrow T_{ij} = 0$ are solved exactly before linearizing taking g_{ij} to be the induced metric.

8.3 Discussion and conclusions

In [159] a semi-classical quantisation of the supermembrane is performed by a Dirac quantisation where α^{\dagger} and α are interpreted as creation and annihilation operators, where states are created acting with α^{\dagger} on a vacuum that is annihilated by α . Supersymmetry seems to be essential for a consistent quantisation of the membrane, the vacuum-energy contributions for example cancel out between the bosonic and fermionic sectors [159]. It would be interesting to try and extend the above semiclassical solution to include either space-time or world-volume supersymmetry, and if the analogy with the supermembrane carries through the solutions of the linearized fermionic equations will be similar to (8.22) and (8.23). It would also be interesting to consider a generalization with a cosmological constant in (8.9) thus linearizing around de Sitter or anti de Sitter space.

To conclude, in this chapter we have determined a solution to the dynamical equations of a membrane action with an Einstein-Hilbert term linearized around a flat torus. The solution is an oscillation around the toroidal membrane with the metric oscillating around the flat metric.

9

Conclusions

In this thesis we have studied the scaling behaviour of different quantum field theories given by the renormalisation group.

We have shown how perturbative calculations of the infra-red limit can be improved using general analyticity properties valid for all unitary quantum field theories. It was also shown how the exact renormalisation group equation together with the operator product expansion can be used to get equations describing the scaling of theories with a background charge. Finally, it was shown how new solutions to a semi-classical approximation of the bosonic membrane can be found studying the low energy effective action.

In chapter four the infra-red limit of a physical quantity is shown to equal the limiting value of the Borel transform in the scale parameter, where the order of the Borel transform is related to the analyticity domain of the physical quantity in a complex scale parameter. In chapter five this was used to develop an approximation method for the infra-red central charge of a perturbed conformal field theory. Improving a one loop perturbative calculation, for the unitary minimal models perturbed by $\Phi_{(1,3)}$, the approximation is very close to the exact results when maximizing the domain of analyticity.

In chapter six the critical exponents of φ^4 theory in three dimensions are approximated using the method from chapter four together with a conformal mapping

9 Conclusions

and a Padé approximation. The results are within the limits of other calculations. It would be interesting to use the result in chapter four to calculate the infra-red limit of other physical quantities in theories with a flow between an ultra-violet and an infra-red fixed point. Examples could be the theories discussed in [170] where there is a renormalisation group flow between two different WZW models in two dimensions, or the theory in [171] where there is a flow between different three dimensional conformal field theories constructed so that the ultra-violet and infra-red fixed points are S-dual.

In chapter seven using the equivalence between the quantum group restricted sine-Gordon model and the perturbed unitary minimal models together with the exact renormalisation group equation and the operator product expansion, an equation is obtained describing the flow between unitary minimal models, also when they are not infinitesimally close in coupling space. By combining the operator product expansion and the exact renormalisation group equation higher order corrections in the coupling are moved into the off-critical structure constants (operator product expansion coefficients). This seems to be a useful way of studying the renormalisation group in theories where higher order corrections for the structure constants can be calculated, e.g. using the methods developed in [147, 146, 145] or solving to lowest order the renormalisation group equations for the structure constants.

As already mentioned at the end of chapter eight, it would also be interesting to try to extend the solutions of the linearized equations of motion for the bosonic membrane to a theory with space-time supersymmetry. If a solution can be found the spectrum from a semi-classical quantisation can then be compared with the spectrum for the supermembrane in [159], and it can be checked if such a selfgravitating supermembrane is still a solution to 11 dimensional supergravity. Finally, additional terms can be considered in the lagrangian like a cosmological term and the equation of motions can be linearized around different backgrounds.

Quantum field theories are organized according to their scaling behaviour, and the study of scaling is therefore essential when trying to understand the structure of quantum field theory.

Bibliography

- L. Kjærgaard and P. Mansfield, Calculating the infrared central charges for perturbed minimal models: Improving the RG perturbation, Phys. Lett. B462 (1999) 103, [hep-th/9905140].
- [2] L. Kjærgaard and P. Mansfield, Calculating the infra-red limit of quantum field theory using analyticity of correlation functions, JHEP 03 (2000) 008, [hep-th/9912048].
- [3] L. Kjærgaard, The exact renormalisation group equation and the perturbed unitary minimal models, JHEP 07 (2000) 053, [hep-th/0008233].
- [4] L. Kjærgaard, Semi-classical approximation of the self-gravitating membrane. Work in progress.
- [5] S. Weinberg, The Quantum Theory of Fields, Volume I. Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- [6] J. Zinn-Justin, Renormalization and renormalization group: From the discovery of UV divergences to the concept of effective field theories, in Nato ASI, Quantum Field Theory: Perspective and Prospective (C. DeWitt-Morette and J. B. Zuber, eds.), p. 375, Kluwer Academic Publishers, 1998.
- [7] S. Weinberg, What is quantum field theory, and what did we think it is, hep-th/9702027.

- [8] J. C. G. Callan, S. Coleman, and R. Jackiw, A new improved energy-momentum tensor, Ann. Phys. 59 (1970) 42.
- [9] S. Coleman and R. Jackiw, Why dilatation generators do not generate dilatations, Ann. Phys. 67 (1971) 552.
- [10] P. Ramond, Field Theory: A Modern Primer, second edition. Addison-Wesley, 1989.
- [11] N. N. Bogoliubov and D. V. Shirkov, Introduction to the Theory of Quantized Fields. Interscience, 1954.
- [12] E. Wigner, On unitary representations of the inhomogeneous Lorentz group, Ann. Math. 40 (1939) 149.
- [13] E. Wigner, Symmetries and Reflections. Indiana University Press, 1967.
- [14] M. Henneaux and C. Teitelboim, Quantization of Gauge Systems. Princeton University Press, 1992.
- [15] M. Göckeler and T. Schücker, Differential geometry, gauge theories, and gravity. Cambridge University Press, 1989.
- [16] E. Nöther. Nachr. K. Geo. Wiss. Gött. (1918) 235.
- [17] C. Montonen and D. Olive, Magnetic monopoles as gauge particles?, Phys. Lett. B72 (1977) 117.
- [18] S. Coleman, Quantum sine-Gordon equation as the massive Thirring model, Phys. Rev. D11 (1975) 2088.
- [19] P. Goddard and D. I. Olive, Magnetic monopoles in gauge field theories, Rep. Prog. Phys. 41 (1978) 1357.
- [20] D. I. Olive, Exact electromagnetic duality, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 45A (1996) 88, [hep-th/9508089].

- [21] J. A. Harvey, Magnetic monopoles, duality and supersymmetry, hep-th/9603086.
- [22] J. Collins, *Renormalization*. Cambridge University Press, 1985.
- [23] M. J. Duff, Twenty years of the Weyl anomaly, Class. Quant. Grav. 11 (1994) 1387, [hep-th/9308075].
- [24] P. Ginsparg, Applied conformal field theory, in Les Houches, session XLIX, Fields, Strings and Critical Phenomena (E. Brézin and J. Zinn-Justin, eds.), p. 4, Elsevier, 1989.
- [25] G. Mack and A. Salam, Finite-component field representations of the conformal group, Ann. Phys. 53 (1969) 174.
- [26] N. D. Birrell and P. C. W. Davies, *Quantum Fields in Curved Space*. Cambridge University Press, 1982.
- [27] E. Witten, Perturbative quantum field theory, in Quantum Fields and Strings: A Course for Mathematicians, Volume 1 (P. Deligne, P. Etingof, D. S. Freed, L. C. Jeffrey, D. Kazhdan, J. W. Morgan, D. R. Morrison, and E. Witten, eds.), p. 419. American Mathematical Society, 1999.
- [28] R. Jackiw, Field theoretic investigations in current algebra, in Current Algebra and Anomalies (S. B. Treiman, R. Jackiw, B. Zumino, and E. Witten, eds.), p. 81, World Scientific, 1985.
- [29] J. Polchinski, Scale and conformal invariance in quantum field theory, Nucl. Phys. B303 (1988) 226.
- [30] A. M. Awad and C. V. Johnson, Scale vs. conformal invariance in the AdS/CFT correspondence, hep-th/0006037.
- [31] T. Hurth and K. Skenderis, Quantum Noether method, Nucl. Phys. B541 (1999) 566, [hep-th/9803030].

- [32] J. C. G. Callan, Broken scale invariace in scalar field theory, Phys. Rev. D2 (1970) 1541.
- [33] K. Symanzik, Small distance behaviour in field theory and power counting, Comm. Math. Phys. 18 (1970) 227.
- [34] D. J. Gross, Twenty five years of asymptotic freedom, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 74 (1999) 426, [hep-th/9809060].
- [35] D. J. Gross, The triumph and limitations of quantum field theory, hep-th/9704139.
- [36] D. J. Gross, Renormalization groups, in Quantum Fields and Strings: A Course for Mathematicians, Volume 1 (P. Deligne, P. Etingof, D. S. Freed, L. C. Jeffrey, D. Kazhdan, J. W. Morgan, D. R. Morrison, and E. Witten, eds.), p. 551. American Mathematical Society, 1999.
- [37] R. Jackiw, What good are quantum field theory infinities, hep-th/9911071.
- [38] J. Zinn-Justin, Quantum Field Theory and Critical Phenomena. Oxford University Press, 1989.
- [39] G. 't Hooft, When was asymptotic freedom discovered? or The rehabilitation of quantum field theory, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 74 (1999) 413, [hep-th/9808154].
- [40] G. 't Hooft, Renormalization of gauge theories, hep-th/9812203.
- [41] K. G. Wilson, The renormalization group and critical phenomena, Rev. Mod. Phys. 55 (1983) 583.
- [42] M. Lässig, Geometry of the renormalization group with an application in two-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B334 (1990) 652.
- [43] B. Dolan, The renormalisation group equation as an equation for Lie transport of amplitudes, hep-th/9307024.

- [44] R. M. Wald, *General Relativity*. The University of Chicago Press, 1984.
- [45] H. Sonoda, Geometrical expression for short-distance singularities in field theory, hep-th/9406035.
- [46] A. Peterman, Vector fields, flows and Lie groups of diffeomorphisms, Eur. Phys. J. C14 (2000) 705, [hep-th/9912131].
- [47] B. P. Dolan, Renormalisation flow and geodesics on the moduli space of four dimensional N = 2 supersymmetric Yang-Mills theory, Phys. Lett. B418 (1998) 107, [hep-th/9710161].
- [48] J. I. Latorre and C. A. Lütken, On RG potential in Yang-Mills theories, Phys. Lett. B421 (1998) 217, [hep-th/9711150].
- [49] G. Bonelli and M. Matone, RG flow irreversibility, C-theorem and topological nature of 4D N = 2 SYM, Phys. Rev. D58 (1998) 045006, [hep-th/9712025].
- [50] K. Wilson, Non-Lagrangian models of current algebra, Phys. Rev. 179 (1969) 1499.
- [51] L. P. Kadanoff, Operator algebra and the determination of critical indices, Phys. Rev. Lett. 23 (1969) 1430.
- [52] S. Weinberg, The Quantum Theory of Fields, Volume II. Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- [53] W. Nahm, "Conformal Field Theory: A bridge over troubled waters." Available from http://www.th.physik.uni-bonn.de/th/People/werner/.
- [54] J. Polchinski, Renormalization and effective lagrangians, Nucl. Phys. B231 (1984) 269.
- [55] D. V. Shirkov, Evolution of the Bogoliubov renormalization group, hep-th/9909024.

- [56] A. Connes and D. Kreimer, Lessons from quantum field theory: Hopf algebras and spacetime geometries, Lett. Math. Phys. 48 (1999) 85, [hep-th/9904044].
- [57] A. Connes and D. Kreimer, Renormalization in quantum field theory and the Riemann-Hilbert problem II: the β-function, diffeomorphisms and the renormalization group, hep-th/0003188.
- [58] G. Källen. Helv. Phys. Acta 25 (1952) 417.
- [59] H. Lehmann. Nuovo Cimento, 11 (1954) 342.
- [60] A. Cappelli, D. Friedan, and J. I. Latorre, C theorem and spectral representation, Nucl. Phys. B352 (1991) 616.
- [61] J. D. Bjorken and S. D. Drell, *Relativistic Quantum Fields*. McGraw-Hill, 1965.
- [62] D. Kazhdan, Introduction to QFT, in Quantum Fields and Strings: A Course for Mathematicians, Volume 1 (P. Deligne, P. Etingof, D. S. Freed, L. C. Jeffrey, D. Kazhdan, J. W. Morgan, D. R. Morrison, and E. Witten, eds.), p. 377. American Mathematical Society, 1999.
- [63] J. Glimm and A. Jaffe, Quantum Physics, Second edition. Springer-Verlag, 1987.
- [64] F. J. Dyson, Divergence of perturbation theory in quantum electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. 85 (1952) 631.
- [65] J. G. A. Baker, B. G. Nickel, M. S. Green, and D. I. Meiron, Ising model critical indices in three-dimensions from the Callan-Symanzik equation, Phys. Rev. Lett. 36 (1976) 1351.
- [66] L. N. Lipatov, Calculation of the Gell-mann-Low function in a scalar field theory with strong nonlinearity, Sov. Phys. JETP 44 (1976) 1055.

- [67] E. Brézin, J. C. L. Guillou, and J. Zinn-Justin, Perturbation theory at large order. 1. The φ^{2N} interaction, Phys. Rev. D15 (1977) 1544.
- [68] S. Coleman, Aspects of symmetry. Cambridge University Press, 1985.
- [69] R. Rajaraman, Solitons and instantons. North-Holland, 1982.
- [70] J. Zinn-Justin, Perturbation series at large orders in quantum mechanics and field theories: Application to the problem of resummation, Phys. Rept. 70 (1981) 109.
- [71] E. C. Titchmarsh, The theory of functions, Second edition. Oxford University Press, 1939.
- [72] W. Balser, From Divergent Series to Analytic Functions, LNM 1582. Springer-Verlag, 1994.
- [73] G. N. Watson, A theory of asymptotic series, Phil. Trans. Roy. Soc. A211 (1911) 279.
- [74] G. H. Hardy, *Divergent series*. Oxford University Press, 1949.
- [75] I. Caprini and M. Neubert, Borel summation and momentum-plane analyticity in perturbative QCD, JHEP 03 (1999) 007, [hep-ph/9902244].
- [76] G. Parisi, Statistical Field Theory. Addison-Wesley, 1988.
- [77] J. P. Echmann, J. Magnen, and R. Sénéor, Decay properties and Borel summabilities for the Schwinger functions in P(Φ)₂ theories, Comm. Math. Phys. **39** (1975) 251.
- [78] J. S. Feldman and K. Osterwalder, The Wightman axioms and the mass gap for weakly coupled (φ⁴) in three-dimensions quantum field theories, Ann. Phys. (NY) 97 (1976) 80.

- [79] J. Magnen and R. Sénéor, Phase space cell expansion and Borel summability for the euclidean φ⁴ in three-dimensions theory, Comm. Math. Phys. 56 (1977) 237.
- [80] A. A. Belavin, A. M. Polyakov, and A. B. Zamolodchikov, Infinite conformal symmetry in two-dimensional quantum field theory, Nucl. Phys. B241 (1984) 333.
- [81] J. L. Cardy, Conformal invariance and statistical mechanics, in Les Houches, session XLIX, Fields, Strings and Critical Phenomena (E. Brézin and J. Zinn-Justin, eds.), p. 169, Elsevier, 1989.
- [82] J. L. Cardy, Conformal invariance, in Phase transitions (C. Domb and J. L. Lebowitz, eds.), vol. 11, p. 55, Academic Press, 1987.
- [83] V. S. Dotsenko, Lectures on conformal field theory, in Conformal field theories and solvable lattice models (M. Jimbo, T. Miwa, and A. Tsuchiya, eds.), p. 123, Academic Press, 1988.
- [84] P. D. Francesco, P. Mathieu, and D. Sénéchal, Conformal Field Theory. Springer-Verlag, 1996.
- [85] J. Fuchs, Lectures on conformal field theory and Kac-Moody algebras, hep-th/9702194.
- [86] S. V. Ketov, Conformal field theory. World Scientific, 1995.
- [87] C. Vafa, c theorem and the topology of 2-D QFTs, Phys. Lett. B212 (1988)
 28.
- [88] U. Lindstrom and M. Zabzine, The topology of multi-coupling deformations of CFT, hep-th/9705201.
- [89] H. Osborn and G. M. Shore, Correlation functions of the energy momentum tensor on spaces of constant curvature, Nucl. Phys. B571 (2000) 287, [hep-th/9909043].

- [90] A. Cappelli, G. D'Appollonia, R. Guida, and N. Magnoli, On the c-theorem in more than two dimensions, hep-th/0009119.
- [91] J. de Boer, E. Verlinde, and H. Verlinde, On the holographic renormalization group, hep-th/9912012.
- [92] S. S. Gubser, Non-conformal examples of AdS/CFT, hep-th/9910117.
- [93] A. B. Zamolodchikov, 'Irreversibility' of the flux of the renormalization group in a 2-D field theory, JETP Lett. 43 (1986) 730.
- [94] A. B. Zamolodchikov, Renormalization group and perturbation theory near fixed points in two-dimensional field theory, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 46 (1987) 1090.
- [95] M. Abramowitz and I. A. Stegun, Handbook of Mathematical Functions, Ninth Printing. Dover, 1970.
- [96] A. B. Zamolodchikov, Integrable field theory from conformal field theory, Adv. Stud. Pure Math. 19 (1989) 641.
- [97] A. B. Zamolodchikov, Conformal symmetry and multicritical points in twodimensional quantum field theory, Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 44 (1986) 529.
- [98] A. W. W. Ludwig and J. L. Cardy, Perturbative evaluation of the conformal anomaly at new critical points with applications to random systems, Nucl. Phys. B285 (1987) 687.
- [99] P. Mathieu and G. Watts, Probing integrable perturbations of conformal theories using singular vectors, Nucl. Phys. B475 (1996) 361, [hep-th/9603088].
- [100] A. Cappelli and J. I. Latorre, Perturbation theory of higher spin conserved currents off criticality, Nucl. Phys. B340 (1990) 659.

- [101] A. B. Zamolodchikov, From tricritical Ising to critical Ising by thermodynamic Bethe ansatz, Nucl. Phys. B358 (1991) 524.
- [102] T. R. Morris, Properties of derivative expansion approximations to the renormalization group, Int. J. Mod. Phys. B12 (1998) 1343, [hep-th/9610012].
- [103] R. Neves, Y. Kubyshin, and R. Potting, Polchinski ERG equation and 2D scalar field theory, hep-th/9811151.
- [104] V. S. Dotsenko and V. A. Fateev, Conformal algebra and multipoint correlation functions in 2D statistical models, Nucl. Phys. B240 (1984) 312.
- [105] V. S. Dotsenko and V. A. Fateev, Four point correlation functions and the operator algebra in the two-dimensional conformal invariant theories with the central charge c < 1, Nucl. Phys. **B251** (1985) 691.
- [106] G. Parisi, Field theoretical approach to second order phase transitions in two and three dimensional systems, J. Stat. Phys. 23 (1980) 49.
- [107] R. Guida and J. Zinn-Justin, Critical exponents of the N-vector model, J. Phys. A31 (1998) 8103, [cond-mat/9803240].
- [108] J. M. Yeomans, Statistical Mechanics of Phase Transitions. Oxford University Press, 1992.
- [109] C. Itzykson and J. M. Drouffe, Statistical Field Theory, Volume 1. Cambridge University Press, 1989.
- [110] Y. M. Ivanchenko and A. A. Lisyansky, Physics of Critical Fluctuations. Springer-Verlag, 1995.
- [111] D. B. Murray and B. E. Nickel. Unpublished, results reported in [107]. The 6 loop calculations were first reported in [65]. It has been calculated to 6 loops for arbitrary N in [112].

- [112] S. A. Antonenko and A. I. Sokolov, Critical exponents for 3D O(N)-symmetric model with N > 3, Phys. Rev. E51 (1995) 1894, [hep-th/9803264].
- [113] E. Brézin and G. Parisi, Critical exponents and large order behavior of perturbation theory, J. Stat. Phys. 19 (1978) 269.
- [114] J. C. L. Guillou and J. Zinn-Justin, Critical exponents from field theory, Phys. Rev. B21 (1980) 3976.
- [115] J. G. A. Baker and P. Graves-Morris, *Padé approximants*. Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- [116] J. G. A. Baker, B. G. Nickel, and D. I. Meiron, Critical indices from perturbation analysis of the Callan-Symanzik equation, Phys. Rev. B17 (1978) 1365.
- [117] J. G. A. Baker, Essentials of Padé Approximants. Academic Press, 1975.
- [118] J. G. A. Baker and D. L. Hunter, Methods of series analysis, 1. Comparison of current methods used in the theory of critical phenomena, Phys. Rev. B7 (1973) 3346.
- [119] R. B. Dingle, Asymptotic expansions, their derivation and interpretation. Academic Press, 1973.
- [120] J. G. A. Baker and D. L. Hunter, Methods of series analysis, 2. Generalised and extended methods with application to the Ising model, Phys. Rev. B7 (1973) 3377.
- [121] A. I. Mudrov and K. B. Varnashev, New approach to summation of field-theoretical series in models with strong coupling, hep-th/9811125.
- [122] A. I. Mudrov and K. B. Varnashev, Three-loop renormalization group analysis of a complex model with stable fixed point: Critical exponents up to ϵ^3 and ϵ^4 , Phys. Rev. B57 (1998) 3562, [cond-mat/9712007].

- [123] H. Kleinert, Seven-loop critical exponents from strong-coupling ϕ^4 -theory in three dimensions, Phys. Rev. D60 (1999) 085001, [hep-th/9812197].
- [124] G. Felder, BRST approach to minimal models, Nucl. Phys. B317 (1989) 215.
 Erratum: Nucl. Phys. B324 (1989) 548.
- [125] A. LeClair, Restricted sine-Gordon theory and the minimal conformal series, Phys. Lett. B230 (1989) 103.
- [126] G. Felder and A. Leclair, Restricted quantum affine symmetry of perturbed minimal conformal models, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A7 (1992) 239,
 [hep-th/9109019].
- [127] F. A. Smirnov, The perturbated c < 1 conformal field theories as reductions of sine-Gordon model, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A4 (1989) 4213.
- [128] T. J. Hollowood and P. Mansfield, Rational conformal field theories at, and away from, criticality as Toda field theories, Phys. Lett. B226 (1989) 73.
- [129] D. Bernard and A. Leclair, Quantum group symmetries and nonlocal currents in 2-D QFT, Commun. Math. Phys. 142 (1991) 99.
- [130] D. Bernard and A. Leclair, Residual quantum symmetries of the restricted sine-Gordon theories, Nucl. Phys. B340 (1990) 721.
- [131] M. T. Grisaru, A. Lerda, S. Penati, and D. Zanon, Stress tensor correlations and the c theorem in models with exponential interactions, Nucl. Phys. B342 (1990) 564.
- [132] M. T. Grisaru, A. Lerda, S. Penati, and D. Zanon, Renormalization group flows in models with exponential interactions, Phys. Lett. B234 (1990) 88.
- [133] V. Fateev, S. Lukyanov, A. Zamolodchikov, and A. Zamolodchikov, *Expectation values of local fields in Bullough-Dodd model and integrable* perturbed conformal field theories, Nucl. Phys. B516 (1998) 652, [hep-th/9709034].

- [134] V. Fateev, D. Fradkin, S. Lukyanov, A. Zamolodchikov, and
 A. Zamolodchikov, Expectation values of descendent fields in the sine-Gordon model, Nucl. Phys. B540 (1999) 587, [hep-th/9807236].
- [135] V. S. Dotsenko and V. A. Fateev, Operator algebra of two-dimensional conformal theories with central charge $c \leq 1$, Phys. Lett. **B154** (1985) 291.
- [136] A. B. Zamolodchikov, Mass scale in the sine-Gordon model and its reductions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A10 (1995) 1125.
- [137] K. G. Wilson and J. Kogut, The renormalization group and the epsilon expansion, Phys. Rept. 12 (1974) 75.
- [138] C. Bagnuls and C. Bervillier, Exact renormalization group equations. An introductory review, hep-th/0002034.
- [139] T. R. Morris, Elements of the continuous renormalization group, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 131 (1998) 395, [hep-th/9802039].
- [140] R. D. Ball, P. E. Haagensen, J. I. Latorre, and E. Moreno, Scheme independence and the exact renormalization group, Phys. Lett. B347 (1995) 80, [hep-th/9411122].
- [141] J. Generowicz, C. Harvey-Fros, and T. R. Morris, C function representation of the local potential approximation, Phys. Lett. B407 (1997) 27, [hep-th/9705088].
- [142] V. I. Tokar, A new renormalization scheme in the Landau-Ginzburg-Wilson model, Phys. Lett. A104 (1984) 135.
- [143] A. E. Filippov and A. V. Radievsky, Gradient expansion based on the physical RG branch, Phys. Lett. A169 (1992) 195.
- [144] A. B. Zamolodchikov and A. B. Zamolodchikov, Structure constants and conformal bootstrap in Liouville field theory, Nucl. Phys. B477 (1996) 577, [hep-th/9506136].

- [145] R. Guida and N. Magnoli, All order I.R. finite expansion for short distance behavior of massless theories perturbed by a relevant operator, Nucl. Phys. B471 (1996) 361, [hep-th/9511209].
- [146] B. Mikhak and A. M. Zarkesh, Manifestly finite perturbation theory for the short distance expansion of correlation functions in the two- dimensional Ising model, Nucl. Phys. B430 (1994) 656, [hep-th/9312207].
- [147] A. B. Zamolodchikov, Two point correlation function in scaling Lee-Yang model, Nucl. Phys. B348 (1991) 619.
- [148] M. J. Bowick and A. Travesset, The statistical mechanics of membranes, cond-mat/0002038.
- [149] P. A. M. Dirac, An extensible model of the electron, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A268 (1962) 57.
- [150] J. Hughes, J. Liu, and J. Polchinski, Supermembranes, Phys. Lett. B180 (1986) 370.
- [151] E. Bergshoeff, E. Sezgin, and P. K. Townsend, Supermembranes and eleven-dimensional supergravity, Phys. Lett. B189 (1987) 75.
- [152] E. Bergshoeff, E. Sezgin, and P. K. Townsend, Properties of the eleven-dimensional supermembrane theory, Ann. Phys. 185 (1988) 330.
- [153] M. J. Duff, P. S. Howe, T. Inami, and K. S. Stelle, Superstrings in D = 10from supermembranes in D = 11, Phys. Lett. **B191** (1987) 70.
- [154] M. J. Duff, Supermembranes, hep-th/9611203.
- [155] M. J. Duff and K. S. Stelle, Multi-membrane solutions of D = 11supergravity, Phys. Lett. **B253** (1991) 113.
- [156] A. Dasgupta, H. Nicolai, and J. Plefka, Vertex operators for the supermembrane, JHEP 05 (2000) 007, [hep-th/0003280].

- [157] B. de Wit, Supermembranes and super matrix models, hep-th/9902051.
- [158] J. Polchinski, String Theory, Volume 2. Cambridge University Press, 1998.
- [159] M. J. Duff, T. Inami, C. N. Pope, E. Sezgin, and K. S. Stelle, Semiclassical quantization of the supermembrane, Nucl. Phys. B297 (1988) 515.
- [160] Y. Nambu, Lectures at the Copenhagen conference, 1970.
- [161] T. Goto, Relativistic quantum mechanics of one-dimensional mechanical continuum and subsidiary condition of dual resonance model, Prog. Theor. Phys. 46 (1971) 1560.
- [162] P. S. Howe and R. W. Tucker, A locally supersymmetric and reparametrization invariant action for a spinning membrane, J. Phys. A10 (1977) L155.
- [163] L. Brink, P. D. Vecchia, and P. Howe, A locally supersymmetric and reparametrization invariant action for the spinning string, Phys. Lett. B65 (1976) 471.
- [164] S. Deser and B. Zumino, A complete action for the spinning string, Phys. Lett. B65 (1976) 369.
- [165] A. M. Polyakov, Quantum geometry of bosonic strings, Phys. Lett. B103 (1981) 207.
- [166] R. Arnowitt, S. Deser, and C. W. Misner, The dynamics of general relativity, in Gravitation: An Introduction to Current Research (L. Witten, ed.), p. 227, Wiley, 1962.
- [167] C. W. Misner, K. S. Thorne, and J. A. Wheeler, *Gravitation*. W. H. Freeman and Company, 1973.
- [168] A. Achúcarro and P. K. Townsend, A chern-simons action for three-dimensional anti-de sitter supergravity theories, Phys. Lett. B180 (1986) 89.

- [169] E. Witten, 2+1 dimensional gravity as an exactly soluble system, Nucl. Phys. B311 (1988) 46.
- [170] K. Behrndt, AdS gravity and field theories at fixpoints, hep-th/9809015.
- [171] D. Anselmi, Large-N expansion, conformal field theory and renormalization-group flows in three dimensions, JHEP 06 (2000) 042, [hep-th/0005261].

